
 
 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Planning Committee 
 

Meeting date:  21 October 2025 

 

Meeting time:    2.30 pm 

 

Meeting venue: Council Chamber - Municipal Offices 

 
 

Membership: 
Councillor Frank Allen (Vice-Chair), Councillor Glenn Andrews, Councillor Adrian 

Bamford, Councillor Garth Barnes (Chair), Councillor Barbara Clark, Councillor Jan 

Foster, Councillor Iain Dobie, Councillor Tony Oliver, Councillor Dr Steve Steinhardt, 

Councillor Simon Wheeler and Councillor Suzanne Williams 

 
 

Important notice – filming, recording and broadcasting of Council 

meetings 
 

This meeting will be recorded by the council for live broadcast online at 

www.cheltenham.gov.uk and https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams 

The Chair will confirm this at the start of the meeting.    

 

If you participate in the meeting, you consent to being filmed and to the possible use 

of those images and sound recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

If you have any questions on the issue of filming/recording of meetings, please 

contact Democratic Services. 

 
 

Speaking at Planning Committee  
 

To find out more about Planning Committee or to register to speak, please click here. 

    

Please note:  the deadline to register to speak is 10.00am on the Wednesday before 

the meeting. 

 
 

Contact: democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Phone:    01242 264 246

http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/12/planning_and_development/652/planning_committee
mailto:democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

Agenda 
 

 

1  Apologies   

 

2  Declarations of Interest   

 

3  Declarations of independent site visits   

 

4  Public Questions   

 

5  Planning Applications   

 

5a  22/01817/OUT - Land to South of Old Gloucester Road Cheltenham  (Pages 

5 - 108) 

 

6  Any other items the Chairman determines urgent and requires a decision   

 



Committee Officer Report 
 

APPLICATION NO: 22/01817/OUT 
(CBC) 22/01107/OUT (TBC) 

OFFICERS: Nicole Golland (Cheltenham 
Borough Council) & Paul Instone (Tewksbury 
Borough Council) 

DATE REGISTERED: 7th October 2022 DATE OF EXPIRY: Extension of time agreed 
with applicant 31st October 2025 

DATE VALIDATED: 7th October 2022 DATE OF SITE VISIT: throughout 2022-2025 
member site visit 14th October 2025 

WARD: Springbank (CBC) 
Severn Vale South (TBC) 

PARISH: Boddington (TBC) 

APPLICANT:  Brighton STM Developments Ltd and Midlands Land Portfolio Ltd 

AGENT: Savills 

LOCATION: Land To South of Old Gloucester Road Cheltenham (Land West of 
Cheltenham) 

PROPOSAL: Outline planning application for phased residential development comprising 
a mixture of market and affordable housing (use class C3), which could 
include retirement/extra care accommodation (use class C2/C3) a flexible 
mixed use area with a community hub (including potentially use classes E, 
F1 and F2), a primary school and children's nursery, a convenience store 
(use class E), site clearance and preparation, green infrastructure 
(including Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace), walking and cycling 
routes, formal and informal public open space, sports pitch provision, 
drainage and other associated works and infrastructure, including utilities 
and highways works, all matters reserved except partially for access. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
To delegate authority to the Head of Planning to permit the application subject to: 
 
A) the conditions as set out or substantially similar as may be agreed under delegated 
authority given to the Head of Planning and; 

B) completion of a S106 obligation and/or other legal document to deliver the infrastructure 
and other mitigation, as set out in this Report at paragraphs 7.330-7.33 and for alterations to 
s106 heads of terms as may be agreed under delegated authority given to the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Planning Committee. 

C) In the event that the S106 obligation and/or other legal document remains unsigned nine 
months after this resolution, that the application is reviewed by the Head of Planning in 
consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Planning Committee, and if no 
progress is being made delegated authority is given to the Head of Planning to refuse the 
application in the absence of an agreed S106 Agreement. 

 
 

Page 3
Agenda Item 5a



   
This site map is for reference purposes only. Copyright define.  

Page 4



1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This Executive Summary summarises the longer detailed report to enable readers to more 
easily and rapidly become acquainted with the large body of application material, 
considerations, and the subsequent conclusions drawn. 

1.2 The proposal is located to the west of Cheltenham built up area and includes land within 
both Tewkesbury Borough and Cheltenham Borough administrative areas.  

1.3 The scheme is for 1,100 homes and associated community facilities supporting this 
application and the wider allocation.  

1.4 The application proposal plays a significant role in the West Cheltenham Strategic 
Allocation (A7) and is a key component of the adopted JCS spatial strategy with the principle 
of development already tested via the JCS examination. Delivering this site provides 
substantial benefits, including: 

- Addressing the urgent need for housing, including affordable housing, within the 
allocated plan period up to 2031 and beyond, by providing 1,100 homes on an allocated 
site. 
- Generating economic benefits through on-site employment during the construction 
phases. 
- Providing infrastructure for the wider allocation, these being; Primary School, Sports 
Fields, Community Centre and GP Surgery. 

1.5 The Golden Valley SPD sets a high standard for development, and while this proposal aligns 
with its overarching objectives, it does not meet all the criteria outlined in the Golden Valley 
SPD in a line-by-line comparison. Particularly, the lack of employment on this site and the 
reduced affordable housing provision.  

1.6 It is acknowledged that separate applications have been submitted by different developers, 
and not all developers agree to the collaborative documents. Despite this less-than-ideal 
situation, this planning application, which constitutes a major part of the strategic allocation 
A7, includes the development components required by JCS Policy A7 and the officer team 
have worked extensively to reach as much collaboration as possible. Due to the scale of 
this application site, it also facilitates a comprehensive scheme across the developable area 
within the strategic allocation, allowing infrastructure to be planned holistically in 
accordance with JCS requirements. 
 

1.7 Officers have adopted a balanced and pragmatic approach to Section 106 obligations, 
striving to create an appropriate mix of Section 106 contributions and a suitable level of 
affordable housing for existing and future Cheltenham residents. Although this scheme does 
not provide the 35% affordable housing required by JCS policy, an extensive and robust 
review of viability has established the outcome of 22.91% (252 affordable units).  
 

1.8 A comprehensive schedule of planning conditions is also recommended for imposition on 
the planning permission. These conditions aim to mitigate the impacts of development and 
ensure the delivery of sustainable development that complies with the requirements of 
Policy A7 of the JCS, as well as the broader spatial strategy. Significant effort has gone into 
the collaborative documents within these conditions to create a cohesive overall allocation 
when considering all four current planning applications in West Cheltenham. 

Page 5



 

1.9 The NPPF is an important material consideration, including the approach to decision-
making. NPPF paragraph 11d) applies here such that the balance is that planning 
permission should be granted unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the 
development proposed or any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, 
having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, 
making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable 
homes, individually or in combination. The benefits are outlined above and collectively 
would be significant in their degree and the positive weight to be given to them. Furthermore, 
the proposal would align with key policies of the NPPF to direct development to sustainable, 
allocated, locations, make effective use of land and provide affordable homes. The proposal 
would therefore accord with the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole.  It is not considered 
that the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed. 
 

1.10 Overall, officers conclude that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission do not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of this allocated site, and no grounds 
for refusal have been identified. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

2.1 Full application details are available at 22/01817/OUT | Outline planning application for 
phased residential development comprising a mixture of market and affordable 
housing (use class C3), which could include retirement/extra care accommodation 
(use class C2/C3) a flexible mixed use area with a community hub (including 
potentially use classes E, F1 and F2), a primary school and children's nursery, a 
convenience store (use class E), site clearance and preparation, green infrastructure 
(including Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace), walking and cycling routes, 
formal and informal public open space, sports pitch provision, drainage and other 
associated works and infrastructure, including utilities and highways works, all 
matters reserved except partially for access. | Land To South Of Old Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham Gloucestershire 

2.2 The applicant, Brighton STM Developments Ltd (Formally St Modwen Developments Ltd) 
and Midlands Land Portfolio Ltd, seeks outline planning permission for “Outline planning 
application for phased residential development comprising a mixture of market and 
affordable housing (use class C3), which could include retirement/extra care 
accommodation (use class C2/C3) a flexible mixed use area with a community hub 
(including potentially use classes E, F1 and F2), a primary school and children's nursery, a 
convenience store (use class E), site clearance and preparation, green infrastructure 
(including Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace), walking and cycling routes, formal and 
informal public open space, sports pitch provision, drainage and other associated works 
and infrastructure, including utilities and highways works, all matters reserved except 
partially for access.” The application is for a maximum of 1100 new homes and 1,052sqm 
of Class E and 498sqm of Class F (of which 250sqm can be Class E(f) Nursery). 

Page 6



2.3 The application site, is undeveloped agricultural land located within Cheltenham Borough 
Council (CBC) and Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC), with varying topography from 25m 
AOD in the northwest to 50m AOD along the eastern boundary. A ridgeline (Hayden Hill) 
reaches around 45m AOD. The Cheltenham Circular Footpath runs north-south through the 
site, alongside several other footpaths. 

2.4 A Tree Survey identified 117 individual trees, 42 tree groups, and 56 hedgerows, with no 
veteran trees present. A small woodland in the western part of the Site is protected by a 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO No. 400, dated 10.09.2020). 

2.5 The Site is in Flood Zone 1, indicating a very low flood risk, though areas in the northwest 
face medium to high risks of surface water flooding. Two Unnamed Ordinary Watercourses 
(UOW) are nearby, with one running along the northwest boundary before culverting under 
Old Gloucester Road.  

2.6 The southern end connects with another part of the Strategic Allocation that is subject to a 
separate planning application by HBD Golden Valley Ltd (23/01875/OUT) and also 
adjoining the application site, to the east, is another HBD Golden Valley Ltd application 
(23/01874/OUT) and the land to the south  is subject of a planning application for 
commercial and residential (24/01268/OUT) by Nema Golden Valley Ltd.  
 

2.7 The site is currently accessed via Old Gloucester Road. 

2.8 The main vehicle access points for the development will consist of two junctions from Old 
Gloucester Road. The central road will lead into the adjacent development parcel to the 
south, while the other will connect to the development parcel to the east. Additionally, there 
will be a third access point to the east; however, this will be designated for buses, cyclists, 
and pedestrians only—cars will not be allowed to use this access. The predominant land 
use for the site is residential, accompanied by associated amenities that support both this 
application and the broader allocation. A local centre and a GP surgery will be situated in 
the centre of the site, and directly opposite these facilities, there will be land set aside for a 
primary school. To the west of the primary school, there will be some sports pitches. 
Running through the centre of the site will be a piece of open space located beneath existing 
pylons, and at the western edge of the site, there is another large area of open space. The 
residential zones are divided into Old Gloucester Road West, Main Street West, Main Street 
East, and Old Gloucester Road East, which will heavily connect to the adjacent 
development parcel to the east. Furthermore, there will be linkages to the wider public rights 
of way to the north. The second connection to Old Gloucester Road will provide direct 
access to Junction 10. All of the above is shown on the Illustrative Master Plan 
DE438_024REV – K.  

2.9 The application is also accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) as the proposed 
development constitutes EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) development in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. The ES has been updated via addendums as appropriate during the 
determination of the application and assesses a range of social, environmental and 
economic issues. 

2.10 The application is supported by various plans; as well as technical documents which are 
reviewed and explained, as appropriate, in the following sections of this Report and all 
available to view via the council’s website via the above link.  

Page 7



3. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
 Development Exclusion Zone (UI 121) 
 Hayden Water Odour Monitoring Zone 
 Strategic Allocations Red Line Boundary 
 Smoke Control Order 
 Strategic Allocations 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
21/02463/PREAPP      8th November 2022      
The applicant undertook a pre application, however this pre application was not concluded 
and matters have been dealt with during the course of the application.  
 
(CBC Ref: 17/00967/SCOPE      1st August 2017      
Scoping opinion issued by the Cheltenham LPA it was advised the scheme was EIA 
development and recommendations on the chapter was provided. 
 
(TBC Ref: 17/00030/SCO) 1st August 2017 
Scoping opinion issued by the LPA it was advised the scheme was EIA development and 
recommendations on the chapter was provided. 
 
(CBC Ref: 17/00968/SCREEN)      8th June 2017      
Request for a screening opinion under regulation 6 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017) 
 
(TBC Ref: 21/00004/SCO)  January, February and June 2022 
Scoping opinion issued by the LPA and recommendations on the Scope of the EA    provided 
 
(CBC Ref: 21/02673/SCOPE) 
 
(TBC Ref: 23/01201/FUL) 
An application submitted to Tewksbury Borough Council, as it is within their area, to cover 
enabling works to allow the developer to start quickly by creating a temporary junction off Old 
Gloucester Road. Pending determination by TBC. 
 
Current Planning Applications within West Cheltenham Allocation (JCS Policy A7) 
 
24/01268/OUT 325* dwellings and 43,785 sqm of employment floorspace (south western 
parcel submitted by NEMA Golden Valley Limited (Nema). *The precise dwelling level is still 
being discussed during the course of the Nema application. 
 
23/01874/OUT Northern Parcel 443 homes and up to 500sqm of flexible non-residential uses 
submitted by HBD Golden Valley Ltd, the development partner of Cheltenham Borough 
Council (CBC) as landowner.  
 
23/01875/OUT Southern Parcel 576 new homes and up to 125,698 sqm (GIA) of employment 
floorspace (this application) submitted by HBD Golden Valley Ltd, the development partner 
of Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) as landowner. 

Page 8



 
22/01817/OUT 1100 dwellings, retirement/extra care accommodation and a flexible mixed 
use area with a community hub of 1,300sqm (north western parcel). (this application) 
 
 

4. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following planning 
guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this application: 

National Planning Policy Framework 2024 (NPPF) (as amended February 2025) and National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan (2020) (CP) 
D1 Design 
L1 Landscape and Setting 
BG1 Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area Of Conservation Recreation Pressure  
BG2 Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area Of Conservation Air Quality 
SL1 Safe and Sustainable Living 
GI2 Protection and replacement of trees  
GI3 Trees and Development 
CI1 Securing community infrastructure benefits 
CI2 Sports and open space provision in new residential development  
CI3 Statutory and Non-Statutory Allotments 
CI4 Broadband provision 
EM3 Employment Skills Plan 
 
Saved policies from the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 2006 (CBLP) 

RT1 Location of Retail Development 
RT4 Retail Development in Local Shopping Centres 

RT8 Individual Convenience Shops 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 (2022) (TBP) 
RES2 Settlement Boundaries 
RES3 New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries 
RES5 New Housing Development 
RES12 Affordable Housing 
RES13 Housing Mix 
RES14 Specialist Accommodation for Older People 
EMP5 New Employment Development (General) 
RET1 Maintaining the Vitality and Viability of the Town, Borough and Local Centres 
RET3 Retail Centres 
RET4 Out of Centre Development 
DES1 Housing Space Standards 
HER1 Conservation Areas  
HER2 Listed Buildings  
HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Monuments 
HER5 Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
LAN2 Landscape Character  
NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features 

Page 9



NAT2 The Water Environment 
NAT3 Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature  
NAT5 Cotswold Beechwoods  
ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management 
HEA1 Healthy and Active Communities 
RCN1 Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision  
RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities 
RCN3 Allotments & Community Gardens  
COM2 Broadband Provision  
TRAC1 Pedestrian Accessibility 
TRAC2 Cycle Network and Infrastructure 
TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure 
TRAC4 High Frequency Bus Routes 
TRAC9 Parking Provision 
 
Adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017) (JCS) 
SP1 The Need for New Development  
SP2 Distribution of New Development 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction  
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD6 Landscape 
SD7 The Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
SD8 Historic Environment 
SD9 Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
SD10 Residential Development  
SD11 Housing Mix and Standards  
SD12 Affordable Housing 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality  
INF1 Transport Network 
INF2 Flood Risk Management  
INF3 Green Infrastructure 
INF4 Social and Community Infrastructure 
INF5 Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development  
INF6 Infrastructure Delivery  
INF7 Developer Contributions  
SA1 Strategic Allocations  
A7 West Cheltenham 
 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2020) 
MLP establishes designated Mineral Consultation Areas (MCAs) and Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
(MSAs) throughout the county. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Golden Valley Development SPD (2020) (Golden Valley SPD) 
Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (2022) 
The Hesters Way Neighbourhood Plan- They have a designated area which includes the 
Springbank Ward- Cabinet decision of 5 December 2017, but is unadopted currently 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Flood and Water Management SPD (2018). 
Gloucestershire Waste Minimisation in Development Projects SPD (2006) 
 

Page 10



Other Relevant Policies/Legislation 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (EIA) Regulations  
2017 
Human Rights Act 1998 
Article 8 (Right of Respect for Private and Family Life) 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
Cotswolds National Landscape Management Plan 2030 
National Design Guide and National Design Code (2021) 
 
Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan 2020-2041 – Adopted 2021 (LTP) 
Policy PD0.1 (Reducing Transport Carbon Emissions and Adapting to Climate Change) 

Policy PD0.2 (Local Environmental Protection) 
Policy PD0.3 (Maximising Investment in a Sustainable Transport Network) 

Policy PD0.4 (Integration with Land Use Planning and New Development) 

Policy PD0.5 (Community Health and Wellbeing) - Policy PD0.6 (Thinktravel – Influencing Travel 
Behaviour Change) 
Policy PD1.1 (Gloucestershire’s Bus Network) 
Policy PD1.2 (Improving the Quality of Road Based Public Transport) 

Policy PD1.6 (Transport Interchange Hubs) 6.10 6.11 

Policy PD2.1 (Gloucestershire’s Cycle Network) 

Policy PD2.2 (Cycle Asset Management) 
Policy PD2.3 (Active Travel: Safety, Awareness and Confidence) 
Policy PD4.1 (Gloucestershire’s Highway Network) 
Policy PD4.4 (Road Safety) 
Policy PD4.5 (On-Street Parking) 
Policy PD6.1 (Gloucestershire’s Pedestrian Network) 
 Policy PD6.2 (Rights of Way) 
Policy PD6.4 (Pedestrian Safety 

 

5. CONSULTATIONS 

All consultation comments can be read in full online at 22/01817/OUT | Outline planning 
application for phased residential development comprising a mixture of market and 
affordable housing (use class C3), which could include retirement/extra care 
accommodation (use class C2/C3) a flexible mixed use area with a community hub 
(including potentially use classes E, F1 and F2), a primary school and children's nursery, a 
convenience store (use class E), site clearance and preparation, green infrastructure 
(including Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace), walking and cycling routes, formal 
and informal public open space, sports pitch provision, drainage and other associated 
works and infrastructure, including utilities and highways works, all matters reserved 
except partially for access. | Land To South Of Old Gloucester Road Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire these comments should be read in full alongside this Report. 

Boddington Parish Council – Object 

- The proposal is in not in keeping with the current nature of the parish. 
-  There will be a significant loss of Greenbelt land and associated wildlife to the area. 

Page 11



- Reassurance is required that the infrastructure is in place to support this development 
such as sewerage as the Parish are aware that this is a problem in the new Twigworth 
estate with sewerage backing up in the drains which would surely cause health and 
safety concerns. 

- There should be increased GP surgeries as existing facilities are already stretched 
- Measures should be put in place to prevent rat running through Boddington and 

Boddington Road and would like to see Vehicle Activated Signs installed to deter 
speeding 

- The Parish would like its boundaries redrawn such that this proposed development is 
outside the Parish Boundary 

Bishops Cleeve Parish Council – Object 

- Concerned about impact on road network 
- Concerned about old data being used to establish odour zones for sewage treatment 

plant.  The odour is not minimal and question whether dwellings should be built in 
proximity 

- There are no plans to increase essential services and law enforcement and GP surgery 
may not be properly staffed. 

- Green space should not be situated under power cables and this may have health 
implications for users 
 

Dumbleton Parish Council – Object 

- Concerned about number of large developments taking place and that infrastructure 
should be in place prior to commencement of development 

Shurdington Parish Council – Neither Support or Object 

- Would like to ensure surrounding highway network not detrimentally impacted by rat-
running, and the Parish is particularly concerned about Bageworth Lane 

Staverton Parish Council – Object 

- Concerned about increased traffic flows on the surrounding network and additional 
pedestrian and cycle networks should be considered 

Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish Council 

- Support the Grampain condition imposed by National Highways to restrict quantum of 
development until J10 DCO scheme completed,  

- Support detail comments and recommended conditions of LLFA 

Uckington Parish Council – Object 

- There is insufficient road on the road network to support this development 
- The proposal will put additional pressure on existing hospitals, medical availability and 

emergency services which are seemingly overstretched 

Page 12



- The cumulative impacts of this development alongside Elms Park (16/02000/OUT) and 
other smaller development must be considered, including the cumulative impact of 
construction works 

It should be noted that whilst the objections from the parish councils are understood, this site forms 
part of a strategic allocation in the JCS and as such a number of the high-level principles have 
been tested through that independent examination process and deemed sound. 
 
Councils Landscape Consultant 
Following extensive discussion, they don’t raise an in principle concern but have reservations that 
can be dealt with at detailed design stage, which are discussed in full in the landscape section of 
the report.  
 
Councils Urban Design Consultant 
Similarly, following extensive discussion, they don’t raise an in principle concern, but have 
reservations that can be dealt with at detailed design stage, which are discussed in full in the 
landscape section of the report. 
 
Tree Officer (TO) 

No objection, subject to conditions regarding maintenance and tree details at Reserved Matters 
stage. 
 
Environment Agency  

No objection subject to conditions requiring a condition for a site-wide green/blue infrastructure 
scheme, which has been added to the recommendation.  
 
National Highways 

No objection subject to the imposition of Grampian planning conditions to control the quantum of 
development that can be delivered before the M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement 
Scheme are complete and open to traffic. (Officer Note: These conditions are explained further in 
the highways section of this Report).  
 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Affordable Housing Officer 

No objection subject to a planning obligation to secure the agreed affordable which have been 
agreed following extensive discussions with the applicants and viability appraisals.  

 

Education and Libraries (Gloucestershire County Council) 

No objection (see below) subject to planning obligations to secure on site safeguarded land for the 
provision of 1no. primary schools and expansion land and financial contributions to the delivery of 
these facilities and contributions towards off-site Secondary school places. Off-site financial 
contributions also requested towards the provision of a new off-site library serving the 
development. 

It must be noted the consultee is not receiving the full S106 asks, which is discussed in the Report, 
as such this should be noted as an objection from the County Council. 

Page 13



Local Highways Authority (LHA) 

No objection (see below) subject to the securing mitigation measures and the imposition of 
planning obligations and planning conditions. The mitigation measures include securing a package 
of highways works which are explained in this Report and providing planning obligations towards 
the M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement Scheme, implementation of a public transport 
strategy and securing Travel Plans. The LHA also recommend that the quantum of development 
which can be delivered is restricted until the M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement Scheme, 
which is also explained further in this Report.  

Subject to the imposition of these measures, and others, which are explained in this Report, the 
LHA concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or a severe 
impact on congestion. They conclude that there are no justifiable grounds on which an objection 
could be maintained subject to the mitigation proposed, conditions and financial obligations. 

It must be noted the consultee is not receiving the full S106 asks, which is discussed in the Report, 
as such this should be noted as an objection from the LHA. 

Active Travel England (ATE) 
 
ATE recommends approval of the application, subject to the decision fulfilling a number of 
requirements, conditions and obligations. ATE have been engaged throughout the application and 
can now recommend approval. However, they have some design concerns that remain but can be 
picked up at detailed design stage (Reserved Matters).  
 
ATE support the 4m wide shared use path between Henley Road and Marsland Road. ATE 
welcomes the submission of the IDP and ATE works listed within it that have been conditioned.  
ATE does have concerns with the erosion of a joined-up approach to the wider site. However, the 
IDP and subsequent conditions recommend do prescribe the exact connection points.  
 
ATE has concerns around phasing, however the triggers for piece of active travel infrastructure are 
controlled by occupation trigger conditions. 
 
Stagecoach 
Concerns initially raised with the application as submitted which have been resolved through the 
determination period through liaison with the County Highways Authority. 
 
The Architects Panel and Civic Society were formally consulted but did not comment on the 
scheme. 

Ubico & Clean Green  

Generic comments were provided on bin collection distances, which is covered at detailed design 
stage. Ubico confirmed they will not seek S106 monies for the scheme as they now charge 
developers separately when the properties are registered into the bin collection system.  

Cheltenham Conservation Officer  

No objection. The development proposal is not considered to affect the significance of any 
designated heritage assets, and their settings, within Cheltenham Borough. 

Tewkesbury Conservation Officer – No objection 

Page 14



The proposed development is adjacent to and within the setting and curtilage of Grade II Listed 
Hayden Farmhouse and its Grade II Listed Barns which are located West of the site beyond 
Hayden Lane. 

There are also a number of prominent unlisted buildings of local heritage interest along Old 
Gloucester Road such as Pilgrove Farmhouse and Hayden Hill and Hayden Hill House. These 
buildings are considered non-designated heritage assets. 

This application is in outline only with layout and detail to be agreed through reserved matters as 
such it is the possible indicative impact that is to be assessed against the potential to mitigate any 
perceived harm. The significance and setting of the three identified non-designated heritage assets 
(Pilgrove Farmhouse and Hayden Hill and Hayden Hill House) are generally in regard to their 
presence along the Old Gloucester Road and the open land behind them. New development 
beyond the road behind the tree lined boundary is unlikely to have a significant impact upon the 
setting of these heritage assets and the way they are experienced. Likewise the setting of the 
Grade II Listed buildings that make up Hayden Farmstead are generally experienced within their 
immediate surroundings and the surrounding land holdings to the West of Hayden Lane. There will 
be some adverse visual impact from the development to the South-East. 

This is likely to equate to a low to moderate level of less than substantial harm. In the cases of all 
built heritage assets present there is a probability of the harm being mitigated through screening by 
planting and landscaping.  

Historic England 

No objection to the application on heritage grounds. 

Cotswold National Landscape Board 

No objection. 
 
Gloucestershire Constabulary (GC) 

This police request S106 monies for; Recruitment and equipping of Officers and staff £ 85,428, 
Police Vehicles £ 13,211, Office Accommodation £272,475, Total £ 371,114. These monies are not 
being sought therefore it should be viewed the GC object to the application.  

Gloucestershire Constabulary: Designing Out Crime Officer 

There should be early design consultation as part of future reserved matters applications to 
incorporate Secure by Design principles. 

Minerals and Waste 

Requested conditions for construction and occupational waste. Waste storage will be shown at 
Reserved Matters stage as requested by the condition. They also requested Environment Health 
Officers view be sought. The Environmental Health Officer has been consulted. 
 
NHS 

No objection subject to the health facility being secured, which is required by the S106 and shown 
the current masterplan and proposal description. 
 
Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust 

Submitted to Tewksbury Council that they support the SANG provision. 

Page 15



 
Sports England 

No objection subject to planning obligations on 22/01817/OUT (this application) and 23/01874/OUT 
(adjacent application) providing on site sports pitches and additional off-site sports contributions.  
 
County Archaeologist 
No objection subject to a planning condition being imposed requiring a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) for additional archaeological mitigation work to be submitted to prior to the 
commencement of development for each phase or sub-phase in accordance with the submitted 
Archaeological Mitigation Strategy. This condition has been added; however, the applicant has 
requested an amendment to the condition. Due to report deadlines this amendment could not be 
published, however if the condition wording changes this will be given to committee members as a 
late representation.  
 
Natural England (NE) 

No objection subject to mitigation being secured (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 
on and off site and Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) payments). The LPA 
has adopted an 'Appropriate Assessment' based on this HRA, which was agreed upon by NE. In 
their final response, Natural England confirmed that the proposed SANG measures are expected 
to effectively prevent adverse impacts on the integrity of the European sites within the zone of 
influence, particularly from recreational disturbances associated with the proposed residential 
development. 
 
Environmental Health (Odour, Air Quality and Contamination) (EH) 

No objection subject to conditions, which have been added and agreed with the EH Officers for 
both Tewksbury and Cheltenham.  

Cheltenham Council Land Drainage Officer 

No objection subject to conditions. 

Lead Local Flood Authority  

No objection. Requests imposition of conditions, which include securing a phased approach to 
deliver surface water drainage, management of SUDs and a flood strategy. These have been 
added to the recommendation.  
 
Cheltenham Council Ecologist 

No objection subject to conditions and S106 requirements covering SANG and biodiversity. The 
ecologist did request revised surveys and a revised BNG metric during the course of the 
application. The ecologist agreed with the findings of the relevant surveys and recommended a 
suite of conditions, which have been added to the recommendation 
 
Tewkesbury Council Ecololgy Advisors 
No objection subject to conditions 
.  
Nature Space Newt Officer 

Advised the applicant to submit a licence to Nature Space, however newts have been covered by 
the Council Ecologist as the independent expert.  

Page 16



Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
No comments raised, the sports pitches under Pylons were highlighted to them and on November 
22nd 2024 they advised they have no comment and stipulated standardised wording for when they 
would comment on an application. As such HSE did not raise any comments on the application.  

Public Rights of Way 

The officer raised detailed design comments regarding moving rights of way. However, at this 
outline stage the precise details are not finalised and any will need to changes be applied for 
separately under Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 once detailed designs 
(and therefore the extent of any potential diversions) are fully known. 

Severn Trent as Water Company 
“The drainage proposals for this site that have been agreed with STW are as follows: Foul sewage 
to discharge to the 1450mm public combined sewer - Foul sewage connection subject to S106 
application. No surface water to discharge to our sewer network. Based upon this I can confirm we 
have no objections to the proposals" 
 
Ministery of Defence 
No safeguarding objection to the proposals 

 

6. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
 
6.1 The applications were advertised by way of 483 letters sent to neighbouring properties 

and businesses, site notices displayed at publicly accessible locations adjacent and near 
to the site, and adverts placed in the Gloucestershire Echo. 
 

6.2 During the course of the application a total of 10 third party representations were received 
by Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council, the majority in 
objection to the proposed development. When each resubmission occurred the LPAs 
reconsulted the public again. 
 

6.3 As noted in the applicants Statement of Community Involvement considerable public 
engagement was undertaken by the applicant prior to submission of their planning 
applications as part of an active Planning Performance Agreement that supported pre 
application. 
 

6.4 All of the comments have been made available on the planning website separately, and 
should be read in full, but the main comments and concerns raised are summarised as 
follows: 

 
Building Heights and Density: 
Concerns regarding the proposed heights of buildings (up to 3 storeys) directly opposite 
existing homes, which could lead to significant overlooking and a lack of privacy.  
Emphasis on the need for 2 storey houses that align with the height of existing properties. 
 
Landscape Impact: 
The application fails in a ‘landscape first’ approach and locates too much built form on 
high ground (Hayden Hill) and fails to protect views of the Cotswold National Landscape. 
Insufficient landscaping space/landscaping buffers are proposed around the rural fringes 

Page 17



of the site, and higher density development should be located in proximity to Cheltenham 
built-up area. 
 
Lack of Consideration for Community Feedback: 
The proposal is criticized for ignoring public comments and objections, reflecting a lack of 
consideration for the existing community's needs and desires. 
 
Violation of National Design Guidelines (NDG): 
The development is seen as failing to meet several characteristics outlined in the NDG, 
particularly regarding context, built form, and integration with local surroundings. 
There is a noted discrepancy between the scale and density of proposed buildings and 
existing lower density housing. 
 
Environmental Impact: 
The proposed development is viewed as detrimental to greenbelt land and local 
ecosystems, threatening established habitats and biodiversity found in the area. 
 
Parking Issues: 
Insufficient parking provisions are highlighted, with concerns that the plan to minimise 
private vehicle use ignores real world parking needs, likely resulting in congestion in 
surrounding residential areas. 
 
Infrastructure Planning: 
Critique of the proposed link road's placement within the development, suggesting it 
should be positioned to minimise impact on existing residential neighbourhoods and allow 
for a more sympathetic development approach. 
 
Odour Concerns: 
Mention of outdated odour reports that do not account for prevailing wind patterns, 
indicating potential oversight regarding environmental considerations related to smell. The 
existing sewage works may cause health impacts, including on the proposed primary 
school which would be in close proximity. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage: 
The proposal will result in built form on fields which will increase run off and increase the 
rise of flooding 
 
Affordable Housing: 
The provision of affordable housing should be genuinely affordable. 
 
Housing Mix: 
The employment opportunities within the wider Strategic Allocation will attract higher 
earning people who will aspire to have larger low density homes.  These should be 
provided in the development. 
 
Car Parking: 
There should be sufficient off-street parking on the development and it should not be 
reliant on on-street parking which could impact on parking provision for existing residents. 
 
Community Infrastructure: 

Page 18



There are inadequate community facilities to support the development such as dentists 
and GP surgeries. 
 
Utility Infrastructure: 
The existing utility infrastructure in the area is inadequate and existing dwellings suffer 
from low electricity voltage, and phone and internet services are poor. The facilities should 
be upgraded for existing residents as part of the proposals and fully considered. 
 
Loss of open space: 
The proposal will result in loss of PRoWs and open space which are of recreational and 
health benefit to the wider community. 
 
Highways and Traffic: 
The proposal will increase traffic which will all also increase noise, result in poorer air 
quality and increase risk of accidents, including at existing accident blackspots. The 
highways access points are unsuitable for construction and permanent traffic and 
conditions should be imposed restricting development until the J10 DCO works are 
completed. 

 
Drainage and Third Party Land: 
The application red line does not include a drainage ditch on third party land to the west of 
the application site, but proposes discharge to, and widen, this ditch. The red line should 
be extended to include this ditch, should be consistent in all submission documents and 
the appropriate notices served. It is advised that rights have not been granted to 
discharge into this ditch.   
 
Cumulative and In Combination Flood Risk and Drainage: 
A cumulative assessment should be undertaken of the surface water drainage issues 
alongside the J10 DCO scheme to ensure a proper EIA assessment has been carried out. 
 
Comprehensive Development 
Transport connections (including footpaths and cycleways) should ensure that the 
Strategic Allocation can be built out in a comprehensive and integrated manner 
 

 

7. OFFICER COMMENTS  

Determining Issues  

7.1 The key issues (in no particular order of importance) for consideration are;  

 Policy Framework and Principle of Development 

 The Golden Valley Supplementary Planning Document and Employment 

 Design and Layout 

 Biodiversity, Ecology and Green Infrastructure 

 Landscape, Trees and Visual Impact 

 Impact on Neighbouring Amenity  

 Odour, Air Quality and Noise 

Page 19



 Sustainability  

 Drainage/Flood Risk 

 Transport 

 Viability 

 Housing Mix 

 Section 106 Obligations  

 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 
(EIA Regulations)  

 
7.2 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is a formal procedure underpinned by the Town 

and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (‘the EIA 
Regulations’). Following the screening and scoping advice of the LPAs the application is 
supported by an Environmental Statement. 

 
7.3 During the course of the application various EIA addendums have been appended to the 

original EIA. At the type of writing, it is considered that the conclusions of the 
Environmental Statement ES (as amended and updated) remain valid in all respects. 

 
Policy Framework and Principle of Development 

7.4 The development plan comprises of the saved policies of the Cheltenham Borough Local 
Plan Second Review 2006 (CBLP), adopted polices of the Cheltenham Plan 2020 (CP), 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 (2022) (TBP) and the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2017 (JCS). Other material considerations include the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2024 (as amended February 2025) (NPPF), Golden 
Valley Supplementary Planning Document (Golden Valley SPD) (2020) and Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG). 
 

7.5 Policies EM3, D1, SL1, CI1 and CI2 of the Cheltenham Plan; policies RES5, RES12, 
RES13, RES14, RET3, DES1, LAN2, NAT1, NAT3, NAT5, ENV1, ENV2, HEA1, RCN1, 
RCN2, RCN3, TRAC1, TRAC2, TRAC3, TRAC9  of the TBP and policies , SP1, SP2, 
INF1, INF2, INF6, INF7, SD1, SD3, SD4, SD10, SD11, SD12, SD14 and SA1 and A7 of 
the JCS are most relevant.  

 
7.6 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals 

be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides 
that the LPA shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as 
material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
 

7.7 Policy SP1 of the JCS identifies the need for new development over the plan period from 
2011-2031 and identifies the need for approximately 35,175 new homes and a minimum 
of 192 hectares of employment land.  Of these 35,175 new homes, Policy SP1 criterion 3 
identifies there is a requirement for at least 10,917 new homes to meet the housing needs 
of Cheltenham. 

 

Page 20



7.8 Policy SP1 criterion 2 identifies that the strategy for delivering these identified needs will 
be achieved by, inter alia, urban extensions to Cheltenham.  This spatial strategy aims to 
locate jobs next to economically active population, increase sustainability, and reduce 
carbon emissions from unsustainable car use. 

 
7.9 Policy SP2 criterion 3 sets out 10,996 homes will be allocated within Cheltenham’s 

administrative boundaries and in two cross boundary urban extensions. 
 

7.10 Policy SP2 criterion 9 also identifies that employment land will be delivered on these 
Strategic Allocations to support economic growth in the JCS area, contributing to the 
overall requirement for of at least 192 hectares of employment land. 

 
7.11 Policy SD10 states housing development will be permitted at sites allocated for housing 

through the development plan, including Strategic Allocations and allocations in district 
and neighbourhood plans. 

 
7.12 The JCS allocates West Cheltenham as a Strategic Allocation under Policy A7 capable of 

delivering around 1,100 new homes and 45 hectares of employment land by 2031 and 
states development with be expected to deliver: 

i. Approximately 1,100 new homes; 

ii. Approximately 45 hectares of B-class led employment land to be focussed upon a 

cyber security hub and other high technology and high ‘Gross Value Added’ generating 

development and ancillary employment uses; 

iii. All development should be employment led, delivery of housing must be in tandem with 

employment development; 

iv. A comprehensive masterplan and development strategy for the Strategic Allocation, set 

within the context of the safeguarded land at West Cheltenham, which includes: 

a) A delivery strategy for employment focussed land release 

b) A positive impact on the regeneration of neighbourhoods in west Cheltenham 

c) Integrates built form and a comprehensive network of accessible green infrastructure, 

including local green space. The network will incorporate and protect notable natural 
features, including the Hatherley Brook, the Fiddlers Green Key Wildlife Site and important 
trees and hedgerows, and contribute to water quality enhancements. 

v. Vehicle accesses from Fiddlers Green Lane and B4634 Old Gloucester Road and 
facilitate links to the M5 J10 for strategic movements to and from the site; 

vi. Measures necessary to mitigate the traffic impact of the site, including the use of travel 

plans to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes; 

vii. High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site. 

viii. Safe, easy and convenient pedestrian and cycle links within the site, to key centres and 
with neighbouring existing development and the wider green infrastructure network; 

ix. A distribution of development that takes account of the proximity of the Hayden sewage 

treatment works and incorporates appropriate spatial planning arrangements and 

Page 21



mitigation measures designed to minimise material impacts on residential properties and 

commercial premises. Development which is likely to be significantly affected by odours will 
not be permitted within the Odour Monitoring Zone identified on the policies map; 

x. A landscape buffer to the western boundary of the site which will provide screening 
between the development and the Hayden sewage treatment works; 

xi. A layout and form that respects landscape character, significance and setting of the 
heritage assets at Hayden Farmhouse and Barn; 

xii. A layout and form that reduces the impact of electricity pylons and high voltage lines; 
with the siting of residential development being a particular consideration. 

 
7.13 The  Golden Valley SPD provides further guidance on what West Cheltenham should be 

and how it should be delivered. It reiterates the need for development to be “employment-
led” (with a greater focus on cyber and high-technology industries) but increases the 
allocation capacity to around 2,370 dwellings alongside new public open spaces and 
community uses to better support the employment hub and create a sustainable new 
community. Conformity with the supplementary guidance is discussed in the relevant 
sections below.  

7.14 This application only forms part of the West Cheltenham strategic allocation. The proposals 
for this predominantly residential scheme tie into other live applications for the Strategic 
Allocation A7, which also includes: 

• 23/01875/OUT Approved by planning committee in July 2025, 576 new homes and up to 
125,698 sqm (GIA) of employment floorspace. 

• 24/01268/OUT Submitted proposals for a mixed-use of 365 homes and 43,785 sqm of 
employment floorspace by Nema to the west of this application. 

• 23/01874/OUT The site to the east proposing up to 443 homes and land set aside for the 
primary school shared with this application.   

7.15 All of the applications mentioned have a role in establishing the requirements for the 
Strategic Allocation A7 and the LPAs have facilitated extensive work of bringing the different 
developers together to deliver an overarching masterplan and infrastructure delivery plan.  

7.16 It is important to note that the relevant JCS policies do not prevent development from 
moving forward if one party disagrees with the comprehensive masterplan and it does not 
prevent separate applications coming forward on a strategic allocation. Officers have 
worked to ensure alignment with Policy SA1, which states that “Development proposals 
should enable a comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area within 
each Strategic Allocation.” 

7.17 JCS Policy INF6 requires proposals to consider the cumulative impacts when providing 
infrastructure. It states that this infrastructure be delivered according to an agreed, phased 
timeline, in alignment with the other requirements of the JCS. 

7.18 JCS Policy SA1 stipulates that proposals must be accompanied by a comprehensive 
masterplan for the entire Strategic Allocation. The JCS authorities will be flexible in 
considering various approaches to achieving a comprehensive masterplan, as long as the 

Page 22



proposals adequately address the development and infrastructure needs of the wider 
allocation and demonstrate that they do not hinder the sustainable delivery of the entire 
allocation. 

7.19 Page 81 of the Golden Valley SPD states that an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) must be 
agreed upon by developers and landowners before the first planning application is 
submitted on site. This plan needs to outline a timely approach to infrastructure delivery, 
including site-wide phasing and trigger targets. The IDP must ensure that the scheme 
remains commercially viable and market-orientated. It is important to note that this 
requirement is not a specific objective of the Golden Valley SPD but appears in the 
concluding pages as advisory for future planning applications. Consequently, while it serves 
as a useful tool, it does not carry the same weight as the development plan policies 
examined above, which does not require agreement amongst developers. 

7.20 The application, as well as the others approved by Cheltenham Planning Committee, is 
supported by an IDP. This IDP outlines the necessary infrastructure for the entire allocation 
and designates responsibilities for the delivery of each component. The policy states that 
these plans must be agreed upon with the LPA, rather than solely among the group of 
developers. An overarching phasing strategy has been provided to support the application; 
however, detailed phasing will be required as a condition to allow for future adjustments by 
whoever develops the site. 

7.21 The IDP, submitted as part of this application, is supported by an allocation wide 
comprehensive master plan, which shows that, when viewed as a whole, the separate 
parameter plans for each application align with one another. For example, the road layouts 
and green infrastructure are cohesive, reflecting a unified vision for delivering of the wider 
allocation. This application provides some of the broader infrastructure needs, such as 
sports pitches and a primary school for the wider allocation. The policy explicitly states that 
the JCS authorities will be flexible in considering different approaches to achieve the 
comprehensive masterplan.  

7.22 The LPAs are satisfied that the comprehensive masterplan meets the objectives of Policies 
SA1 and A7, as well as the further guidance within the Golden Valley SPD. The indicative 
phasing plan submitted alongside the comprehensive masterplan and IDP illustrates a 
natural sequence for development, starting from the edge of the site and progressing 
inward. This scheme provides the sport pitches, GP surgery and primary school land, which 
is not considered to prejudice the advancement of other elements of the strategic allocation 
coming forward, but in fact support them.  

7.23 In terms of agreement among the three developers, this applicant Brighton STM 
Developments Limited (formerly St. Modwen Developments) (CBC ref:22/01817/OUT & 
TBC ref: 22/01107/OUT) and HBD (23/01874/OUT & 23/01875/OUT) are fully aligned 
regarding all aspects of the comprehensive master plan and the IDP, making up most of the 
allocation. The LPAs have requested that all developers produce a joint developer position 
statement (received 20th May 2025 and available on the planning website) that clearly 
outlines their agreements and disagreements related to the collaborative documents. While 
this statement should be reviewed in detail and form a part of your consideration of this 
application, the following summarises the points, at the time of writing, of disagreement from 
Nema the applicant for adjacent parcel to the west of this application (24/01268/OUT). 
Committee should also note the letter from Nema submitted under 23/01875/OUT and any 
subsequent letters submitted post publishing of this report. 

Page 23



7.24 They do not agree with the illustrative masterplan, as their own plan is still under 
consideration and requires revisions. Regarding public transport connections, they do not 
fully agree, as the applicant has requested significant reductions in parking numbers which 
could impact the public transport outcomes for 24/01268/OUT. Furthermore, they disagree 
with other plans related to the movement network, including the cycling connectivity plan, 
road connection plan, active travel measures, and off-site highway works; they feel unable 
to concur on these highway matters at this time. 

7.25 While the applicant for 24/01268/OUT agrees with the provisions for open space, 
community, and sports facilities, they do not support the current GP care provision, as they 
seek clarity that the LPA deems this sufficient. However, the LPA has been clear that the 
GP surgery provided under 22/01817/OUT is sufficient to cover the whole allocation, a 
position reached from ongoing engagement with NHS. Additionally, they could not agree to 
the odour mitigation works, as whilst they would not be undertaking them, they still sought 
further information from Severn Trent, at the water treatment site. The LPA is content odour 
is sufficiently addressed and this is covered in the odour section of this Report. 

7.26 They also do not agree with the illustrative strategic phasing plan, though an appendix to 
the Golden Valley SPD shows illustratively the land covering 24/01268/OUT as part of a 
later phase (page 35 Golden Valley SPD Appendix 1). Lastly, they do not agree with the 
memorandum of understanding, which is essentially a document in which developers 
commit to the IDP plans. They prefer a landowner agreement; however, this has been 
requested by the LPA and is not required by planning policy. 

7.27 Whilst disappointing and despite continued and focussed efforts of the LPA, involving 
significant time to facilitate and mediate across the applications, the fact that the applicants 
cannot reach full agreement on certain matters does not preclude other applications from 
being determined and does not mean all applications must be refused on this basis. 

7.28 This planning application, which forms a large part of the strategic allocation A7, includes 
the development components which are required by JCS Policy A7. By virtue of the scale 
of the application site, which forms a large part of the strategic allocation, the proposals also 
facilitate a comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area within the 
strategic allocation allowing for infrastructure to be planned comprehensively in accordance 
with the requirements of Policy SA1 of the JCS. Officers are of the opinion that the planning 
applications are capable of being implemented to deliver the strategic allocation as a whole.  

7.29 Officers consider that the application proposals address the strategic ambition of Policy 
A7 and propose a form of development which is in accordance with Policy A7 and Policy 
SA1 of the JCS, helping to meet the specific policy requirements and the wider ambitions 
of the JCS and is in accordance with spatial strategy and adopted Development Plan 
when read as a whole.   
 

7.30 In terms of the decision-making context for the proposed development, legislation requires 
that the application is to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise with the application being assessed on its own 
merits. 
 

7.31 The principle of residential development is therefore considered acceptable, however 
there is no up to date development plan for Cheltenham as the latest published 5 year 

Page 24



housing land supply figure is 2.69 years for housing land supply. As such, paragraph 11d 
of the NPPF is therefore engaged which states:  

 
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing development to 
sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places 
and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination. 

 
7.32  The overall planning balance is undertaken at the end of the Report. 

 
The Golden Valley Supplementary Planning Document & Employment 

 
7.33 The purpose of this SPD was to provide further guidance and details relating to the 

interpretation of policies set out in the JCS. It was commissioned and approved by both 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury borough councils. There is detailed design guidance within 
the Golden Valley SPD, however this relates to one vision of how the development may 
come forward. The Golden Valley SPD is therefore not seeking to be overly prescriptive 
and other design approaches may be considered appropriate but only if it can be 
demonstrated that they still respond positively to the overall Golden Valley SPD objectives 
and principles including the delivery of a garden community. 

 
7.34 An assessment matrix has been completed and appended to this Report as required by 

the Golden Valley SPD (Figure 56 Qualitative assessment matrix of the Golden Valley 
SPD). The Golden Valley SPD contains 5 overriding objectives, broken into 32 sub 
objectives.  

 
7.35 Whilst the principle is clearly established, the sections below examine the key issues and 

their relevant sub objectives with reference to relevant development plan policies and 
other material considerations where appropriate. 

 
7.36 Policy A7 of the JCS allocates 45 hectares of employment land in West Cheltenham to 

ensure a vibrant mixed-use community. The Golden Valley SPD translates the 45 hectares 
of mixed-use employment land referenced in JCS Policy A7 into approximately ‘2 m square 
feet of non-residential floorspace’. 

7.37 The Golden Valley SPD aimed to include a significant amount of employment through dense 
mixed-use development along the Main Street within this application. However, the 
applicant has proposed a predominantly residential development. The council must make 
a determination on the proposal before them. 

7.38 It is important to note that this proposal includes a substantial amount of community facilities 
necessary for the broader allocation, such as a primary school, sports pitches, and a GP 

Page 25



surgery. By incorporating these facilities, this application enables other proposals to 
contribute significantly to employment opportunities. 

7.39 Additionally, as previously mentioned, the Cheltenham Council is currently unable to 
demonstrate a five-year housing land supply. Consequently, the demand for housing is 
considerable. On balance, it is acknowledged that the absence of employment opportunities 
in this application is acceptable, as it contributes significantly to Cheltenham Council’s  five-
year housing land supply and supports other applications within the broader allocation by 
offering extensive community facilities. Therefore, the conflict with Joint Core Strategy 
(JCS) policy, specifically A7, and the Golden Valley SPD regarding the lack of employment 
is not considered a defensible reason for refusal in this case and when viewed as a strategic 
allocation as a whole this allocation will be providing significant floorspace for one of of 
Gloucestershire's key growth sectors. 

Design and Layout 

7.40 Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that good design is a key aspect to achieving sustainable 
development and creating better places in which to live. Similarly, Policy SD4 and the 
relevant criteria of Policy A7 of the JCS, require development to respond positively to and 
respect the character of the site and its surroundings, including in the case of A7, a layout 
and form of development that respects the landscape character and setting of the heritage 
assets and providing a landscape buffer; Design objectives are reiterated in Policy D1 of 
the Cheltenham Plan and Policy RES5 of the TBP which requires development to achieve 
a high standard of architectural design that complements and integrates with neighbouring 
development. 

7.41 The Golden Valley SPD builds on Policy A7 regarding urban design. All objectives 
contribute to the urban design aspects of the applications; however, objectives B1-4 "vibrant 
and diverse range of uses and activities to serve existing and new communities," and 
objectives E1-3 P1-3 "character and placemaking," are particularly important for urban 
design considerations. The objectives of the Golden Valley SPD will be used to evaluate 
the urban design merits of the proposal in the following sections of this report. 

7.42 The design approach for this proposal is primarily outlined in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement (DAS).  The key principles are captured in the; Illustrative Masterplan 
DE438-024_REV_K, Illustrative Open Space Plan DE438_027_REV_C and Illustrative Play 
Provision. As well as the; Parameter Plan - Land Use DE438_020_REV_B, Parameter Plan 
- Access & Movement DE438_021_REV_B, Parameter Plan - Green & Blue Infrastructure 
DE438_022_REV_C, Parameter Plan - Building Heights DE438_023_REV_B. 

7.43 The applicant undertook a pre application during December 2021 and received design 
review advice and since this time during both pre application, but mainly during the course 
of this application the illustrative masterplan underwent extensive discussions involving the 
applicant’s team of specialists, including urban designers, transport planners, landscape 
designers, ecologists, and drainage engineers, alongside the LPAs in-house experts and 
consultants. The applicant remained committed to their original masterplan; however, over 
the years, several significant changes have occurred. The road alignment through the 
centre of the site has been made much straighter, other roads have been streamlined, 
substantial open spaces have been added, and significant provisions for sports facilities 
have been included. 

Page 26



7.44 The principles captured by the Parameters plans submitted with the outline application are 
as follows: 

Parameter Plan - Land Use 

7.45 The land use plan (Parameter Plan - Land Use DE438_020_REV_B) outlines predominantly 
residential development across the entire application site. A significant portion of the area 
has been reserved for open space. Additionally, the eastern edge of the site includes a 
safeguarded local centre designated for mixed-use and community facilities. There is also 
land allocated for a primary school and sports pitches. The development of sports pitches 
and the primary school depends on the adjacent HBD North (23/01874/OUT) application 
transferring some of its land to the developer responsible for this application. This 
agreement has already been established between the developers, and a trigger will be set 
on the HBD North (CBC ref:23/01874/OUT) application to facilitate the transfer of this land 
when necessary. 

Parameter Plan - Building Heights 

7.46 The building heights plan (Parameter Plan - Building Heights DE438_023_REV_B) 
indicates that the northern tip of the site is designated for a maximum of three stories. 
Additionally, there is a circular element that could form a crescent, which is permitted to rise 
to four stories. The centre of the site, along Main Street and the linear open space, is also 
allowed to have buildings up to four stories. Additionally, the neighbourhood opposite 
Headley Road is limited to three stories. Concerns raised by residents regarding the three-
story buildings on the edge of the site have been noted. The Golden Valley SPD has aimed 
for higher densities across the entire allocation, and these building heights are in 
accordance with the guidelines established for this neighbourhood area. Therefore, the 
proposed heights are considered acceptable. The potential implications of these heights, 
such as overshadowing or an overbearing impact on neighbouring residences, will be 
evaluated during the detailed design stage in future reserved matters. 

Parameter Plan - Green & Blue Infrastructure 

7.47 The Green and Blue Infrastructure Plan (Parameter Plan - Green & Blue Infrastructure 
DE438_022_REV_C) outlines a significant area dedicated to green spaces, particularly in 
the form of semi natural grassland. Drainage areas are shown, these spaces are scattered 
throughout the site, primarily in the open areas beneath the pylons, which also indicate 
potential drainage locations. Each residential block is designed with suggested locations for 
play areas. 

7.48 A key feature of the plan is a dark corridor that runs through the centre of the site and 
following the path of the pylons. To enhance this corridor, a buffer zone will be established. 
Additionally, the southern tip of the plan includes an area designated for allotments. 
Planning conditions will determine when these facilities need to be provided and their 
required sizes. 

7.49 The Green and Blue Infrastructure Plan is further supported by an illustrative Open Space 
Plan (Illustrative Open Space Plan DE438_027_REV_C). This plan also highlights a 
significant amount of natural and semi-natural green spaces and further details the parks 
and garden areas, including provisions for play areas and formal sports facilities. It also 
incorporates the allotments. The plan contains a table outlining open space standards, 

Page 27



demonstrating that the proposal complies with policy requirements regarding type and 
quantity of green space. 

Parameter Plan - Access & Movement 

7.50 The Access and Movement Strategy (Parameter Plan - Access & Movement 
DE438_021_REV_B) outlines the main vehicle access points for the development, which 
will consist of two junctions from Old Gloucester Road. One junction will provide access to 
the adjacent development parcel to the south, while the other will connect to the 
development parcel to the east.  

7.51 Additionally, there will be a third access point to the east, designated exclusively for buses, 
cyclists, and pedestrians; cars will not be allowed to use this access in order to prevent rat-
running through the site. The plan retains the existing rights of way that run north to west 
and south to east along the pylon corridor. Extensive footpaths are also provided, creating 
interesting and diverse walking routes throughout the open space for pedestrians. All roads 
will feature adjacent cycle routes, and there are additional cycle paths that lead into the 
open space for more leisurely cycling. 

Design Objectives 

7.52 The Golden Valley SPD provides a broad masterplan setting out important principles 
including connections from existing neighbourhoods, the design of green spaces, new 
homes and community facilities. It lists a series of objectives to be achieved with the 
development of this site and the wider area masterplan.  The below examines the proposal 
against these specific design objectives. Some objectives span multiple themes within the 
report, therefore the design elements are covered here, but for example landscape, are 
explored in further detail further into the report. 

Objective B “A vibrant and diverse range of uses serving new and existing communities” 

7.53 Objective B requires a high-profile and state-of-the-art ‘Cyber Innovation Centre’ will be 
established in partnership as the focal point of the Cyber Central Garden Community. 
Surrounding this hub, 45 hectares of mixed-use employment land will be developed, 
providing flexible business spaces, hotels, retail and leisure facilities, as well as cultural and 
community amenities to benefit both the local community and the wider region. The primary 
component of the employment space will be situated in the southern part of the wider 
allocation, with additional mixed-use development proposed for the site to offer both 
employment and community facilities. The construction of high-quality new homes within an 
attractive landscaped environment will further aid in attracting the types of employers 
envisioned for the Cyber Central cluster. To meet local housing needs sustainably and 
feasibly, a diverse range of tenures will be offered, including affordable housing and self-
build options, with the specific mix and tenures to be determined in detail at the Reserved 
Matters stage. Furthermore, the development will implement higher densities and a variety 
of dwelling types to maximize the use of available land, in general alignment with the 
distribution of densities shown on the key plan for Objective B. 

7.54 There are variations from the Objective B key plan within the SPD, the school is strategically 
located on the eastern edge of the site boundary, with the potential to expand to the CBC 
land. Nonetheless, it remains central to community activities, contributes to social 
interaction, and is accessible by safe and active travel routes. The SPD masterplan 

Page 28



framework proposes mixed-uses along the mainstreet, whereas the current proposed 
masterplan for the site proposes to locate mixed uses centrally within the site to promote 
maximum levels of communal interaction. The Golden Valley SPD is not a blueprint for 
development and the deviation is considered acceptable. 

Objective C “Working with the natural landscape and its features” 

7.55 The proposal aims to establish a comprehensive and interconnected green infrastructure 
network that respects the site's topography while preserving essential assets such as 
hedgerows with protected species and Category A and B trees. By aligning street typologies 
and key spaces with significant views, particularly towards the west overlooking the Vale of 
Gloucester, the masterplan enhances the site's natural features. It meets the necessary 
requirements for various open space typologies, primarily located in the southern part of the 
wider allocation. A sustainable drainage system is proposed, featuring a network of 
biodiverse basins and on-street swales for effective stormwater management, designed to 
operate independently of adjacent developments. The street hierarchy will support new tree 
planting in verges and enhance the existing hedgerows, contributing to a Biodiversity Net 
Gain through the retention and enhancement of species. The illustrative masterplan 
maintains all existing connections while introducing new links to surrounding communities. 
Additionally, it incorporates a food growing strategy that includes grow zones, foraging 
areas, orchards, and access to allotments. Public art initiatives will be detailed in 
subsequent stages, and a sustainability strategy alongside a Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan will be required by condition to ensure the long-term viability of the site. 

Objective D “An integrated and connected extension of west Cheltenham” 

7.56 A permeable network of active travel routes is proposed to respect existing Public Rights of 
Way while enhancing connectivity with adjacent neighbourhoods and promoting public 
transport use. The pedestrian and cycle connections align with the Golden Valley SPD 
framework masterplan, with additional routes suggested for further active travel 
enhancements. 

7.57 The masterplan features a comprehensive network of routes and street typologies 
developed with GCC Highways, serving various functions in the route hierarchy. The 
proposal includes the HIF junction on Old Gloucester Road, connecting through the site to 
land to the south and Telstar Way. The ‘main street’ has been designed with GCC input to 
prioritise active travel and public transport, strengthening existing Public Rights of Way 
connections. 

7.58 All junctions comply with GCC Highways requirements for local vehicular and bus gate 
access. The school is strategically located adjacent to the Circular Path for safe access. 
Green corridors and retained public rights of way create a robust network of safe routes 
within the development. 

7.59 While parking standards will be finalised with GCC Highways at the Reserved Matters stage 
and during the design coding process, the masterplan is intended to encourage active travel 
and public transport. Proposed mobility hubs will support trial modes like e-bikes. 

7.60 There are some deviations from the objective D plan due to below ground and other 
constraints. The main street's alignment must maximise development blocks while retaining 
biodiversity corridors. The SANG position limits development along both sides of the Main 

Page 29



Street, leading to necessary adjustments that will ensure integration and access without 
relying solely on the HIF junction.  

Objective E “Highest standards of design, good urban design principles, character and 
placemaking” 

7.61 The Old Gloucester Road character area will focus on creating an accessible and distinctive 
neighbourhood, with new community facilities and a primary school at the heart of the 
development. Further information about the public realm, housing typologies, and character 
study will be provided in the Design Code and at the Reserved Matters stage. 

7.62 The Main Street character area will emphasise creating a highly connected neighbourhood 
with various typologies and densities along the main street. The route will prioritise public 
transport and active travel while providing direct links to the existing network. Detailed 
information about the public realm, housing typologies, and character study will also be 
provided in the Design Code and at the Reserved Matters stage. 

7.63 There are some changes from the Golden Valley SPD objective E key plan as noted, non-
residential mixed uses are proposed to be centred around the school to generate maximum 
footfall, thereby enhancing vibrancy and vitality in the main civic space. This approach was 
considered more viable, given that, for large portions of the main street, it is not possible to 
have direct frontage onto the main street, as shown in the code. 

Design Codes 

7.64 As defined by the NPPF, design codes are sets of illustrated requirements that provide 
specific, detailed parameters for the physical development of a site or area. The design 
code should include both graphic and written components that build upon a design vision, 
such as a masterplan or other development frameworks for the site or area. 

7.65 NPPF paragraph 115 states that it should be ensure that "the design of streets, parking 
areas, other transport elements, and the content of associated standards reflects current 
national guidance, including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design 
Code." 

7.66 Additionally, NPPF paragraph 134 notes that "Design guides and codes can be prepared at 
an area-wide, neighbourhood, or site-specific scale. To carry weight in decision-making, 
they should be produced as part of a planning document or as supplementary planning 
documents. Landowners and developers may contribute to these efforts, but they may also 
choose to prepare design codes to support planning applications for the sites they wish to 
develop. Regardless of who prepares them, all guides and codes should be based on 
effective community engagement and reflect local aspirations for development. They should 
also take into account the guidance found in the National Design Guide and the National 
Model Design Code. These national documents should guide decisions on applications in 
the absence of locally produced design guides or codes." 

7.67 Tier 1 Design Code - The LPA held collaboration meetings with all the developers, each of 
whom had a slightly different approach to design codes. As a result, the LPA requested that 
the developers work together to produce a Tier 1 design code. This Tier 1 design code 
focuses on overarching aspirational principles, building upon the Golden Valley SPD. It also 
addresses the relationships between each application, such as road dimensions and 

Page 30



landscape buffers connecting TBC ref: 22/01107/OUT/CBC ref: 22/01817/OUT and CBC 
ref: 23/01874/OUT, as well as points of access between CBC ref: 23/01875/OUT and CBC 
ref: 24/01268/OUT. 

7.68 However, the Tier 1 design code has a limited scope. Although it served as a useful design 
exercise during these applications, it does not carry any regulatory weight. Nonetheless, it 
will be used in the future to guide design teams and case officers when considering 
subsequent applications and design codes. 

7.69 Tier 2 Design Code - The applicant began the coding exercise in collaboration with the local 
planning authorities and has participated in extensive workshops with the design consultant 
for the LPAs. However, the applicant wishes to move forward with the application quickly. 
In the event that a future developer purchases the site, the applicant requested that a design 
code be conditioned. There will be a requirement in the outline approval for a design code 
to be created for the entire application site, which must be agreed upon before the 
submission of any reserved matters. This approach is considered acceptable as it is 
standard practice for major applications. 

Remaining Design Issues 

7.70 Both the applicant and their design team have collaborated with the council's urban design 
consultant. However, the urban design consultant has raised two outstanding concerns that 
the applicants have not addressed. The first concern is regarding the pylons; the consultant 
is worried that they have not been moved underground and will be visible within the open 
space of the scheme. Although the council's officers thoroughly challenged the applicants 
on this matter, grounding the pylons would incur substantial costs amounting to millions. 
Given the wider viability issues related to this application, which will be discussed later in 
the report, it was deemed acceptable for the pylons to remain above ground to facilitate a 
deliverable site. Therefore, although the concerns are noted, they have not been 
incorporated into the current proposal. 

7.71 The second concern from the urban design consultant pertains to access to the primary 
school. At present, the illustrative masterplan shows a small road that runs through a 
residential area to reach the school. The officer has expressed concerns about insufficient 
parking and a lack of thoughtful design (placemaking) around the school. However, this 
detailed matter will be addressed in the future Design Code, which is conditioned in the 
proposal. Additionally, it will be tackled at the Reserved Matters stage when the County 
Council provides an end design for the school, allowing for proper planning of the 
surrounding space. Thus, while the consultant’s concerns are acknowledged, it is believed 
they can be adequately resolved in the future. 

Design Conclusions  

7.72 The submitted Illustrative Masterplan underwent a comprehensive assessment during the 
course of this application. This process has demonstrated the proposals resilience and 
confirmed it as a sound Illustrative Masterplan. 

7.73 The Parameter plans and Illustrative plans align with the provisions set out within Policy 
SD4 and the pertinent criteria of Policy A7 from the JCS, as well as Policy D1 from the 
Cheltenham Plan, Policy RESR of the TBP and Golden Valley SPD. 

Page 31



7.74 In summary, by conditioning the requirement for a design code this will guarantee not only 
good design practices but also fostering the development of a successful and sustainable 
community. There is a strong assurance that the aspirations articulated in the Golden Valley 
SPD can be effectively realised in forthcoming Reserved Matters applications.  

Biodiversity, Ecology and Green Infrastructure 

7.75 Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks the protection and enhancement of ecological networks and 
across the JCS area, improved community access and for new development to contribute 
positively to biodiversity and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of green 
infrastructure. 

7.76 JCS Policy A7 states iv. A comprehensive masterplan and development strategy for the 
Strategic Allocation, set within the context of the safeguarded land at West Cheltenham, 
which includes; c) Integrates built form and a comprehensive network of accessible green 
infrastructure, including local green space. The network will incorporate and protect notable 
natural features, including the Hatherley Brook, the Fiddlers Green Key Wildlife Site and 
important trees and hedgerows, and contribute to water quality enhancements. 

7.77 Policy NAT1 of the TBP states that proposals will, where applicable, be required to deliver 
a biodiversity net gain across local and landscape scales, including designing wildlife into 
development proposals, the connection of sites and large-scale habitat restoration, 
enhancement and habitat re-creation. Within the reasoned justification paragraphs in 
respect of policy NAT1 it is set out that the policy should be interpreted and applied in the 
context of, as was then, the legislative proposals with the expectation that all major 
developments are to deliver a minimum net gain of 10%.    

7.78 Policy NAT1 also states that proposals that are likely to have a significant effect on a 
European or internationally designated habitats site (either alone or in combination with 
other plans or projects) will not be permitted unless a Habitats Regulations Assessment has 
concluded that the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site. 

7.79 Policy NAT 2 of the TBP states that in pursuance of the objectives of the Water Framework 
Directive the Council will, where practical, seek appropriate opportunities offered by new 
development proposals to recreate more natural conditions and new habitat along 
watercourses.  

7.80 Policy NAT3 of the TBP states that development must contribute, where appropriate to do 
so and at a scale commensurate to the proposal, towards the provision, protection and 
enhancement of the wider green infrastructure network. The policy requires proposals for 
major development to provide a high standard of design for green infrastructure in 
accordance with established, recognisable standards – including the National Design Guide 
and Building with Nature Standards. 

7.81 Policy NAT5 states that that development will not be permitted where it would be likely to 
lead directly or indirectly to an adverse effect upon the integrity of the Cotswold Beechwoods 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (alone or in combination), and the effects cannot be 
mitigated.  The requirements of the Policy NAT5 are echoed in Policy BG1 and BG2 of the 
Cheltenham Plan. 

Page 32



7.82 NPPF paragraph 187 states planning decisions should “d) minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks 
that are more resilient to current and future pressures and incorporating features which 
support priority or threatened species such as swifts, bats and hedgehogs;” 

7.83 Paragraph 188 of the NPPF sets out a mitigation hierarchy in terms of retained and 
enhanced environmental features that can be incorporated into a development proposal. 

7.84 NPPF paragraph 193 states when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should apply the following principles: a) if significant harm to biodiversity 
resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then 
planning permission should be refused; and d) development whose primary objective is to 
conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to improve 
biodiversity in and around developments should be integrated as part of their design, 
especially where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity or enhance public 
access to nature where this is appropriate. 

7.85 The application details include a comprehensive ES Technical section 10 covering ecology 
which includes a Phase 1 Habitat Survey, protected and notable species surveys and an 
assessment of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). 

7.86 The application site comprises predominantly areas of arable (parts set aside), together 
with smaller areas of improved grassland and semi-improved grassland fields. The fields 
are separated by hedgerows, copses, line of trees, and fence lines. Areas of rough 
grassland, scrub, and ruderal vegetation are also present as well as ponds and wet ditches. 

7.87 Under objective A3 of the Golden Valley SPD “Connection to nature: Development at the 
Golden Valley Development will enrich local ecology and biodiversity”, the Golden Valley 
SPD mandates that new developments meet the Building with Nature (BWN) benchmark.  

7.88 The masterplan, mainly the open spaces, has evolved during the course of the application 
as has the level of vegetation removal proposed. Additional information including an ES 
Addendum and an Outline Great Crested Newt Mitigation Strategy was submitted in 
September and February 2025, respectively. Detailed technical work identified a newly 
required hedgerow loss adjacent to Old Gloucester Road, which exceeds what was outlined 
in the initial application. Minor updates on hedgerow adjustments have been made, resulting 
in the retention of some existing hedgerow and slight losses in two other areas to facilitate 
pedestrian and cycle connections. Updated ecological surveys have been conducted to 
establish a current baseline of the site's use by notable species and a revised Biodiversity 
Net Gain (BNG) metrics were submitted.  

7.89 The Golden Valley SPD also requires the masterplan to integrate green and blue 
infrastructure proposals, with a view to achieving full accreditation (‘Excellent’) from BwN 
upon delivery to exceed the statutory minima for green infrastructure. BwN standards have 
shaped the masterplan throughout the design process, ensuring Green Infrastructure has 
been considered at all stages and incorporating benefits to wildlife, water and people into 
the scheme’s design at a range of scales. At various points in the design process, an 
analysis tracking how the scheme’s green infrastructure met the BwN standards was 
undertaken to ensure the project was on track to meet the standards in preparation for the 
formal submission. An updated version of this summary tracker, based on the fixed outline 

Page 33



parameter plan scheme, was received in early September to demonstrate alignment with 
the standards. The applicant's intention remains to submit the final BwN assessment for 
audit by BwN once the scheme has the requisite level of detail associated with it to allow a 
robust assessment, and this detail will be set out within the conditioned Design Code. 

7.90 Principles and details in the ES, and Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment (explored 
below) will be secured via condition and s106, ensuring that details required are provided 
at detailed design stage. 

Statutory designated sites 

7.91 NPPF para 195 states “The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
apply where the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an appropriate assessment has 
concluded that the plan or project will not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site.” 

7.92 The site is not subject to any statutory ecological designations; however, it lies within the 
zone of influence of the Cotswolds Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
Furthermore, studies by Natural England (NE) have indicated that the floodplain habitats at 
Coombe Hill Canal and Meadows, located approximately 4.2 km and 4.7 km to the 
northwest of the Northern and Southern Parcels, respectively, are functionally linked to the 
Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar designations. 

7.93 The site is providing all its SANG allocation on site. This will be secured through the S106 
and the delivery of the SANG will align with the occupations of the development.  

7.94 A Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) was conducted on behalf of the 
applicant and reviewed by the LPAs. Under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) as competent authority the LPA is required to 
undertake an Appropriate Assessment of the development on the basis of its likely 
significant effects on the SAC as a European Site. The LPAs have adopted an 'Appropriate 
Assessment' based on this shadow HRA, which was agreed upon by NE. In their final 
response, NE confirmed that the proposed SANG measures are expected to effectively 
prevent adverse impacts on the integrity of the European sites within the zone of influence, 
particularly from recreational disturbances associated with the proposed residential 
development. NE's advice is formally acknowledged as their consultation response on the 
appropriate assessment. 

7.95 NE studies indicate that the floodplain habitats at Coombe Hill Canal and Meadows, located 
4.2 km and 4.7 km from the development sites, are functionally linked to the Severn Estuary 
designations. While the proposed development could lead to increased recreational use at 
Coombe Hill Canal and Meadows, the impact is limited due to factors such as car parking 
capacity and ongoing management by the Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust (GWT) to reduce 
recreational disturbance. Regarding the potential for likely significant effects (LSE) on the 
Severn Estuary SPA/Ramsar from recreational disturbance, precautionary mitigation 
measures, including SANG provision, are proposed. It is considered the large SANG all 
being provided on site is more convenient and likely to be used for recreational use in 
preference to Coombe Hill by future residents.  

7.96 Turning to soundness of the S106 and conditions to cover SAC mitigation, the PPG test 
relates to the imposition of Grampian conditions and states that it will be unreasonable to 

Page 34



impose a condition where there are no prospects at all of the action in question being 
performed. In short, ‘certainty’ is required in relation to the Regulation 63 test (Under 
Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017), whereas 
‘reasonable prospect’ relates to the imposition of a Grampian condition. 

7.97 NE’s advice states that permission may be granted provided it can be ascertained that the 
proposal would not adversely affect the integrity of the SAC. The Council’s view is that a 
negatively worded Grampian condition preventing any occupation until the SANG mitigation 
is secured on site, would ensure no adverse effects on the SAC. The occupation of the site 
and the phased delivery of the open space will ensure the SANG is available to residents 
from the day they move in.   

 Non Statutory Designated Sites 

7.98 There are no non-statutory designated sites of nature conservation interest within or 
adjacent to the application site. The nearest previously identified site, Fiddlers Green Lane 
Meadow Key Wildlife Site, located approximately 0.38 km south, was designated in 2000. 
However, over time, the grassland has degraded due to soil disturbance and improper 
management. As a result, the site was removed from the local wildlife site list in 2017. The 
nearest non-statutory site now is Prior’s Grove Local Wildlife Site (LWS), being 
approximately 2.56 km west, designated for ancient semi-natural woodland, and is 
separated from the application site by open countryside and roads. 

On site ecology and biodiversity  

7.99 The hedgerows, copse and woodland and semi improved grassland are considered of local 
importance. They provide significant biodiversity value for the site, which has been reflected 
in the biodiversity metric. Objective C1 of the Golden Valley SPD states, “Development must 
positively integrate existing landscape assets and features and use these features to inform 
the development of a green infrastructure network for the site.” 

7.100 As shown in Figure 3 of the Environmental Statement (ES), specifically in the tree and 
hedgerow removal plan received on May 28, 2025, much of these habitats remain retained. 
Removal is only occurring where necessary to accommodate key infrastructure. In the 
northern hedgerow, sections are removed to create two access points, which is acceptable. 
In the centre of the site, larger portions of hedgerows and trees are being removed to ensure 
proper alignment of Main Street. Additionally, to the east, a significant section of hedgerow 
and three trees are removed to facilitate the development of the school site and sports 
pitches. However, throughout the wider site, most of the hedgerows, trees, and copses are 
retained and have been included in the applicant's illustrative masterplan. 

Protected Species 

7.101 Specific surveys have been conducted for Badgers, bats, Dormice, Great Crested Newts, 
reptiles, and birds. Badgers, bats, birds, and Great Crested Newts were identified as 
residing on the site. During the construction phase of the proposal, there may be a 
temporary reduction in foraging and habitat availability for these species. However, with the 
proposed mitigation measures, such as an appropriate lighting plan, these impacts are not 
deemed significant. In the long term, the proposal is expected to enhance foraging and 
habitat options for these species through the creation of new natural and semi-natural 
habitats. 

Page 35



No evidence was found of additional protected species using the site, and the effects on 
non-protected species were not considered significant.  

Mitigation Licence for Great Crested Newts (GCN) 

7.102 The applicant has adopted a proportionate and flexible approach to GCN mitigation at 
outline stage. An outline GCN Mitigation Strategy has been agreed in principle with the 
Council's ecologist. It keeps open two lawful licensing pathways, either District Level 
Licensing (DLL) via NatureSpace or a bespoke Natural England licence, so the most 
appropriate route can be confirmed as detailed design, timing and phasing become certain. 
For parts of the site and for activities that do not trigger licensing, the strategy provides for 
Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) to avoid harm. 

7.103 To ensure legal protection is secured at the right time, any works with potential to affect 
GCN which require a licence to be granted will be prevented from commencing until the 
developer has provided evidence of authorisation under either the DLL route or a bespoke 
Natural England licence and method statement. This evidence-based gateway gives the 
Council certainty without conditioning payments, preserves route-choice for subsequent 
reserved matters, and sits alongside separate conditions requiring CEMPs and LEMPs to 
deliver construction controls and on-site enhancements. A condition requiring an ecological 
survey for each RM will cover whether a GCN licence is needed. 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

7.104 Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Councils have a duty under the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (the Habitats Regulations) and under Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006, to have regard to the conservation 
of biodiversity in exercising their functions. This duty includes the requirement to have 
regard to protected species. 

7.105 The applications were submitted before requirements for mandatory 10% Biodiversity Net 
Gain (BNG) came into force in January 2024. Nevertheless, the NPPF paragraph 187 
requires gain and JCS Policy SD9 requires development contribute positively to biodiversity 
and specifically for this allocation the Golden Valley SPD Objective A3 and C1 require the 
development to deliver biodiversity net gain. The supporting text of Policy NAT1 of the TBP 
also sets out an expectation that all major developments are to deliver a minimum of 10% 
biodiversity net gain, in circumstances where applications were submitted prior to the 
mandatory BNG legislation coming into force. 

7.106 The Councils’ Ecologist has reviewed the updated BNG Assessment. The proposal 
achieves 13.23% BNG, which is acceptable. 

Ecology Overall 

7.107 In conclusion, the Councils’ ecologist has been consulted on this application as well as 
Natural England and neither object to the application subject to the imposition of conditions. 

7.108 The application is on an allocated site where the principle of development is accepted.  
Officers consider the ecological approach within this application, protects and reinforces the 
existing ecological networks on the site, such that these networks would be resilient to 
current and future pressures.  The planning condition framework also ensure that European 

Page 36



Protected Species and Nationally Protected Species will be protected in accordance with 
the law, and that the potential impacts on national and international designated sites are 
mitigated. As such, subject to incorporation of ecological mitigation, compensation, 
enhancement, and management in line with the recommendations of the submitted 
Ecological Assessments and ES, it is considered that the impact on ecology would be low. 
The embedded design measures and the additional mitigation measures have allowed the 
assessment to conclude that for both the construction and operational phases, that there 
would in regard to the EIA Regulations, be no significant effects, and indeed there are 
opportunities for enhancements. 

7.109 It is concluded that the ecological and biodiversity impacts of the proposed development 
would be acceptable, and moreover the application has demonstrated compliance with 
Policies SD9 and A7 of the JCS, policies NAT1, NAT2, NAT3 AND NAT5 of the TBP as well 
as the Golden Valley SPD. 

7.110 The applicant's ES was reviewed by the Councils’ Ecologist (CE), who requested a suite of 
conditions regarding the aforementioned matters. The CE did not dispute any findings in 
the applicant's Ecological Baseline report or Environment Statement (biodiversity section) 
and its revisions.  

7.111 Overall, the following plans and strategies are necessary: 

1. Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan and subsequent Reserved Matters (RM) Biodiversity Gain 
Plan to achieve the targets set within the metric. 

2. Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) to ensure that appropriate agencies 
manage the areas designated for biodiversity. 

3. Ecological Mitigation & Enhancement Strategy (EMES) to secure details of wildlife 
improvements, such as bat and bird boxes and hedgehog boxes. 

4. A lighting plan within each RM to prevent light pollution affecting sensitive species 
discussed above. 

5. A Precautionary Method of Working (PMW) plan to ensure the protection of species such 
as otters and birds during construction. 

6. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to fulfil the principles outlined 
in the Ecological Appraisal. 

7. An updated ecological report within each RM to ensure that as time passes, each RM 
includes current survey information regarding species on-site. 

Landscape, Trees and Visual Impact 

7.112  The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by, inter alia, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem service. 

7.113 JCS policy SD6 advises that all development proposals must consider the landscape and 
visual sensitivity of the area in which they are located or which they may affect; this is 

Page 37



reiterated in CP policy L1. SD6 requires applications are supported by a landscape and 
visual assessment.  

7.114 Policy INF3 of the JCS also states that the green infrastructure network of local and strategic 
importance will be conserved and enhanced in order to deliver a series of multi-functional, 
linked green corridors across the JCS area.  

7.115 JCS policy A7 requires a comprehensive network of accessible green infrastructure, 
including local green space. The network will incorporate and protect notable natural 
features, including the Hatherley Brook, the Fiddlers Green Key Wildlife Site and important 
trees and hedgerows, and contribute to water quality enhancements. And whilst not 
applicable to this application as it is not on the western edge, a landscape buffer to the 
western boundary of the site which will provide screening between the development and 
the Hayden sewage treatment works. 

7.116 Policy LAN2 of the TBP states that all development must, through sensitive design, siting, 
and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing landscape setting. 
The Policy also advises that all proposals which have potential for significant landscape and 
visual effects should be accompanied and informed by a Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) to identify the sensitivity of the landscape, and the magnitude and 
significance of landscape and visual effects resulting from the development, using a suitably 
robust methodology. 

7.117 Objective C1 of the Golden Valley SPD requires that development must positively integrate 
existing landscape assets, ecology and features and use these features to inform the 
development of a highly connective green and blue infrastructure network for the site. 

7.118 Objective C2 of the Golden Valley SPD requires that proposals should respond to views 
into and out of the site and react to the existing topography and strategic landscape 
character. 

On Site Landscaping  

7.119  The landscape officer has expressed several outstanding concerns with the proposal. One 
of the primary issues raised is the sensitivity of the flood risk area. The officer is 
apprehensive about the placement of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) within 
locations identified as flood risk zones. There is a clear indication that SuDS attenuation 
basins should not be positioned in these sensitive areas, as their presence could 
exacerbate existing flood risks and detract from the landscape's natural characteristics. 

7.120 Additionally, while the officer welcomes the proposed increase in canopy cover aimed at 
transitioning the area to woodland rather than maintaining it as open parkland, there is a 
pressing need for careful consideration regarding how these wooded areas will integrate 
into the broader rural landscape. The goal is to create a distinctive area that complements 
the natural surroundings for both aesthetic and environmental purposes. 

7.121 The landscape officer raises concerns about the necessity for a comprehensive plan to 
accommodate and manage the dog-walking community effectively within the spatial design 
of the SANG. If these practicalities are overlooked during the detailed design phase, it could 
lead to future management challenges and conflicts among users, impacting the overall 
experience of the space. 

Page 38



7.122 Moreover, there are considerations about the visual experience and planting strategies 
along 'Vale View'. While the officer acknowledges the intention to enhance this experience, 
they advocate for more ambitious planting schemes at the edges of the space. Specifically, 
the planting of taller trees, could mitigate the harsh linearity currently posed by existing 
structures and enhance the visual integration of the development with the surrounding 
landscape. 

7.123 A significant concern lies in the tension between achieving a strong sense of arrival while 
simultaneously creating a naturalistic character through SuDS elements. The officer 
stresses the importance of making entrances prominent without compromising the organic 
feel of the landscape. This balance is essential to ensure that the design enhances the 
overall aesthetic. 

7.124 The impacts of overhead power lines are another focal point for the landscape officer. While 
reassured by the developer's acknowledgment of the preference to avoid placing sports 
pitches beneath these lines, they caution that achieving this goal presents significant 
challenges. This situation, particularly along the interface between different development 
parcels, may require innovative design solutions to address potential issues of safety and 
amenity. 

7.125 Lastly, the long-term health of existing copses incorporated into the development raises 
questions that remain unresolved. Understanding how the woodlands will evolve and be 
maintained is critical to preserving their ecological and aesthetic value. 

7.126 In conclusion, these concerns underscore the need for further engagement with landscape 
and ecological advisors to incorporate feedback and ensure that the designs are both 
functional and harmonious with the natural environment. Addressing these issues is 
essential for achieving a successful integration of built form with the surrounding landscape, 
ensuring long-term viability and aesthetic appeal. These matters will be covered by the 
design code and detailed landscape management practices required by condition.  

7.127 In summary, when the site was allocated, it established the presumption for considerable 
physical development within this field. Although concerns remain by the landscape officer, 
they can be addressed at detailed design stage, following extensive review of the LVIA the 
visual impacts not deemed significant. Future Reserved Matters applications, guided by the 
approved design code required by condition, will ensure that landscape considerations are 
appropriately integrated into the scheme. At this outline stage, the landscape and visual 
impacts of the proposals are thus considered acceptable. As such, the proposal is deemed 
to comply with policies JCS A7, SD6, SD7, SD4, Cheltenham Local Plan L1, G12, G13, D1, 
policy LAN2 of the TBP, NPPF paragraph 135 and the Golden Valley SPD. 

Trees 

7.128 Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should recognise benefits from 
natural capital and ecosystem services, including trees and woodland. Paragraph 193 
states that when determining applications development which results in the loss or 
deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran 
trees) should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable 
compensation strategy exists. Paragraph 136 also identifies trees make an important 
contribution to the character and quality of urban environments and can also help mitigate 
and adapt to climate change. “Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 

Page 39



streets are tree-lined…and that existing trees are retained wherever possible. Applicants 
and local planning authorities should work with highways officers and tree officers to ensure 
that the right trees are planted in the right places, and solutions are found that are 
compatible with highways standards and the needs of different users.” 

7.129 Objective C6 of the Golden Valley SPD requires that development should promote and 
deliver a strategy for new tree planting and retention of existing trees. JCS Policy INF3 
states that development proposals that will have an impact on woodlands, hedges and trees 
need to include a justification for why this impact cannot be avoided and should incorporate 
measures acceptable to the LPA to mitigate losses.  

7.130 Policy GI3 of the CP states that development which would cause damage to trees of high 
value will not be permitted and developments may be required to retain existing trees, plant 
new trees and ensure adequate measures are in place to ensure the protection of trees 
during construction works. 

7.131 A tree survey, submitted with the outline, identified 117 individual trees, 42 tree groups, and 
56 hedgerow features on the site. There is a small woodland situated in the western part of 
the site that is protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 

7.132 As indicated in the hedgerow removal plan received on May 28, 2025, efforts have been 
made to retain existing trees and hedgerows within a network of green links. This includes 
primary green links along the Cheltenham Circular Footpath and through the centre of the 
site, flanking the pylon route, as well as secondary green links that penetrate the built-up 
areas, often alongside preserved hedgerows. 

7.133 During the course of the application changes involved the removal of vegetation and trees, 
particularly affecting a section of hedgerow along Old Gloucester Road. These changes 
reflect ongoing detailed design work and further surveys associated with the separate 
enabling works planning application (Tewksbury Borough reference: 23/01201/FUL) for the 
secondary access road and construction access to facilitate the initial phases of 
construction. This work, detailed further in ES Appendix 3 received 28th May 2025, has 
revealed an additional need for hedgerow removal adjacent to Old Gloucester Road. 

7.134 The updated proposals indicate a total loss of approximately 214 meters of hedgerow in this 
area, which is an increase of 181.3 meters compared to the original anticipated losses. In 
response to this additional loss, a mitigation and compensation strategy has been 
developed. This includes the planting of approximately 220 meters of new species-rich 
hedgerow with trees along an east-west alignment to the south of the existing location, 
creating a connection to the retained hedgerows. 

7.135 Furthermore, minor updates have been made regarding the extent of removal in the middle 
of the site. These updates involve retaining more existing hedgerow around the designated 
tree (T162) and removing two small sections of hedgerow adjacent to the future school site 
to improve pedestrian and cycle connectivity. These alterations are now represented in the 
hedgerow removal plan received on May 28, 2025. The above BNG figures already 
discussed incorporate these amendments. 

7.136 Overall, the councils Tree Officer did not raise an objection to the proposal in their latest 
response stating, “The proposed tree removals should be mitigated with generous planting 

Page 40



as evidenced by a landscape plan.” These detailed replacement planting will be secured at 
Reserved Matters stage. 

Impact on Neighbouring Amenity  

7.137 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should support 
development that makes efficient use of land. Similarly, JCS Policy SD10 states that 
residential development should seek to achieve the maximum density compatible with good 
design and local amenity. Policy SD4 states that new development should respond 
positively to, and respect the character of, the site and its surroundings…It should be of a 
scale, type, density, and materials appropriate to the site and its setting. Golden Valley SPD 
objective B4 requires higher densities and a range of dwelling typologies.  

7.138 NPPF paragraph 135(f) requires that decisions create places that are safe and maintain a 
high standard of amenity for both existing and future users. Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham 
Plan states that “development will only be permitted if it does not cause unacceptable harm 
to the amenity of neighbouring land users or the locality. In assessing the impact on amenity, 
the Council will consider various factors, including, but not limited to, loss of privacy, light, 
and outlook.” This policy aligns with the adopted JCS policy SD14. 

7.139 Consequently, the need for high density must be balanced against the amenity of 
neighbouring residential areas. Page 52 of the Golden Valley SPD states the Old 
Gloucester Road area can be up to 3 storeys, with some terrace typologies being 4 storeys.  

7.140 As mentioned earlier in the landscape section of this report, this site has been allocated for 
significant growth, with the Golden Valley SPD prescribing this area as (Page 62) “The scale 
and grain of this area will be more modest in comparison to areas of The Golden Valley 
Development to the south nearer Telstar Way. Buildings will generally be two to four storeys 
with scope for taller buildings on key corner plots or for significant locations and uses.” 

7.141 Objections have been raised regarding the scale of the buildings at three storeys along the 
Old Gloucester Road edge. Given the road separating the nearest dwellings from the 
proposal, existing dwellings will not be unacceptably impacted by the principles established 
by the outline permission, albeit detailed design of future inter-relationships will be secured 
through future reserved matters.  It is the case that existing residents, who currently 
overlook a fields, will soon see dwellings in the fields. However, the right to a view is not a 
material planning consideration; therefore, the loss of existing views over the field is not 
deemed a reason to refuse the proposal, given the overriding policy supporting high-density 
development in this location and recognising this is a startegic site allocated by the JCS. 

7.142 Regarding future residents' amenity, the design code mandates minimum space standards, 
garden sizes, and separation distances, all of which will be reviewed in detail during the 
Reserved Matters stage. Officers believe that the illustrative masterplan, design access 
statement, and future design code will ensure that future residential amenity can be 
addressed appropriately at that stage. 

7.143 For all the reasons outlined above, the proposals are considered to comply with paragraph 
135 of the NPPF, Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan, and Policy SD14 of the JCS. 

Odour, Air Quality and Noise 

Page 41



7.144 Paragraph 198 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as 
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from 
the development. Policy SD14 of the JCS also states that new development must ensure 
that that there are no unacceptable levels of pollution from, inter alia, air and noise. 

Odour 

7.145 Odour presents a significant constraint on the West Cheltenham allocation as a whole, 
primarily due to the Severn Trent Water sewage treatment centre located to the West.  

7.146 NPFF paragraph 187 states planning decisions should be “e) preventing new and existing 
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. 
Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans” 

7.147 JCS Policy A7 states “ix. A distribution of development that takes account of the proximity 
of the Hayden sewage treatment works and incorporates appropriate spatial planning 
arrangements and mitigation measures designed to minimise material impacts on 
residential properties and commercial premises. Development which is likely to be 
significantly affected by odours will not be permitted within the Odour Monitoring Zone 
identified on the policies map. A landscape buffer to the western boundary of the site which 
will provide screening between the development and the Hayden sewage treatment works;” 

7.148 Policy ENV1 of the TBP also states that all development adjacent to sewage treatment 
works must demonstrate by way of suitable mitigation how they will not cause unreasonable 
restrictions on existing upon sewage treatment operations or their ability to achieve 
sustainable development in the future over the time horizon of the plan. 

7.149 As already noted, all the applications within the West Cheltenham allocation are affected 
by the current odour levels from the Hayden Sewage Treatment Works (HSTW). Indeed, 
the present odour levels preclude residential development within parts of the allocation and 
have a consequential impact on the delivery of the allocation. It is therefore necessary to 
undertake mitigation works at HSTW in order to reduce odour levels. 

7.150 The applicant, for this outline application, commissioned a specialist odour consultant to 
undertake detailed modelling of the baseline conditions at HSTW based upon a scope of 
work and methodology which was verified by independent consultants appointed by the 
local planning authorities. Using this baseline position a number of scenarios were modelled 
to investigate a range of mitigation measures and their effectiveness in reducing the extent 
of the odour. This led to a proposed package of mitigation measures which enable the 
delivery of the masterplan contained within the application.  Some of these measures form 
part of a wider statutory scheme which applies across the Water Industry and which requires 
upgrade works to be completed by the end of March 2030; others, referred to as the 
‘developer works’, are additional measures which are to be funded by the applicant as part 
of the proposed development. All of these measures benefit not only the current application 
but also the other applications within the West Cheltenham allocation. 

Page 42



7.151 Viability is addressed further in the report. It is important to note the abnormal of odour was 
factored into the agreed benchmark land value in the viability assessment, odour was a 
known constraint at the point of allocation within the JCS, as such it would need to come off 
the land value.  

7.152  Three important conditions apply to the management of these works.  

7.153 First, prior to first occupation, the LPAs must be provided with evidence that the developer-
funded works have been let and scheduled with a clear timeline, which demonstrates how 
the mitigation works will be completed prior to the occupation of the 200th dwelling. 

7.154 The second condition stipulates that no more than 200 dwellings may be occupied before 
the completion of the odour mitigation works (including the developer-funded works). The 
limit of 200 dwellings is set because a significant portion of the site can be occupied without 
the need for odour mitigation. This approach also facilitates reaching the primary school 
trigger earlier in the development's phasing, allowing the County Council to access the land 
and build the primary school. 

7.155 Finally, once the odour mitigation works have been implemented, there is a condition 
requiring the applicant to validate that these works are successful in mitigating odour for 
future residents. 

7.156 While there is a risk that the full package of mitigation works may never occur, it is 
understood that a portion of these works are regulatory via OFWAT related to the Industrial 
Emissions Directive and therefore legally required. This provides some assurance that they 
will be carried out. Coupled Severn Trent Water are the landowner of this application and 
conditions specifically prevents occupation until the applicant has committed to a timeline 
and that no more than 200 dwellings can be occupied prior to completion of the odour 
mitigation works, officers are satisfied that it is highly likely the mitigation works will be 
completed within the time limits set by the permission. 

Air Quality 

7.157 The ES assesses air quality and demonstrates that in line with the Golden Valley SPD and 
JCS Policy SD14, the residual effects on human health arising from operation phase 
emissions are negligible. Whilst the site is not located within an air quality management 
zone (AQMA), in accordance with the Golden Valley SPD, the proposed development is 
situated in an area primarily influenced by road traffic emissions. The nearest AQMA is 
approximately 2.8km away, due to nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exceedances, with another 
AQMA over 7km from the site. 

7.158 During construction, dust and particulate matter may affect nearby properties. A qualitative 
assessment indicated high impact potential from dust before mitigation, but good site 
practices and a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will reduce these 
impacts to temporary and negligible levels. Exhaust emissions from construction traffic are 
also expected to be low compared to existing traffic and will be managed, resulting in 
temporary and negligible effects on air quality. 

7.159 The development promotes sustainable travel through enhanced walking and cycling links, 
a Travel Plan for occupants, and the provision of electric vehicle charging facilities. 

Page 43



7.160 Once operational, the development will increase vehicle movements, but a quantitative 
assessment suggests negligible impacts on pollutant concentrations at nearby sensitive 
receptors. Cumulative effects with other developments will also be negligible. Pollutant 
levels within the site will remain below air quality standards. 

Noise 

7.161 The submitted construction noise assessment evaluates a reasonable worst-case scenario 
in which some construction equipment is positioned along the site boundaries, while the 
rest is located in a more central area. This assessment indicates that significant noise 
effects are likely at the nearest existing houses but that average construction activities are 
unlikely to produce significant noise levels. Additionally, no significant construction vibration 
effects are anticipated.  

7.162 Best practice measures to minimise construction noise and vibration will be detailed in a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for the site. It is important to note 
that construction effects are temporary, and the most severe impacts are expected to occur 
for short periods. The CEMP will ensure sensible working hours to minimise noise. 

7.163 Regarding the operational phase, the assessment examined changes in noise levels on 
surrounding roads due to the increased vehicle traffic associated with the proposal, as well 
as noise control from external building services. The changes in road traffic noise resulting 
from the additional vehicles are expected to be negligible, meaning they are not significant. 
Conditions have been applied to the outline for the sports pitches and school to manage 
hours of use and associated noise with these uses. 

7.164 The ES assessment concluded that, with the implementation of appropriate glazing, 
ventilation strategies, and building orientation, the target internal and external noise criteria 
for residential and educational uses noise standards can be achieved for the site. As already 
noted, in the consultees section, the Environmental Health Officers raise no objection and 
have recommended a suite of conditions to safeguard residential amenity of existing and 
future residents. 

Sustainability   

7.165 NPPF para 163 states that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change should be 
considered in preparing and assessing planning applications, taking into account the full 
range of potential climate change impacts. 

7.166 In addition, NPPF para 166 states that in determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should expect new development to: a) comply with any development plan 
policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply unless it can be 
demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its 
design, that this is not feasible or viable; and  

7.167 Policy SD3 of the JCS requires all new development to be designed to contribute to the 
aims of sustainability by increasing energy efficiency and minimising waste and air pollution. 
Development proposals are also required to be adaptable to climate change in respect of 
the design, layout, siting, orientation and function of buildings. Similarly, Policy INF5 of the 
JCS sets out that proposals for the generation of energy from renewable resources or low 
carbon energy development will be supported. 

Page 44



7.168 The Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (adopted June 2022), sets out a strategy for 
decarbonising buildings over the next decade. For residential development there is an 
opportunity to improve the environmental performance of buildings through the inclusion of 
technologies and features such as photovoltaics, heat recovery, permeable (or minimal) 
hard surfaces, fabric first design approach, insulation renewable and appropriately sourced 
materials and alternative heating systems (heat pump). 

7.169 Objective A of the Golden Valley SPD ‘Embracing the highest standards of environmental 
sustainability’ provides further guidance for tackling climate change in a West Cheltenham 
context. The Golden Valley SPD states new development at the Golden Valley 
Development will be net carbon zero (or better) and an exemplar in water and energy 
conservation and waste management, employing the highest standards of environmental 
sustainability.  

7.170 In accordance with the Cheltenham Climate Change SPD, the Golden Valley SPD, and JCS 
Policies SD3 and INF5, the proposal seeks to support the move to a low carbon future by 
reducing energy demands (through efficient building design) and implementing renewable 
technologies throughout the site (such as solar PV and heat pumps) where feasible. 

7.171 A sustainability and energy strategy was initially submitted in October 2022. Throughout 
the application process, officers collaborated with the applicant to review and enhance the 
environmental standards. The applicant completed the climate change SPD checklist, 
which can be reviewed to show a detailed breakdown of the metrics from the Climate 
Change SPD. 
 

7.172 Key features committed to include; 

- Goal of achieving Net Zero Carbon by 2030 for operational carbon emissions. 

- Proposed flexible, low carbon, and future-proof energy strategy aligned with the Be Lean, 
Be Clean, and Be Green hierarchy: 

 - Be Lean: Form and fabric-first approach to minimize space heating demand. 

 - Be Clean: Utilize the most efficient energy supply methods. 

 - Be Green: Consider low or zero carbon technologies for on-site generation, including an 
all-electric strategy using air source heat pumps and solar photovoltaics. 

- Expected reduction of up to ~97% in site-wide carbon emissions with an all-electric 
strategy compared to a SAP10.1 carbon factor baseline. 

- Targeted potable water usage of 100L/day/person. 

- Incorporation of SuDs measures, such as dry, grassed basins, to minimize surface water 
runoff and attenuate extreme weather events. 

- Adoption of circular economy principles to reduce resource demand, waste, and 
development footprint. 

- Aim to meet and exceed a biodiversity net gain of 10%. 

Page 45



- Pursuit of Building with Nature accreditation. 

7.173 As the application is at outline stage a condition will ensure all reserved matters adhere to 
the standards set out in the Cheltenham Borough Council’s climate change SPD checklist 
received on 3rd December 2024 and the sustainability and energy strategy received 3rd 
December 2024 are adhered to. Additionally, a condition stating the site won’t be connected 
to the gas grid has been added. 

7.174 Overall, officers are now confident that the subsequent reserved matters, following the 
outline approval, will incorporate appropriate climate change mitigation measures. Whilst 
not meeting all the considerable targets of the Golden Valley SPD and Climate Change 
SPD, officers have utilised the SPDs effectively to seek considerable enhancements to the 
sustainability and low carbon approach to developing Golden Valley.  

 Drainage and Flood Risk 

7.175 The application has been assessed in accordance with JCS Policies INF2 and A7, as well 
as Section 14 of the NPPF, specifically paragraphs 180 and 181. These outline that local 
planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere when 
determining planning applications. Additionally, applications should be supported by a site-
specific flood risk assessment where appropriate and built forms should only be placed in 
the lowest risk areas. These requirements are also reflected in Policy ENV2 of the TBP. 

7.176 In line with the Golden Valley SPD, the proposed development aims to achieve water 
conservation and includes sustainable drainage measures, attenuation areas, and 
technologies.  

7.177 The Golden Valley SPD aims to minimise flooding risks through sustainable drainage 
measures, including the provision of street trees, landscape verges (including swales), and 
the use of permeable surfaces. While the detailed design of the drainage systems will be 
finalised at the Reserved Matters stage, sustainable drainage measures, including SuDS, 
attenuation, blue-green infrastructure, and planting, are proposed throughout the site in the 
illustrative plans and design and access statement.  

7.178 Objective A2 of the Golden Valley SPD requires new developments to be resilient against 
flooding, while Objective C5 mandates the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS). 
Most of the site is located within Flood Risk Zone 1, with the land around Hatherley Brook 
to the south falling into Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. Following revised Environment Agency 
(EA) mapping, the previously classified dry brook (Fiddlers Brook) along the western edge 
has changed to Flood Zone 3. Consequently, the applicant submitted a statement to 
address this. 

7.179 A review of the EA’s surface water flood mapping reveals that the proposal is vulnerable to 
flooding from surface water runoff. Specifically, the western part of the proposal has been 
identified as at risk of surface water flooding. Significant surface water flow paths have been 
observed directing towards the ordinary watercourse on the western boundary of the site. 

7.180 The River Chelt is located north of the site. During the ground investigation, groundwater 
was primarily found as seepages in the weathered bedrock. Within and near the site, there 
are several ordinary watercourses, including natural streams and historic agricultural field 

Page 46



drains. Additionally, various drainage assets traverse the site, which all contribute to the 
drainage catchment for the Hayden Wastewater Treatment Works (HwTW). 

7.181 Despite the identified risks, based on the available information, the overall flood risk 
associated with surface water runoff from land is deemed low, provided that a suitable 
drainage strategy is implemented for the proposal.  

7.182 The applicant submitted their original flood risk assessment in 2022, following feedback 
from the LLFA , the Cheltenham’s drainage officer, and the EA. In February 2025, they 
submitted a revised assessment to respond to comments from the LLFA and drainage 
officer. This concerned clarification of the proposed Qbar runoff from the site during all 
events up to and including the 100 40% event. The revised assessment corrected this and 
updated the figure to 83.31l/s. A final flood risk assessment was submitted in May 2025, 
which was also reviewed by the Environment Agency, the LLFA, and the drainage officer. 
All three parties raised no objections and recommended conditions to address sustainable 
urban drainage, its management, and future flood risks associated with subsequent 
reserved matters. All of these conditions have been incorporated into the conditions at the 
end of this report. 

7.183 Overall, it is concluded that the proposal complies with policy and guidance with respect to 
flood risk, surface water drainage, and the water environment. It is concluded that the flood 
risk and drainage impacts of the proposed development would be acceptable, and moreover 
the application has demonstrated compliance with policies within the NPPF, INF2 and A7 
of the JCS, and policy ENV2 of the TBP. 

Transport 

7.184 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of development proposals, using a vision-led approach to identify transport 
solutions that deliver well-designed, sustainable and popular places. This should involve, 
inter alia, understanding and addressing the potential impacts of development on transport 
networks, and identifying and pursuing opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public 
transport use. 

7.185 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that in assessing development proposals it should be 
ensured that, inter alia, sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the 
vision for the site, the type of development and its location; and that, any significant impacts 
from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on 
highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree through a vision-
led approach. 

7.186 Paragraph 116 of the NPPF confirms that development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, 
taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 

7.187 Policy INF1 of the JCS requires that developers should provide safe and accessible 
connections to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. 
Criterion 2 of Policy INF1 states that where severe impacts that are attributable to the 
development are considered likely, including as a consequence of cumulative impacts, they 

Page 47



must be mitigated to the satisfaction of the LPA in consultation with the Highway Authorities 
and in line with the Local Transport Plan. 

7.188 Policy A7 of the JCS also states the scheme will have; Vehicle accesses from Fiddlers 
Green Lane and B4634 Old Gloucester Road and facilitate links to the M5 J10 for strategic 
movements to and from the site; Measures necessary to mitigate the traffic impact of the 
site, including the use of travel plans to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes; 
High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site. Safe, 
easy and convenient pedestrian and cycle links within the site, to key centres and with 
neighbouring existing development. 

7.189 Policy TRAC1 of the TBP states that pedestrian connectivity should be a fundamental 
consideration in a design-led process for new major development and pedestrian networks 
will be protected across the Borough and opportunities sought to extend and enhance them. 
Policy TRAC2 of the TBP states that cycle infrastructure should be a fundamental 
consideration in a design-led process for new major development and the protection and 
enhancement of the cycle network will be sought.  Under TRAC1 and TRAC2 proposals will 
be expected to demonstrate this proportionate to the scale of development. Policy TRAC3 
also states that new development should, where appropriate, contribute towards improving 
bus infrastructure. Policy TRAC3 also states that on strategic-scale developments, including 
JCS Strategic Allocations, the potential for bus services to move through the site should be 
explored and, where possible and operationally viable, developments will be required to 
enable a sustainable service to be established or routed. 

7.190  Objective A5. Of the Golden Valley SPD states the Golden Valley Development will be an 
integrated and fully connected extension of west Cheltenham. And Objective D: An 
integrated and connected extension of West Cheltenham requires; 

o The design and delivery of new development will prioritise and support active and 
sustainable travel patterns and behaviour – public transport. 

o Deliver new direct pedestrian and cycle connections to existing communities and 
facilities. 

o Creation of an open network of streets and routes which can be managed to meet 
local needs. 

o Delivery of a new ‘main street’ between Telstar Way and Old Gloucester Road, 
designed as a street for people, not a road for vehicles. 

o Principal junctions should be designed to minimise land take and create safe and 
direct crossing points for pedestrians and cycles. 

o Provision of safe routes to schools, which will be provided within or beyond the West 
Cheltenham site. 

o A flexible and creative approach to the application of parking standards and 
emerging and new vehicle technologies and initiatives. 

Means of access to Application Site 

Page 48



7.191  Whilst the application is submitted in outline, the application seeks detailed approval for the 
two accesses from Old Gloucester Road, these being; 

 Drawing no. 21185-012-P02 – Old Gloucester Road – 3 way Signalised primary 
junction and; 

 Drawing no. 21185-013-P05 – Old Gloucester Road - Secondary junction near Barn 
Close.  

7.192 21185-012-P02 – Old Gloucester Road – 3 way Signalised primary junction constructed for 
Phase 3. This layout may be superseded by proposals for a 4-way signalised junction as 
part of the M5 Junction 10 ancillary works that include the Western Link Road. The Local 
Highways Authority (LHA) have examined this arrangement in their full response. 

7.193 21185-013-P05 – Old Gloucester Road - Secondary junction near Barn Close Phase 1 /2. 
Should be viewed in conjunction with Tewksbury Borough Council application 
23/01201/FUL for the temporary works and permanent access arrangements shown on plan 
70083503-WSP-WC- SENW-DR-C-0100/P04. The applicant submitted this enabling works 
application to allow them to start with the access immediately.  

7.194 Officers have consulted with Gloucestershire County Council as the LHA, who confirmed 
they had no objections to the scheme, subject to conditions, in March 2025. In August 
2025, the LHA reviewed additional information provided by the applicants. The LHA 
confirmed again that they were satisfied with the access arrangements. 
 
Other accesses 

7.195  The movement parameter plan shows additional accesses. The first is a primary road 
corridor that goes into the parcel to the east of the site. This can be used by all modes of 
transport, including cars and buses. Another access comes from Hesters Way and 
punctures into the site from Henley Rd. However, this access is for public transport only; 
buses can use this, but cars cannot. Lastly, on the southern tip of the application site, there 
is an access route for buses only, allowing entry into the northern tip of the HBD southern 
parcel (23/01875/OUT). The HBD southern parcel (23/01875/OUT) is required to build a 
bus gate to ensure this access is for buses only. This supports their modelling, where cars 
could not go through the centre of the site.  

7.196 All of these accesses have been reviewed by the LHA, who have deemed them safe and 
suitable. The exact detailed arrangement will be determined through the widths and material 
details shown in the design code and fixed in future Reserved Matters applications. 
Additionally, it is conditioned that the precise points of these accesses are fixed by the 
collaboration plans. This is to ensure that the access and parcels of this site align with and 
link into one another effectively. Both developers, this applicant and the adjacent HBD 
applicants, agree on the locations of these accesses and the broad principles of their widths 
and design. 

Local Highway Network 

7.197 During the determination of the application there have been extensive discussions between 
the applicants and the LHA and Active Travel England on a package of measures to mitigate 
the impact of the development on the Local Highway Network and encourage active travel. 

Page 49



7.198 These works have been agreed with the LHA, and the principal works are as follows:  

7.199 North along Old Gloucester Road to the Gallagher retail park junction.: The initial 
request was for a minimum 5m segregated cycle lane construction on this route, however 
due to existing site constraints the provision of a 3m shared use path with verge buffer is 
shown. Active travel England indicates that wider facilities should be achieved where 
possible and although a 5m width could be achievable west of Blaisdon Way, the eastern 
stretch towards Hayden Lane / A4019 / Galllagher Retail Park would be restricted at 
numerous points therefore the lesser 3m proposal is accepted to ensure consistency of 
environment along the whole of the route for all users. These works are shown on plans; 
205369-PD29.3 I  – Old Gloucester Road – Active Travel Link (Pilgrove Way to Basildon 
Road) and 205369-PD29.4.E – Old Gloucester Road – Active Travel Link (Blasidon Way to 
Hayden Road) received 8th August 2025. These works will be provided by the developer 
under s278 works. In the event that the HBD/CBC north 23/01874/OUT is delayed 21185 
SK 001 P3 received October 2022 should be implemented as in interim access, this is 
reflected in the condition wording.  

7.200 Hope Orchard: Currently a lane serving residential properties adjacent to the school, Hope 
Orchard will be resurfaced to accommodate pedestrians and cyclists. These works are 
shown on 205369/PD31.B - Hope Orchard received 8th August 2025. These works will be 
provided by the developer of 23/01874/OUT under s278 works. 

7.201 Marsland Road corridor: A 3 metre wide shared pedestrian footway/cyclepath that links 
the site to Coronation Square through Elms Farm Park and along Fiddlers Green Lane. The 
route incudes the conversion of an existing mini-roundabout to a priority-controlled junction; 
the introduction of two toucan crossings; and rationalisation of existing on-street parking. 
View port 1 within the drawing will be delivered by the developer. View port 2 will be 
delivered by GCC as LHA via S106 contributions from all West Cheltenham developers. 
The scheme is shown on drawing no. 21185-009-P09. The applicants will contribute 
£135,461.00 via S106. 

7.202 Springbank Area: Improved cycleways and pathways onto Henley Road. To be provided 
by the developer under S278 works. Shown on drawing no. 21185-009-P10- Springbank 
Area received 31st July 2025. This plan also shows the new bus link into the site from the 
east as discussed above. 

7.203 The LHA has been consulted on the application and have considered all of these mitigation 
measures and consider that they are acceptable and would assist in mitigating the highways 
impact of the development and encourage active travel. 

Public Transport 

7.204 The applicant's transport assessment and subsequent addendums outline the public 
transport strategy, specifically buses. The applicant proposes the application will be served 
by an extension of Route H. There has been disagreement between the applicant and the 
LHA on what route or service would best serve this development. However, it is not for the 
developer to provide the bus services. They are giving the LHA a considerable sum to help 
fund the initial services for this development. In much later phases of the development, the 
buses should be running effectively due to increased uptake once the development is 
occupied. At this time, there is not an agreement between the LHA and the developer on 
the exact bus route for this service. The phasing condition requires “accesses for 

Page 50



pedestrians, cyclists, buses, temporary bus turning facilities and other vehicles” to be shown 
prior to the submission of the first Reserved Matters. As such, this detail will be provided in 
the future. Furthermore, it is within the LHA gift to use the funds to provide an initial bus 
service within the site. The phasing plan condition also requires the developer to ensure 
there are turning facilities for this bus service. As such, it would be unreasonable to hold up 
decision making until a bus solution was found at this stage.  

7.205 The LHA requested £ £4,945,000.00 towards future bus services. However, the applicant 
directly engaged with the bus service providers (Stagecoach) early in the application as the 
LHA did not engage until late in the application on bus sums. The applicant was quoted, by 
the bus service providers, £1,380,000.00 for their portion of the bus contribution. This 
amount is considered substantial to provide an initial bus service in the early stages of the 
development. As such £1,380,000.00 is being sought. Later in this report the viability 
balance is discussed regarding S106 asks. 

7.206 The contribution to the bus services ensures that credible travel choices are provided for 
future occupiers by sustainable modes in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF and 
policies INF1, SA1 and A7 of the JCS and policy TRAC3 of the TBP. 

 Travel Plans 

7.207 In accordance with the requirements of paragraph 118 of the NPPF and Policy A7 of the 
JCS, a Framework Travel Plan (FTP) has been submitted in support of the application, 
found in Transport Assessment addendum Appendix 15 to promote sustainable modes of 
travel. The key outcomes from the travel plan are found in Section 5 as follows: 

• A sustainable neighbourhood promoting non-car based travel from the outset 

• The health and wellbeing benefits of non-car based travel 

• Provision of cycle parking / storage and EV charging 

• Minimise single occupant vehicle trips made by residents and the promotion of car sharing 

• Establishment of walking and cycling groups 

• Provision of welcome packs including maps of how to reach key destinations sustainably 

• Personal Travel Planning if requested 

• Develop and on-going management and co-ordination process that will monitor and review 
achievement of agreed mode shift targets. 

7.208 The LHA March 2025 response advised the section 106 agreement should include a 
developer contribution for the monitoring fees of the seven Travel Plan obligations for both 
residential and commercial uses, totalling £40,000, and a bonded deposit of £311,650 to 
implement residential and commercial Travel Plan measures if those measures are not 
implemented or mode share targets are not met. However, given this will largely be a 
residential based travel plan, which is not complicated, £10,000.00 is considered 
proportionate for the travel monitoring.  

Page 51



7.209 The LHA have recommended that planning conditions are imposed on the application to 
secure these detailed Travel Plans prior to the occupation of the residential, commercial 
and school elements of the development, and have requested the following planning 
obligations: 

 Commercial Travel Plan Deposit Contribution - £21,667, however this is not agreed as the 
commercial element is very small for this scheme.  

 Travel Plan Monitoring Fees - £10,0000, agreed. 

 Residential Travel Plan Deposit Contribution – £ £311,650.00, agreed. 

7.210 It is considered that these two contributions meet the s106 tests insofar as they are directly 
related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind.  They are 
also necessary and the most appropriate mechanism to extend and modify existing public 
transport networks and ensure that credible travel choices are provided for future occupiers 
by sustainable modes in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF and policies INF1, 
SA1 and A4 of the JCS. 

Traffic Regulation Orders 

7.211 In October 2025 GCC highlighted some of the TRO money will need to be used to consult 
on and undertake the speed reduction measures along Old Gloucester Road. A condition 
has been added at the end of the condition list as this was late into the application. The 
condition requires the applicant to provide the design details for this speed reduction and 
GCC would then consult on these plans and implement the speed reduction. 

7.212 To the south of the site is considerable employment, as such people may park in this 
scheme and walk down into the southern parcel for HBD, and inappropriate parking could 
occur around the primary school on site. The LHA has requested £255,420 towards TROs. 
However, the LPA has allocated £35,000 towards TROs. It is considered that this 
contribution meets the S106 tests insofar as they are directly related to the development, 
and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind.  £255,420 is considered disproportinate 
given the residential nature of the scheme where there is little space for overspill parking 
the surrounding streets. They are also necessary and the most appropriate mechanism to 
ensure the surrounding roads are not impacted and people are encouraged to use 
sustainable modes in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF and policies INF1 and 
SA1 of the JCS. 

Public Comments 

7.213  Comments have been received regarding parking issues, congestion and the proposed link 
road's placement within the development, suggesting it should be positioned to minimise 
impact on existing residential neighbourhoods and allow for a more sympathetic 
development approach. 

7.214  As already discussed, TROs will be funded by the developer and implemented by the 
LHA to manage dispersion of parking from the site. The effects of the development on the 
local highway network are discussed in detail throughout the highway section. Regarding 
construction traffic, this will be managed by a construction management plan that has 
been conditioned. 

Page 52



 
7.215  The placement of the link road to Junction 10 has been prescribed to the applicant by the 

development control order for the Junction 10 scheme, discussed above. 

Strategic Highway Network 

7.216 National Highways and the LHA have stated that the proposal, which results in a net 
increase in residential units and commercial floorspace, requires a financial contribution for 
improvements to Junction 10 of the M5 motorway.  

7.217  The Section 106 tests state the following requirements: 

A. The obligation must be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

B. It must be directly related to the development.  

C. It must be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

7.218 As already noted, the test for refusing on highway grounds is set out within paragraph 116 
of the NPPF, “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or if the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all 
reasonable future scenarios.”  

7.219 Additionally, INF1 of the JCS states, “Planning permission will be granted only where the 
impact of development is not considered to be severe. Where severe impacts attributable 
to the development are likely, including those resulting from cumulative impacts, they must 
be mitigated to the satisfaction of the LPA in consultation with the Highway Authorities and 
in line with the Local Transport Plan.” This requirement to have regard to cumulative impact 
is reiterated in INF6 and INF7 of the JCS.  

7.220 M5 J10 is critical to transport operations on the M5 motorway and the locality and is a project 
that Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Councils support and have been actively 
working collaboratively with Gloucestershire County Council from the bid writing stage to 
the present day. The current junction arrangement provides for traffic movements to/from 
the north only, and the southbound off-slip is susceptible to queuing which blocks back onto 
the mainline during the AM peak period to the detriment of highway safety. 

7.221 M5 J10 has been identified for improvement to an ‘all movements’ layout with a grade 
separated roundabout constructed over the mainline carriageway. The proposal also 
includes a new West Cheltenham Link Road south of the A4019 to join with the B4634 to 
the south and A4019 ancillary works. The scheme was promoted by Gloucestershire County 
Council and completed the Development Consent Order (DCO) examination in 2024. The 
Secretary of State Decision consented the J10 scheme in June 2025. 

7.222 As part of the DCO, Gloucestershire County Council presented a funding methodology 
which apportioned the funding shortfall of the scheme costs between allocated development 
sites that may come forward at ‘West’ and ‘Northwest’ Cheltenham and in adjacent areas. 
Whilst this is Gloucestershire County Councils methodology other funding streams are 
available for the scheme. The LPA provided comments on the methodology.  The LPA 
continues to work collaboratively with the County Council on the matter of the funding 
methodology, but at the time of writing this methodology is not agreed, nor has the transport 

Page 53



modelling upon which it has been based (GC3M model) been shared with the LPA or the 
applicant. The NPPF is clear that expectations of contributions should be set out in 
development plans, and the PPG explicitly discourages the use of SPD to provide formulae 
inter alia because this will not have been the subject of consultation and examination. As 
such, though taken into account very limited weighted is assigned to the current funding 
methodology draft paper and the councils continue to work proactively with the LHA to reach 
an appropriate resolution.  

7.223 The principal components of the M5 J10 improvement scheme is as follows: 

o Construction of a new Junction 10 on the M5, including four new slip roads, and 
demolition of the existing A4019 bridge and construction of a new roundabout over 
the M5.  

o Realignment and widening of the A4019 with associated footway, shared use paths, 
private means of access. This includes a bus lane on the A4019 eastbound 
carriageway from the West Cheltenham Fire Station to the Gallagher Junction.  

o Construction of a new West Cheltenham Link Road south of the A4019 to join with 
the B4634 to the south. 

7.224 The proposed M5 Junction 10 scheme will not only mitigate traffic impacts of development 
on the Strategic Road Network. In addition to this, the A4019 ancillary works enable a 
significant amount of strategic traffic currently directed to M5 Junction 11, via the A40, 
Princess Elizabeth Way, Old Gloucester Road, Gloucester Road and from north 
Cheltenham to utilise the new all movements Junction 10 layout. This redistribution 
significantly reduces traffic on these local roads and benefits the wider network. 

7.225 National Highways and the LHA state that the implementation of the Junction 10 upgrade 
will release the capacity to support the JCS growth.  

7.226 The LHA is seeking £5,088,523.00. The LPA have no reason to dispute this request given 
the location of the site very close to the junction and modelling presented by LHA. It is 
considered that this planning obligation contribution is directly related to the highways 
impacts of the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. Therefore the £5,088,523.00 planning obligation contribution to the M5 J10 
scheme accords with all of the planning obligation tests. 
 

7.227 It should be noted that significant Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has also been 
allocated to help facilitate M5 J10, this includes up to £10m awarded from unallocated 
funds on the 4th March 2025 and a further up to £20m drawn from currentlu unallocated 
CIL funds and future funds at a meeting of the CIL Joint Committee on 25th September 
2025. 
 
Highways Impact and Grampian Apportionment  

7.228 The M5 Junction 10 upgrade scheme is well developed, with an examination undertaken 
during summer 2024 and the Secretary of States (SoS) decision received on 5th June 2025. 
The SoS in her decision letter has echoed the examiners’ view and concludes that “the 
Proposed Development aligns with paragraph 2.23 of the NPSNN which states that 
Government’s wider policy is to bring forward improvements to the existing Strategic Road 

Page 54



Network through the delivery of enhancements of the type proposed by the Applicant. The 
Secretary of State agrees with the ExA that the Proposed Development will create additional 
capacity which will support the aspirations of local policy allowing for future much needed 
housing and employment development [ER 3.2.90].” 

7.229 It is agreed that the implementation of the Junction 10 upgrade will release the capacity to 
support the JCS growth as a whole as set out in the supporting JCS Transport Strategy. In 
advance of the build out of M5 J10 there has been extensive transport modelling undertaken 
by the developers of the strategic allocations, National Highways and Gloucestershire 
County Council to understand the capacity that could be accommodated on the network in 
advance of the delivery of the Junction upgrade.  

7.230 Assessment by National Highways is that a total of 5,474 new homes could be 
accommodated before there was severe impact on the strategic road network (SRN). 
However, the modelling that supports this indicates that whilst this level could be 
appropriate for the strategic road network, impacts are passed onto the local highway 
network (LHN). To understand this impact further Gloucestershire County Council has 
undertaken further transport modelling which has led to a capacity figure of 1,711 new 
homes that could be accommodated on the local road network.  

7.231 Therefore, the assessments conclude that a Grampian condition is required should all 
currently live planning applications be recommended for approval, limiting development 
levels within the context of the highway capacity identified.  

7.232 It is for the LPAs to consider the Grampian as decision takers. The LPAs view is that an 
approach is needed to steer the consideration of apportionment in order to provide 
transparency in consideration of all the live planning applications and in the context of the 
JCS and wider material considerations. This approach has been reached collaboratively 
between Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough Councils.  The table below is the list of 
applications the LPAs are applying the Grampian to. 

Site App ref 

NW Cheltenham (Home Farm) 23/00354/OUT 

NW Cheltenham 4115 (Elms Park)  16/02000/OUT 

West Cheltenham 443 (HBD southern parcel) 23/01875/OUT 

West Cheltenham 576 (HBD Northern parcel) 23/01874/OUT 

West Cheltenham 1,100 (St Modwens)  (cross 
boundary application) (this application) 

22/01817/OUT (Cheltenham BC reference) 
22/01107/OUT (Tewkesbury BC reference) 

West Cheltenham 365 (Nema) 24/01268/OUT 

 

7.233 The LPAs assume that wider development within the authorities will be dealt with separately 
in recognition of the strategic importance of the JCS allocations and the priority of 
Government for delivery of new homes and jobs. Gloucestershire County Council as LHA 
will need to consider the implications of this, particularly in relation to their funding 
methodology seeking to address the shortfall in funding for the M5 Junction 10 scheme. 

7.234 Having undertaken extensive review, the LPAs will split the Grampian based on the below 
table. The key considerations have included: 

Page 55



o Maximising the delivery of new homes through multiple residential sale outlets 
across the strategic allocations to support shorter term delivery and future supply to 
support Cheltenham’s 5-year housing land supply position. 

o Enable choice to the market through the different housing types, sizes and tenures 
that would be brought to the market. 

o Link to triggers that enable key community infrastructure to be developed in line with 
new homes. 

o Recognising the local, regional and UK importance of the delivery of the Innovation 
Centre to support the cyber and digital tech ecosystem in the context of economic 
growth and deliver against the National Cyber Strategy (2022). 

7.235 In the context of West Cheltenham, this strategy allows developments to commence while 
ensuring a proportionate number of dwellings are available prior to Junction 10, supporting 
the opportunity to maximise outputs to support the 5- year housing land supply alongside 
maximising the range of housing types, sizes and tenures. It provides for a significant 
amount of commercial floor space to be created in the West Cheltenham allocation. 

     
GRAMPIAN 1 LHN  GRAMP 2 SRN  

SITE APP REF RESI CLASS 
E 

% RESI RESI LHA CLASS E 
LHA 

RESI NH CLASS E NH 

NW Elms Park 16/02000/OUT 3,849 49,150 60.8 1040 7,261 3327.00 43,400 

WC St Modwens 22/01817/OUT(CBC) 
22/01107/OUT (Tewks) 

(this application) 

1,100 1300 17.4 297 500 951 1300 

WC HBD NORTH 23/01874/OUT 443 500 7 120* 500 382 500 

WC HBD SOUTH 23/01875/OUT  576 92,985 9.1 156* 25,009 497 43,400 

WC NEMA 24/01268/OUT 365 43,785 5.8 99 25,009 317 43,400 

Total 
 

6,333 187,720 100 1,711 58,279 5,474 132,000 

 

7.236 It is important to note there are two conditions, to control severe impacts on the LHN and 
the SRN and there are different occupation triggers for those conditions, based on the 
respective consultation responses from LHA and National Highways and the statutory 
consultees considerations of severe impact and the tests in the NPPF. 

7.237 The Grampian condition to control severe impact on the LHN is recommended by the LHA 
taking account of the LPA’s apportionment strategy. This condition will cease to be 
operative once the construction contract for the works have been awarded. 

7.238 The Grampian condition to control severe impact on the SRN is recommended by National 
Highways taking account of the LPA’s apportionment strategy. 

7.239 These Grampian conditions are directly supported by INF6 and INF7 of the JCS. The need 
for the conditions are clearly evidenced, given the conclusions by the LHA and National 
Highways that there will be severe impacts on the operation of the LHN and SRN if more 

Page 56



than the specified number of dwellings and Class E floorspace is occupied before the 
delivery of the M5 J10 improvement scheme (and the interim scheme). 

7.240 The conditions are fairly and reasonably related to the developments, specifically dealing 
with an identified issue arising directly from the proposals and serves the specific planning 
purpose of preventing unacceptable severe impacts. Such impacts relate to the character 
of use of the land and are clearly a planning purpose. The conditions are reasonable, 
precise and enforceable, meeting the tests of conditions. 

Highways Conclusions  

7.241 In conclusion, National Highways and the LHA have been consulted on this application and 
raise no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning conditions and 
securing the planning obligations specified above. 

7.242 The LHA no objection was based on the agreement of the requested S106 sums and the 
LHA accepted technical aspects of the scheme, such as the access and active travel works. 
The current objection stems from the fact that the LPA has not agreed the requested S106 
sums. The justification for this issue (namely bus contribution) has been discussed in the 
report, but the committee must note and have regard to the LHA objection in considering 
this report and in their decision making.  

7.243 It is considered, the planning obligations and conditional framework will ensure that there is 
no unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network, following mitigation, would not be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios. 

7.244 The application meets the broad aims of the Golden Valley SPD in terms of transport and 
has responded to the Golden Valley SPD visions in its own way. The Golden Valley SPD 
was not a blueprint for development and the response taken by the applicants is considered 
acceptable in terms of internal road design, movement and accesses.  

7.245 In addition, the application has demonstrated that sustainable transport modes are 
prioritised taking account of the vision for the site, the type of development and its location.  
It is also demonstrated that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
users. Furthermore, opportunities have been taken, where appropriate, to extend and 
modify existing walking, cycling and public transport networks and links, to ensure that 
credible transport choices are provided by sustainable modes. 

7.246 As such it is concluded that the impacts of the proposed development on the transport 
network would be acceptable, and moreover the application has demonstrated compliance 
with the NPPF, Golden Valley SPD and policies INF1, INF6, INF7 and A7 of the JCS as 
well of policies TRAC1, TRAC2 and TRAC3 of the TBP.  

Viability  

7.247 NPPF para 59 states it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular 
circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The 
weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard 
to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence 
underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan was 

Page 57



brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-making 
stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning practice guidance, 
including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available. 

7.248 The LPA appointed an independent cost consultant and viability consultant to review the 
applicant's financial viability assessments prepared by the applicant.  This involved 
extensive check and challenge on the inputs and benchmarks used to build up the 
assessment.  

7.249 Policy INF7 of the JCS states where, having regard to the on- and / or off-site provision of 
infrastructure, there is concern relating to the viability of the development, an independent 
viability assessment, funded by the developer and in proportion with the scale, nature and 
/ or context of the proposal, will be required to accompany planning applications. 

7.250 Policy SD12: Affordable Housing of the JCS seeks 35% housing on the strategic allocation 
sites. It states if a development cannot deliver the full affordable housing requirement, a 
viability assessment, conforming to an agreed methodology, in accordance with Policy INF7 
will be required.  It also provides that developers should consider i) varying the housing mix 
and design of the scheme in order to reduce costs whilst having regard to the requirements 
of other policies in the plan, particularly SD4, and the objective of creating a balanced 
housing market; ii) securing public subsidy or other commuted sums to assist the delivery 
of affordable housing. 

7.251 Policy RES12 of the TBP states that where there is an issue relating to viability that impacts 
on the delivery of the full affordable housing requirement developers should consider:  

1) varying the housing mix, tenure mix and design in order to reduce costs whilst having 
regard to the requirement of other policies to create a balance housing market,  

2) securing public subsidy or commuted sums to assist housing delivery,  

3) if development cannot deliver full affordable housing a viability assessment to an agree 
methodology must be provided in accordance with Policy INF7 of the JCS. 

7.252 The applicants submitted a viability assessment in December 2024, which underwent an 
initial review by the council's independent viability assessor internally. 

7.253 There was a significant difference between the applicant’s cited infrastructure costs and 
those estimated by the LPA. The LPA instructed an independent quantity surveyor to 
examine all of the infrastructure costs associated with the scheme. These discussions took 
place over several months and subject to significant check and challenge. There still isn't 
agreement between the applicant and the council's quantity surveyor. As such, the LPA 
adopted their quantity surveyor's lower values for the infrastructure as this the LPAs postion. 
This was input into the viability assessment undertaken by the council's independent 
viability advisor. 

7.254 After concluding the infrastructure costs, these were input into the viability assessment and 
reviewed by the council's independent viability consultant. They scrutinised all elements of 
the applicant's financial viability assessment. Additionally, the case officers prioritised the 
S106 asks and affordable housing tenue mix. This was then sent to the applicant for review. 

Page 58



There is currently not agreement between the applicant and the local planning authority on 
the viability assessment. 

7.255 It is not uncommon for strategic sites to have lower levels of affordable housing due to 
significant infrastructure burdens, as is reflected in the JCS policies that sets a requirement 
of 35% as opposed to non-strategic sites of 40%.  However, there are additional costs 
incurred by these sites that were not anticipated when the JCS allocated the site. Initially, 
the Junction 10 improvement works were a fully funded scheme, but changes now require 
additional funding due to increased delivery costs influenced by external factors. 
Furthermore, a substantial level of contributions for highways, education and bus 
contributions is being requested alongside the Golden Valley development being 
designated as a Garden Community and the requirements set by the Golden Valley SPD. 

7.256 The suggested value for each of the Section 106 contributions has/will be discussed 
elsewhere in this report, particularly regarding highways, libraries, and sports facilities. It 
has also been noted that several obligation requests made by consultees were not included 
in the proposed heads of terms. Including all requests and full affordable housing would 
have rendered the application unviable resulting in no profit for the developer i.e they would 
not develop the site. Approximately 25 million pounds worth of requests were initially 
sought, but it's essential to consider these in the context of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) regulations to determine whether they are necessary. A degree of prioritisation 
has been required by the LPA to focus on the most essential requirements to create a 
sustainable community. Officers have had to undertake a careful balancing exercise 
between providing funding for infrastructure, such as buses, and the much-needed 
affordable housing in the borough. Whilst the site could have provided the full bus and library 
requests from GCC, this would have resulted in 0% affordable housing for the future and 
existing residents of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury, on balance this was not considered to 
meet the expectations of the NPPF in creating mixed and balanced communities. After the 
Section 106 prioritisation exercise and a slight adjustment in the affordable housing tenure 
mix, the council's independent viability assessor re-evaluated the appraisals and 
determined that the site could now provide an increased affordable percentage based on 
the new Section 106 profile, which has resulted in 22.91% (252 affordable units).  

7.257 The final financial viability assessment has been shared with the applicant who advised "on 
behalf of Brighton STM Developments Ltd, we are happy to proceed with the viability 
position outlined in your email on the 10th October. The position that gets to 22.91% and 
the AH mix is acceptable to us, noting the potential for some flexibility at RM stage on the 
overall mix.” The applicant needs to agree with the landowner and will formally write to the 
LPA before planning committee and this will be a late representation for committee.  

7.258 The balance between the achievable affordable housing level and that of the S106 value is 
therefore considered to be appropriate. Whilst disappointing that higher levels of affordable 
housing cannot be achieved, this is however considered to be the most appropriate balance 
and as such, ensures that the development is sustainable as a whole whilst at the same 
time making an appropriate contribution to the M5 J10 scheme. 

Review Mechanism  

7.259 In circumstances where issues relating to viability are identified by applicants and accepted 
by the LPAs, the LPAs would usually seek to agree that a Viability Review Mechanism is 
included in the S106 agreement.  As viability assessments offer a viability appraisal at a 

Page 59



snapshot in time, taking into account known viability factors at an early stage in a project, 
the purpose of a review mechanism is to allow for a reassessment of viability over the 
lifetime of the development to assess whether policy compliance can be achieved i.e. in this 
instance the delivery of 35% affordable housing. 

7.260 During the consideration of the planning application, officers sought to agree with the 
applicants that a Viability Review Mechanism should be included in the s106 agreement. In 
response, the applicant’s provided a Legal Opinion which considered the justification for the 
LPAs seeking a Viability Review Mechanism, having regard to Development Plan Policy, 
other material considerations including guidance in National Planning Guidance, and recent 
appeal decisions. 

7.261 The applicant’s Legal Opinion concludes that the position of the LPA in seeking the 
imposition of a Viability Review Mechanism has no basis in policy and to seek and require 
any S106 agreement to contain such a clause or obligation would be unlawful.  

7.262 The applicants have clearly stated to the LPAs that they would not accept a Viability Review 
Mechanism in the s106, and as such this could give rise for the LPAs to refuse the planning 
application. 

7.263 The LPAs have carefully considered the Legal Opinion and the applicant’s position on this 
matter.   

7.264 Paragraph 009 of PPG (revision date 9th May 2019), sets out Guidance on viability review 
and advises ‘How should viability be reviewed during the lifetime of a project’. This Guidance 
advises that: 

‘Plans should set out circumstances where review mechanisms may be appropriate, as well 
as clear process and terms of engagement regarding how and when viability will be 
reassessed over the lifetime of the development to ensure policy compliance and optimal 
public benefits through economic cycles. Policy compliant means development which fully 
complies with up to date plan policies. A decision maker can give appropriate weight to 
emerging policies.’ 

7.265 Officers acknowledge that there are no policies in the adopted Development Plan which set 
out the circumstances where review mechanisms may be appropriate. However, it is 
considered by officers that the absence of a direct reference to review mechanisms in 
development plan policy does not preclude a determination as a matter of planning 
judgement that a review mechanism is necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms.  This is particularly relevant given this is part of a strategic allocation. 

7.266 Paragraph 58 of the NPPF is clear the planning obligations must only be sought where they 
meet all of the following tests: 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

(b) directly related to the development; and 

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

Page 60



7.267 It is considered that the absence of a planning policy requiring a review mechanism, does 
not preclude entering into a planning obligation if these legal tests are met. The requirement 
for a review mechanism is a planning judgement. 

7.268 In the circumstances of this case, a planning judgement must be made on whether, having 
regard to the planning balance as a whole, including the benefits arising from the 
development proposals as part of the wider Strategic Allocation, whether the application 
should be refused due to applicants non-acceptance of a Viability Review Mechanism. 

7.269 In the individual circumstances of this planning application, officers consider that there are 
planning reasons to accept as a matter of planning judgement, that the application should 
not be refused for failure to agree a Viability Review Mechanism. These reasons include: 

- The inter-relationship with this application site and other planning applications/permissions 
within the wider Strategic Allocation. If this planning application were to be refused solely 
for the failure to provide a Viability Review Mechanism, it may cause significant delay and 
undermine infrastructure, housing and employment land delivery the wider Strategic 
Allocation. 

7.270 In these circumstances, instead of seeking a Viability Review Mechanism within the s106 
agreement, officers consider a pragmatic alternative is to reduce the time period for 
submission of reserved matters. 

Shorter time limit condition 

7.271 The standard time condition for the outline permission has been amended it reads; 

“No part of the development shall take place on a particular phase, subphase, or 
development parcel until full details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
within the phase, subphase, or development parcel (hereinafter called “the reserved 
matters") have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Application for approval of the reserved matters for the first phase as 
identified by the phasing plan required under Condition 4 shall be made to the local 
planning authority no later than the expiration of TWO years from the date of this 
permission and the last application for reserved matters approval shall be made no 
later than SIX years beginning on the date of this permission.  
 

Reason: To support the lack of a viability review mechanism and ensure timely 
delivery of housing.  

 
7.272 The standard time condition for submission of reserved matters has been amended in 

response to the applicant’s refusal to agree to a review mechanism within the Section 106 
agreement. Viability assessments represent a snapshot in time, and without a review 
mechanism, it is considered reasonable to reduce the time period for implementation to 
ensure the validity of the submitted viability assessment is maintained. 
 

7.273 While the LPAs do not agree with the applicant’s stance and would ordinarily seek review 
mechanisms where appropriate, the reduced time period for submission of reserved matters 
provides a pragmatic alternative. It ensures that the viability assumptions remain relevant 
and that the development progresses within a reasonable timeframe. 
 

Page 61



7.274 Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires planning permissions to 
include a condition setting a time limit for commencement typically three years, unless 
varied by the LPA. The PPG allows for flexibility in this period to support delivery, and the 
PPG encourages shorter timeframes for housing delivery where appropriate. 
 

7.275 In this case, the applicant contends that the proposal will deliver a substantial number of 
homes within the current JCS plan period (2025–2031). The six-year limit for submitting 
reserved matters aligns with this timeframe and supports the delivery of housing to meet 
identified needs. Importantly, the condition requires submission of reserved matters within 
the plan period, not completion or occupation of the dwellings, allowing flexibility for build-
out. 
 

7.276 Given the Council’s inability to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, significant 
weight is afforded to housing delivery in the planning balance. The condition ensures that a 
high proportion of the proposed dwellings contribute to meeting current housing needs. 
 

7.277 Although there are Grampian conditions affecting occupation namely, those related to odour 
mitigation and Junction 10 of the M5 these do not render the scheme undeliverable with the 
reduced timescales. The odour works are within the applicant’s control, and the J10 scheme 
is expected to be completed within the plan period. The applicant has been made aware of 
the revised condition and requested 8 years based on the odour works being completed by 
2030. However, planning is likely to be issued in 2026 given a S106 must be subsequently 
signed, the odour mitigation works would be required to be completed within four years from 
the date of the outline planning permission, in accordance with the ‘worst-case odour 
mitigation scenario’. 
 

7.278 Given that the outline planning permission stipulates that all reserved matters must be 
submitted within six years, this would allow a further two-year period following the 
completion of the odour mitigation works for the submission of reserved matters. This 
timeframe is considered reasonable and achievable, and it remains within the control of 
Severn Trent Water (landowner for this application) to expedite the completion of the 
odour mitigation works should they choose to do so. 
 

Affordable Housing 

7.279 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that the planning system needs to perform a number of 
roles, including a social role in supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing a supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations. 
Paragraph 66 of the NPPF states that where major development involving the provision of 
housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect that the mix of 
affordable housing required meets identified local needs, across social rent, other affordable 
housing for rent and affordable home ownership tenures. 

7.280 Policy SD12 requires that within the Strategic Allocations a minimum of 35% affordable 
housing will be sought. Policy SD11 of the JCS also confirms that housing mix should 
meet the needs older people as set out in the local evidence base including the most up to 
date Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 

Page 62



7.281 The applicants have constructively engaged with officers during the determination of the 
application and have provided an affordable mix which would significantly contribute 
towards the area’s affordable housing needs. 
 

7.282 In accordance with the requirement of Policy SD12, the applicant will provide 22.91% (252 
units) affordable housing on site. Following the outcome of the viability assessment. 
Whilst the applicant does not agree to this mix it is ultimately prescribed by AH Officer and 
its implications fed into the viability assessment.  
 

7.283 See below breakdown of the affordable housing mix, which will secured via the S106. 
Each reserved matters will need to provide the agreed percentage of affordable, to ensure 
affordable housing is not left until the end. 

  

Page 63



 

Assumed Dwelling 
Type- Social Rent 

No. of 
Dwellings 
(Social Rent)  

Assumed Dwelling 
Type- Shared 
Ownership 

No. of Dwellings 
(Shared 
Ownership)  

Assumed Dwelling 
Type- Combined AH 

No. of 
Dwellings 
(Combined 
AH) 

1 Bed Apartments 8 1 Bed Apartments 0 1 Bed Apartments 8 

1 Bed Maisonette 24 1 Bed Maisonette 12 1 Bed Maisonette 36 
2 Bed Apartments 0 2 Bed Apartments 0 2 Bed Apartments 0 

2 Bed Maisonette 6 2 Bed Maisonette 0 2 Bed Maisonette 6 
1 Bed Bungalow 12 1 Bed Bungalow 0 1 Bed Bungalow 12 

2 Bed Bungalow 4 2 Bed Bungalow 0 2 Bed Bungalow 4 

1 Bed House (assume 
Maisonette) 

2 1 Bed House 
(assume 
Maisonette) 

0 1 Bed House (assume 
Maisonette) 

2 

2 Bed House 34 2 Bed House 70 2 Bed House 104 
3 Bed House 24 3 Bed House 44 3 Bed House 68 

4 Bed House 8 4 Bed House 0 4 Bed House 8 

5 Bed House 4 5 Bed House 0 5 Bed House 4 

Total: 126 Total: 126 Total: 252 

 

7.284 The Councils’ Housing Enabling Officers has been engaged throughout and has advised 
that this mix complies with policies SD11 and SD12, in so far as they relate to mix when 
considering viability, of the JCS and has due regard to local needs, community cohesion 
and affordability considerations. Officers consider that the provision of this amount of 
affordable housing, particularly the provision of social rent units and first homes, is a 
substantial benefit of the proposals. 

Open Market Housing Mix 

7.285 Policy SD11 of the JCS requires all new housing development to provide an appropriate 
mix of dwellings sizes, types and tenures in order to contribute to mixed and balanced 
communities and a balanced housing market. Housing mix should be based on the most up 
to date evidence of local housing need and market demand. 

7.286 The Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019 – Final Report and Summary 
(September 2020) (LHNA) provides the most up to date evidence based to inform the 
housing mix on residential applications, however this evidence base document would be 
updated during the build out time of the proposed development. 

7.287 The applicant’s DAS sets out the proposals allow for a range of dwellings across the site to 
be delivered with varying sizes to accommodate a variety of household types. Given the 
proposal is in outline, it is recommended that a condition is imposed requiring the 
submission of a housing mix statement alongside the submission of reserved matters, 
secure a mix of market housing in broad accordance with the most up to date evidence of 
the local housing market need and market demand at the time of determination of future 
reserved matters. 

7.288 With a development of this scale, which is submitted in outline, officers consider that that 
imposition of a planning condition is the most appropriate mechanism to deliver a balanced 

Page 64



housing market on this site, having regard to the latest evidence base at the time of future 
reserved matters applications.  It is therefore considered that subject to the imposition of 
conditions the application complies with policy SD11 of the JCS, and the conditional 
framework will facilitate the delivery of an appropriate mix of dwellings sizes and a balanced 
housing market. 

7.289  The planning conditions for HBD 23/01875/OUT and Nema 24/01268/OUT contain 
quantum conditions that specify the number of flats and houses for the scheme. As these 
schemes rely on apartments in order to achieve anywhere close to the quantum applied for. 
However, this scheme does not rely on apartments to achieve most of 1100 dwellings 
applied for, as such the condition refers to 1100 dwellings overall. Additionally, as the 
applicant has stated a possibility of an extra care living facility the condition will read; 

Quantum  

In line with the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or in any 
provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and reenacting 
that Order with or without modification), the maximum amount of development 
permitted comprises: 

Up to 1100 dwellings (Use Class C3); and of the 1100, up to 60 units can be self-
contained extra care/retirement dwellings (Use Class C2 / Use Class C3). 

Up to 1,300 sqm Gross Internal Floorspace of non-residential development, 
comprising of Use Classes E and F (excluding the primary school).  

Allotments, Play and Sports 

Allotments  

7.290 Planning obligations will deliver new allotments. The Illustrative Open Space Plan 
DE438_027_C received 28th May 2025 shows an allotment in the south of the proposal at 
a size of 0.66ha. This quantum of provision accords with the Cheltenham Council’s Open 
Space Study Standards Paper (November 2016) of 0.25ha per 1,000 population. The exact 
design of the allotments would be covered at Reserved Matters stage. The end 
management of the allotments will be confirmed via the S106 as it may be the management 
company or another group who wish to take on the site.  

Play 

7.291 Illustrative Play Provision DE438_030 received 28th May 2025 shows the locations and type 
of play showing; 

 2 LEAPs 0.04ha each 

 14 LAPs 

 1 NEAP 0.1ha 

7.292  These are well dispersed and offer a range of play opportunities for different age groups. 
A condition has been added to the recommendation ensuring play is in accordance with this 

Page 65



plan and ensures each phase should seek to achieve a minimum standard of 0.04 Ha of 
play per 1,000 people. 

Sports  

7.293 The Illustrative Open Space Plan DE438_027_C received 28th May 2025 shows 2.8ha 
formal sports provision which will consist of; 

• Grass playing pitches for youth, junior, and mini-soccer comprising 2xyouth (11v11), 2x 
mini-soccer (7v7), plus pavilion and car parking. 

• 2x tennis courts withsports lighting. 

7.294 CBC/HBD Northern Parcel (23/01874/OUT) will contribute part of the land shown for sports 
facilities and this applicant will be responsible for contributing land and delivering the 
facilities within the north of the allocation. 

7.295 While this may not be the ideal solution, it would be inappropriate to scatter sports facilities 
throughout the allocation merely to ensure that each application includes some. It is better 
to consolidate these facilities from a management perspective and a placemaking 
standpoint. Additionally, having the sports facilities adjacent to the primary school enhances 
the benefits of placemaking and supports the outcomes of Cheltenham’s recently approved 
Playing Pitch Strategy and action plan (March 2025). 

7.296 In addition to the on-site sports facilities, it has been agreed, having regard to the evidence 
base provided by Cheltenham Borough Council’s Sports Facility Needs Report (2024) 
(SFNR)  , that the application will provide the following planning obligations to off-site sports 
facilities. 

- Hockey - £ 61,265.22 towards the development of an AGP facility for Hockey that will provide 
additional capacity to meet the needs of the new population for a proposed scheme at Pates 
Grammar School. The current pitch at the school has been classed as being poor quality and 
due to the state of the pitch and the lack of floodlighting, the school is not able to make the 
pitch available for community use.  The school has been in discussions with local hockey 
clubs to use the school as a base, and the contribution would require a community use 
agreement to be entered into. Should this proposal not be delivered the planning obligation 
will include a clause for the contribution to go towards other facilities within the locality. 

Hockey - £ 40,033.09 towards improvement of hockey pitches and installation of sports-
lighting at the following site that will provide additional capacity to meet the needs of the 
new population. Scheme being Bournside School Sports Centre. Rugby Union - 
Contribution of £88,832.53 towards the improvement of Rugby Union Facilities that will 
deliver proposed schemes within the area as identified by the CBC/TBC communities 
teams. 

Cricket – contribution of £106,900.16 towards the improvement of cricket facilities that will 
provide additional capacity to meet the needs of the new population. Scheme will  improve 
the pitch quality at Swindon Village Park.  

7.297 Previously, the off-site sports ask was £1,417,729.95 in total, however as already noted 
above following prioritisation this has changed to the above (£297,031.00 in total). 

Page 66



7.298 The applicant has indicated a willingness to enter into a legal agreement to secure these 
planning obligations. It is considered by officers that it is more appropriate for the 
development to contribute to these existing off-site facilities rather than provide small pieces 
on site.  This is due to the fact that these clubs are club based and may not wish to take on 
small facilities.  

Community Centres  

7.299 The indicative location of the Community Centre is shown on the Parameter Plan – Land 
Use DE438_020_B received 3rd December 2024 shows a Mixed-use (Community Hub) 
area, which will the below breakdown; 

7.300  

7.301 The S106 will stipulate a trigger for the community centre element to be available for the 
end user. The management of community centre will be handed over to a community body 
that could come forward or will be left with the wider site management.  

Healthcare 

7.302 The Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (GICB) have been consulted on the planning 
application who have delegated authority from NHS England for the commissioning of 
Primary Care Services.  This includes consideration of premises requirements to deliver 
these services. As part of the wider allocation this application (CBC ref:22/01817/OUT/TBC 
ref: 22/01107/OUT) (MLPL/St Modwen in the north of the allocation) is providing the GP 
surgery for site. HBD, the applicant to the east and south, is paying this developer for their 
share of creating the GP surgery.  

7.303 The LPA has taken a pragmatic approach, and when examining the allocation as a whole, 
it is clear that a GP surgery will be provided to serve the new population for the whole 
allocation. The Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board agree with this in their email dated 
29 Jul 2024 (NHS letter ref AH/NGWestChelt220724a).  

7.304 The S106 will secure a 452sqm healthcare facility consisting of; 

391m2 for core General Medical Services  

44.5m2 for core community physical and mental health services. 

Page 67



16m2 for changing places facility. 

7.305  This will be within the community hub as identified on Parameter Plan – Land Use 
DE438_020_B received 3rd December 2024, and the S106 clause wording will be agreed 
with the Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board.  

Police 

7.306 Gloucestershire Constabulary (GC) are seeking a planning obligation contribution towards 
the following additional infrastructure: Recruitment and equipping of Officers and staff 
£85,428, Police Vehicles £13,211, Office Accommodation £272,475, Total £ 371,114. 

7.307 In requesting these contributions, GC advise that this is a development to be constructed 
on land which is predominantly free from any development requiring currently minimal 
amount of policing. On this basis, GC advise that the proposed development would create 
new additional crime and other incidents to occur.  

7.308 As set out above, planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission if they meet the tests that they are necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. They must be: 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

• directly related to the development; and 

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

7.309 Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which, inter alia, provide safe and accessible environments where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community 
cohesion.  

7.310 Criterion 1 of policy INF6 of the JCS also advises that where infrastructure requirements 
are generated as a result of individual site proposals and / or having regard to cumulative 
impact, new development will be served and supported by adequate and appropriate on- 
and / or off-site infrastructure and services. In identifying infrastructure requirements, 
development proposals will also demonstrate that full regard has been given, where 
appropriate, to implementing the requirements of the Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan.  

7.311 Criterion 2 of Policy INF6 also identifies that where need for additional infrastructure and 
services and / or impacts on existing infrastructure and services is expected to arise, the 
LPA will seek to secure appropriate infrastructure which is necessary, directly related, and 
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind of the development proposal. This 
includes at criterion xi for safety and security including emergency services. Criterion 3 of 
Policy INF6 states that priority for provision will be assessed both on a site-by-site basis 
and having regard to the mitigation of cumulative impact, together with implementation of 
the JCS Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

7.312 In this regard, JCS Infrastructure Delivery Plan, identifies that development growth in the 
JCS area would generate requirements for police property infrastructure and non-property 
infrastructure (including patrol cars and protective equipment). At page 100 of the 

Page 68



Infrastructure Development Plan, it is noted that funding will be sought from developers 
through S106 Planning Obligations or CIL. 

7.313 Criterion 4 of Policy INF6 states the planning permission will be granted only where 
sufficient provision has been made for infrastructure and services to meet the needs of new 
development and/or which are required to mitigate the impact of new development upon 
existing communities. 

7.314 It is primarily a matter of planning judgement for the Councils in the first instance as to 
whether it considers the relevant tests have been satisfied on the evidence provided.  
Officers acknowledge the scale of this application site and that it will result in an increase 
of population and a built-up area in an area that was previously undeveloped. 

7.315 Although GC have provided some details in respect of the methods GC has used to 
calculate the contributions requested, these are considered to be generic in nature lacking 
in background detail including as regards the extent (or otherwise) of surplus/existing 
provision in the area and the extent (or otherwise) this could provide towards the additional 
policing and resources demand arising from the development. It is therefore not considered 
by the officers that these have been shown to be necessary in planning terms to mitigate 
the impact of the development, or that they are directly related to the development, fairly 
and reasonably related in scale and kind to the scheme and necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms.  

7.316 It is therefore considered that these requests do not comply with the CIL regulations tests. 

7.317 Members will be aware of press and social media coverage by the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner further to the consideration of the Planning application at Elms Park 
on 29th May 2025 and Southern Parcel West Cheltenham 23/01875/OUT In July 2025.  To 
advise, the LPA’s position on this matter remains unchanged. However, there has been 
further direct engagement with the constabulary on this issue, including supporting the 
understanding of what is appropriate in the context of S106 and potential future bids for CIL 
funding via the CIL Joint Committee.  The latter would be dependent on level of funds 
available via CIL and future CIL priorities. 

Libraries  

7.318 Gloucestershire County Council request £ 534,215 towards libraries. Combined with the 
other requests for libraries at West Cheltenham the total allocation, based on the GCC 
requests would provide £1,206,354.60. The County Council state the library contribution of 
£ 534,215, is required towards the provision of a new library serving the development or 
enhancements, including extension or premises relocation, of Hesters Way and/or 
Cheltenham Libraries, including the improvement of customer access to services through 
refurbishment of buildings, improvements to stock, IT and digital technology, and increased 
services. 

7.319 As already stated at the start of this section S106 prioritisation has to occur. As such, this 
scheme will provide £178,071 towards libraries, 1/3 of the previous ask. The allocation total 
will be around £400k towards library improvements at Hesters Way and/or Cheltenham 
Libraries. This is considered a reasonable contribution related sensibly in scale and kind to 
the size of the development and when viewed as a whole allocation 400k is sufficient for 
improvement and expansion at existing services. Further, these future residents will pay 

Page 69



council tax and the developer CIL, as such other funding streams are available for 
community services. 

7.320 It is considered by officers that the contribution (£178,071) meets the s106 tests insofar that 
it is directly related to the size of the development, and fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and kind for what is a substantial development which will generate a need for new library 
space. 

Education  

7.321 Gloucestershire County Council as Local Education Authority (LEA) have been consulted 
on the application. For primary school places, the proposed development would be 
expected to generate an additional demand for 330 primary places. There is also a 
requirement for a safeguarded 1.6-hectare site for a new primary school to meet additional 
demand, with a contribution of  £7,180,155.89  towards building those new places. 

7.322 The Cheltenham Secondary Planning Area is forecast to be full. This additional demand 
from this development would equate to a contribution of £4,489,833.35 towards the 
provision of additional secondary (11-16) places to meet the need arising from the 
development. Additionally, the proposal would be expected to generate an additional 
demand for £1,407,732.19 secondary (16-18) places. 

7.323 The applicant has agreed to these planning obligations requests and the primary school site 
will be provided as part of this application (CBC ref: 22/01817/OUT & TBC ref 
22/01107/OUT) and HBD north (23/01874/OUT) applications. The LEA is accepting of this 
approach.  

7.324 The primary school site will be given to GCC serviced and accessible at 400 occupations 
across the whole allocation. The S106 will have an appendix defining the occupations via a 
plan outlining the entire allocation.  

7.325 It is important to note that slightly reduced education costs have been incorporated into the 
viability assessment. It would be inappropriate to include worst-case scenarios, as the 
applicants might benefit from a reduction in affordable housing costs based on education 
sums that they will not actually incur. This is because the LEA has confirmed that the final 
contributions towards primary and secondary schools will be calculated at each Reserved 
Matters Stage, based on the qualifying dwellings. The exact wording for this will be finalised 
within the Section 106 agreement.  

Public Art 

7.326 It is recognised that public art can be an element of place making that can positively impact 
on health. Golden Valley SPD objective states proposals will be devised with partners to 
develop and deliver an innovative public art programme. The role and identity of any new 
public art will help to celebrate the natural setting and assets within the site. £17,377.56 will 
be prescribed in the S106 for the developer to spend on public art.  

Summary S106 Obligations, S106 Tests and Heads of Terms 

7.327 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise funds 
from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst the Councils do have 
a CIL in place, infrastructure requirements specifically related to the impact of the 

Page 70



development will continue to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement. The CIL 
regulations stipulate that, where planning obligations do not meet the tests, it is ‘unlawful’ 
for those obligations to be taken into account when determining an application. 

7.328 These tests are as follows: 

A. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

B. directly related to the development; and 

C. fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development. 

7.329 JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any infrastructure 
requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or having regard to the 
cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate and appropriate on/off-
site infrastructure and services. The LPA will seek to secure appropriate infrastructure, 
which is necessary, directly related, and fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind 
of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of the JCS requires appropriate social and 
community infrastructure to be delivered where development creates a need for it. JCS 
Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct implementation or financial contributions 
towards the provision of infrastructure and services should be negotiated with developers 
before the grant of planning permission. Financial contributions will be sought through S106 
and CIL mechanisms as appropriate. 

7.330 Discussions on the proposed section 106 planning obligations are ongoing and have 
reached an advanced stage, which is considered good practice in terms of a scheme which 
gives rise to the need for mitigation in one form or another, over many years. The agreed 
planning obligation monies are specified in this report, however, officers seek delegated 
authority to continue negotiating the planning obligation monies. They are provided below 
as a summary. 

S106 TYPE SUM TRIGGER PAYMENT/DELIVERY 

GCC ASKS   

M5 J10  £           5,088,523.00   

Residential Travel Plan Deposit 
Contribution  

 £              311,650.00  Given back after 5 years as this a 
bond in case the TP isn’t delivered by 
the developer. 

Travel Plan Monitoring Fees  £                10,000.00   

Implementation of Public Transport 
Strategy 

 £           1,380,000.00   

Implementation of Marsland Road 
20mph and active travel scheme by 
GCC 

 £              135,461.00   

Implementation of local Traffic 
Regulation Orders 

 £                35,000.00   

PRIMARY EDUCATION  £           6,473,409.38   

PRIMARY SAFEGUARD LAND  GCC education require safeguarded 
land. 

SECONDARY EDUCATION (11-
16YRS) 

 £           4,163,300.01   

Page 71



SECONDARY EDUCATION (16-
18YRS) 

 £           1,276,870.21   

LIBRARIES  £             178,071.00   

CBC/TBC ASKS 22/01817/OUT/ 
22/01107/OUT 

 

PUBLIC ART  £                17,377.56  To be provided by the applicant at a 
cost of £17,377.56 by 500th 
occupation.  

CBC/TBC/GCC MONITORING S106  £                20,000.00   

SPORTS OFF SITE  £              297,031.00  To be paid by applicant at 200th 
occupation.  

SAMM (SANG)  £              212,300.00  50% to be paid upon 1st and 500th 
occupation. 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

As per mix on AH section of report. 

BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN 
 

Standardised 30-year management 
wording. 

SANG 
 

On site delivery linked to occupations 
and managed in perpetuity as part of 
open space. 

OPEN SPACE 
 

Open space type and quantum to be 
provided in accordance with The 
Illustrative Open Space Plan 
DE438_027_C received 28th May 
2025 Standardised open space 
management wording for clause. 

ALLOTMENTS 
 

The Illustrative Open Space Plan 
DE438_027_C received 28th May 
2025 shows an allotment in the south 
of the proposal at a size of 0.66ha 

PLAY  Illustrative Play Provision DE438_030 
received 28th May 2025 shows the 
locations and type of play showing; 2 
LEAPs 0.04ha each 14 LAPs 1 
NEAP 0.1ha 

SPORTS ON SITE 
 

The Illustrative Open Space Plan 
DE438_027_C received 28th May 
2025 shows 2.8ha formal sports 
provision which will consist of; 

Grass playing pitches for youth, junior, 
and mini-soccer comprising 2xyouth 
(11v11), 2x mini-soccer (7v7), plus 
pavilion and car parking. 

2x tennis courts with sports lighting. 

The trigger will be discussed during 
drafting of the S106. 
 

COMMUNITY CENTRE  The indicative location of the 
Community Centre is shown on the 
Parameter Plan – Land Use 
DE438_020_B received 3rd 

Page 72



December 2024 shows a Mixed-use 
(Community Hub) area, which will the 
breakdown shown in the report. 
 
The trigger will be discussed during 
drafting of the S106. 

HEALTH (GP SURGERY) 
 

The S106 will secure a 452sqm 
healthcare facility consisting of; 

391m2 for core GMS. 

44.5m2 for core community physical 
and mental health services. 

16m2 for changing places facility. 

 This will be within the community hub 
as identified on Parameter Plan –
Land Use DE438_020_B received 3rd 
December 2024, and the S106 clause 
wording will be agreed with the 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
Board.  

The trigger will be discussed during 
drafting of the S106. 
 

 

7.331 Discussions are also ongoing with the applicant regarding the future management 
arrangements of the site including for public open space, allotments and community 
buildings.  A number of options are being considered including private management 
companies and stewardships schemes, and these discussions will continue to progress. 
Additionally, discussions continue around the education review mechanisms and triggers 
for payments. Officers also seeks delegated authority to continue these negotiations and 
complete the planning obligations following the outcomes of these discussions. 

7.332 Officers are seeking delegated authority for the completion of a S106 obligation to deliver 
the infrastructure and other mitigation and for alterations to s106 heads of terms as may be 
agreed under delegated authority given to the Head of Planning in consultation with the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman of Planning Committee. 

Other considerations  

Loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 

7.333 The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
environment by, inter alia, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 
and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services, including the economic 
and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land (BMV Land). The PPG 
advises that this aims to protect BMV agricultural land and soils in England from significant, 
inappropriate and unsustainable development proposals, and managing soils in a 
sustainable way. 

Page 73



7.334 Agricultural land quality across the site is limited variably by soil wetness. Most of the site 
is limited to Subgrade 3b. Subgrade 3a and two small areas of Grade 2 are also present, 
mainly in the east. 

7.335 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should recognise the economic 
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.  

7.336 Firstly, the site is not Category 1 (the highest grades), but it is of course a material 
consideration in the determination of the application, that the application site comprises the 
majority of Strategic Allocation A7 in the JCS and therefore the loss of BMV Land and other 
agricultural land in this location has already been considered through the plan-making 
process and the principle of development of this site and the loss of BMV is already 
accepted.  The JCS Inspector found that the Spatial Strategy for focussing growth mainly 
around Cheltenham and Gloucester was sound and therefore there will inevitably be the 
loss of large areas of agricultural land to accommodate these large scale urban extensions.   

7.337 Nevertheless, the loss of BMV Grade 2 is something that weighs against the proposal and 
must be assessed against the benefits of the development in the overall planning balance.   

Minerals 

7.338 Paragraph 222 of the NPPF states that it is essential there is a sufficient supply of minerals 
to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. However, 
since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found, 
it is important to make best use of them to secure their long-term conservation.  It is 
therefore necessary for this application to consider the value of the site as a potential 
mineral resource. 

7.339 Policy MS01 of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 2018-2032 states that non-
mineral development proposals within a Mineral Safeguarded Area (MSA) will be permitted 
provided: that i. they are exempt from safeguarding requirements, or ii. needless sterilisation 
of mineral resources will not occur; or iii. the mineral resources of concern are not 
economically valuable; or iv. it is appropriate and practicable to extract minerals prior to 
development taking place; or v. the overriding need for development outweighs the 
desirability to safeguard mineral resources. 

7.340 Policy SD3 of the JCS also states that to avoid unnecessary sterilisation of identified mineral 
resources, prior extraction should be undertaken where it is practical, taking into account 
environmental acceptability and economic viability relating both to extraction of the 
mineral(s) and subsequent implementation of the non-minerals development of the site. 

7.341 Gloucestershire Minerals and Waste Authority (GMWA) have been consulted, they raise no 
in principle objections and request a condition for waste be added. The RM details condition 
requires waste details for each Reserved Matter.   

Heritage and Historic Environment  

7.342 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a 
general duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions.  Section 66(1) 
provides: "In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the LPA or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State 

Page 74



shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses."  Section 72 of the 
act refers to the councils’ need to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of and building of land in a Conservation Area in 
the exercise of their duties. 

7.343 Paragraph 208 of the NPPF goes on to state that local planning authorities should identify 
and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account 
of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account 
when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any 
conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

7.344 JCS Policy A7 states the layout and form that respects landscape character, significance 
and setting of the heritage assets at Hayden Farmhouse and Barn.  

7.345 Policy HER2 of the TBP sets out that any development within the setting of Listed Buildings, 
will be expected to have no adverse impact on those elements which contribute to their 
special architectural or historic interest. Policy HER4 states that Scheduled Monuments and 
sites of national archaeological importance will be preserved in situ. Policy HER5 also states 
that Non-Designated Heritage Assets will be conserved having regard to the significance of 
the asset and its contribution to the historic character of the area. Proposals affecting a 
Non-Designated Heritage Asset and/or its setting will be expected to sustain or enhance 
the character, appearance and significance of the asset. 

7.346 In regard to non-designated heritage assets, Policy HE1 of the CP states that development 
proposals that would affect a locally important or non-designated heritage asset, including 
its setting, will be required to have regard to the scale of any harm or loss to the significance 
of the heritage asset. 

7.347 There are no designated heritage assets within the Site. The following heritage assets within 
the wider surroundings have been identified; Hayden Farmhouse (Grade II); Barn at Hayden 
Farmhouse (Grade II); The Old Forge (Grade II); and Uckington Medieval Moated Site 
(Scheduled Monument no. 1016835). 

7.348 Historic England and both Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Council Conservation Officers 
have been consulted and raise no objections to the scheme. 

7.349 The Officers consider that the setting of the Grade II Listed buildings that make up Hayden 
Farmstead are generally experienced within their immediate surroundings and the 
surrounding land holdings to the West of Hayden Lane. There will be some adverse visual 
impact from the development to the South-East. This is likely to equate to a low to moderate 
level of less than substantial harm. In the cases of all built heritage assets present there is 
a probability of the harm being mitigated through screening by planting and landscaping. 

7.350 In terms of the NPPF the harm identified would come at the moderate level of the “less than 
substantial” category in paragraph 215. In weighing the above less than substantial harm 
against the public benefits of the proposal, as required in paragraph 215 of the NPPF, 
officers consider that, the public benefits of the scheme including the delivery of housing 
and affordable housing clearly outweigh the identified moderate level of less than 
substantial harm to heritage assets. 

Page 75



7.351 It is concluded the impact of the proposed development on listed buildings would be 
acceptable, and potential impacts can be further controlled through the subsequent 
reserved matters applications and the conditional framework. The proposal would accord 
with the NPPF in this regard, as the less than substantial harm that it would cause to the 
significance of the setting of listed buildings would be outweighed by its public benefits. It is 
also the case that the application accords with policies SD8 and A7 of the JCS, and policy 
HER2 of the TBP.   

 

7.352 In respect to non-designated heritage assets, the significance and setting of the three 
identified non-designated heritage assets (Pilgrove Farmhouse and Hayden Hill and 
Hayden Hill House) are generally in regard to their presence along the Old Gloucester Road 
and the open land behind them. New development beyond the road behind the tree lined 
boundary is unlikely to have a significant impact upon the setting of these heritage assets 
and the way they are experienced 

7.353 It is concluded the impact of the proposed development on listed buildings and non-
designated heritage assets would be acceptable, and potential impacts can be further 
controlled through the subsequent reserved matters applications and the conditional 
framework. The proposal would accord with the NPPF in this regard, as the less than 
substantial harm that it would cause to the significance of the setting of listed buildings 
would be outweighed by its public benefits. It is also the case that the application accords 
with policies SD8 and A7 of the JCS, policies HER2, HER4 and HER5 of the TBP and 
policies HE1 of the CP.   

 

Archaeology  

7.354 An archaeological resource is present within the site, including the remains of ridge and 
furrow cultivation, Medieval occupation/ settlement activity, and significant later 
prehistoric/Roman settlement and field system remains. development will also not increase 
the level of impact. As stated in the ESA Chapter 12, a Written Scheme of Investigation 
(WSI) for the northern part of the Application has been agreed with the County Archaeologist 
the rest of the scheme has yet to have been agreed. Mitigation works will be discussed and 
agreed with the County Archaeologist through the provision of a Written Scheme of 
Investigation for Mitigation (WSI) for the rest of the site. The condition requires the works 
will be undertaken to prior to all groundworks and construction works.  

7.355 While developing the site will still result in the physical loss of these archaeological remains, 
the strategy, which has been agreed and conditioned, will ensure that the low and medium 
sensitivity remains are preserved through documentation. Consequently, this will reduce 
the magnitude of the effect to low, resulting in a negligible to minor adverse effect overall, 
which is considered 'not significant' in terms of EIA conclusions. 

8. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

8.1 The application proposal plays a significant role in the West Cheltenham Strategic 
Allocation (A7) and is a key component of the adopted JCS spatial strategy with the principle 
of development already tested via the JCS examination. Delivering this site provides 
substantial benefits, including: 

Page 76



- Addressing the urgent need for housing, including affordable housing, within the allocated 
plan period up to 2031 and beyond, by providing 1,100 homes on an allocated site. 

- Generating economic benefits through on-site employment during the construction 
phases. 

- Providing infrastructure for the wider allocation, these being; Primary School, Sports 
Fields, Community Centre and GP Surgery.  

8.2 However, it is not surprising that a development proposal of this scale raises various issues 
and concerns, leading to potential tensions and conflicts with other policy interests. 
Consequently, a considerable amount of time has been invested in reviewing, assessing, 
and refining the submission documents to understand and shape the necessary mitigation 
strategies. These strategies are intended to ensure that the new homes, community uses, 
and other components of this development proposal are capable of being sustainable. 

8.3 This process included extensive discussions with consultees regarding the planning 
obligations needed to make the development acceptable from a planning perspective. 
These obligations must be directly related to the development and should be fair and 
reasonable in scale and kind. 

8.4 The proposal will significantly alter the current residents' experience of the field, as it will 
introduce high-density development, resulting in increased activity in the area. Furthermore, 
this application will lead to the loss of agricultural fields.  

8.5 In terms of the NPPF the harm identified to designated heritage assets would come at the 
moderate level of the “less than substantial” category in paragraph 215. In weighing the 
above less than substantial harm against the public benefits of the proposal, as required in 
paragraph 215 of the NPPF, officers consider that, the public benefits of the scheme 
including the delivery of housing and affordable housing clearly outweigh the identified 
moderate level of less than substantial harm to heritage assets. 

8.6 The Golden Valley SPD sets a high standard for development, and while this proposal aligns 
with its overarching objectives, it does not meet all the criteria outlined in the Golden Valley 
SPD in a line-by-line comparison. Particularly, the lack of employment on this site and the 
reduced affordable housing provision.  

8.7 It is acknowledged that separate applications have been submitted by different developers, 
and not all developers agree to the collaborative documents. Despite this less-than-ideal 
situation, this planning application, which constitutes a major part of the strategic allocation 
A7, includes the development components required by JCS Policy A7 and the officer team 
have worked extensively to reach as much collaboration as possible. Due to the scale of 
this application site, it also facilitates a comprehensive scheme across the developable area 
within the strategic allocation, allowing infrastructure to be planned holistically in 
accordance with JCS requirements. 

8.8 Officers have adopted a balanced and pragmatic approach to Section 106 obligations, 
striving to create an appropriate mix of Section 106 contributions and a suitable level of 
affordable housing for existing and future Cheltenham residents. Although this scheme does 
not provide the 35% affordable housing required by JCS policy, an extensive and robust 
review of viability has established the AH level of affordable housing as 22.91% (252 units).  

Page 77



8.9 A comprehensive schedule of planning conditions is also recommended for imposition on 
the planning permission. These conditions aim to mitigate the impacts of development and 
ensure the delivery of sustainable development that complies with the requirements of 
Policy A7 of the JCS, as well as the broader spatial strategy. Significant effort has gone into 
the collaborative documents within these conditions to create a cohesive overall allocation 
when considering all four current planning applications in West Cheltenham. 

8.10 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 mandates that proposals 
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that 
the LPA considers the provisions of the development plan relevant to the application and 
any other material considerations. 

8.11 The NPPF is an important material consideration, including the approach to decision-
making. NPPF paragraph 11d) applies here such that the balance is that planning 
permission should be granted unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the 
development proposed or any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF when taken as a 
whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable 
locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing 
affordable homes, individually or in combination. The benefits are outlined above and 
collectively would be significant in their degree and the positive weight to be given to them. 
Furthermore, the proposal would align with key policies of the NPPF to direct development 
to sustainable, allocated, locations, make effective use of land and provide affordable 
homes. The proposal would therefore accord with the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole.  
It is not considered that the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed. 

8.12 Overall, officers conclude that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission do not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of this allocated site, and no grounds 
for refusal have been identified. 

9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
To delegate authority to the Head of Planning to permit the application subject to: 
 
A) the conditions as set out or substantially similar as may be agreed under delegated authority 
given to the Head of Planning and; 

B) completion of a S106 obligation and/or other legal document to deliver the infrastructure and 
other mitigation, as set out in this Report at paragraphs 7.330-7.33 and for alterations to s106 
heads of terms as may be agreed under delegated authority given to the Head of Planning in 
consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Planning Committee. 

C) In the event that the S106 obligation and/or other legal document remains unsigned nine 
months after this resolution, that the application is reviewed by the Head of Planning in 
consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Planning Committee, and if no progress 
is being made delegated authority is given to the Head of Planning to refuse the application in the 
absence of an agreed S106 Agreement. 

Page 78



 

 

10. CONDITIONS/ INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 
1. Approved Plans and Documents 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings 
and documents: 

a) Site Location Plan  DE438_01_D  
b) Parameter Plan – Land Use  DE438_020_B   
c) Parameter Plan – Access & Movement DE438_021_B 
d) Parameter Plan – Green & Blue Infrastructure DE438_022_C  
e) Parameter Plan – Building Heights DE438_023_B 
f) Vegetation and Tree Removal Plan DE438_026_D  
g) General Arrangement - Secondary Site Access – Old Gloucester Road

 21185_13_P5 
h) General Arrangement - Bus Only Access – Henley Road 21185_005_P07 
i) Pedestrian and Cycle Connectivity Plan (IDP plan)  
j) Road Connections Plan (IDP plan)  

 

Reason: To clarify the permission and provide the comprehensive masterplan and delivery strategy 
expected by Policy A7 of the JCS. 

Illustrative / Indicative Material The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in broad 
accordance with the following drawings and documents: 

a) Illustrative Masterplan  DE438_024_K   
b) Indicative Phasing Plan DE438_025_B  
c) Illustrative Open Space Plan DE438_027_C  
d) Illustrative Play Provision DE438_030  
e) Illustrative Comprehensive Masterplan dated June 2025 

 

Reason: Whilst illustrative, future reserved matters applications should be in broad accordance 
with these plans to support the delivery of a high quality development. 

2. Quantum  

In line with the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and reenacting that Order with or 
without modification), the maximum amount of development permitted comprises: 

a) Up to 1100 dwellings (Use Class C3), and of the 1100, up to 60 units can be self-
contained extra care/retirement dwellings (Use Class C2 / Use Class C3). 

b)     Up to 1,300 sqm Gross Internal Floorspace of non-residential development, 
comprising of Use Classes E and F (excluding the primary school). 

 
Reason: To define the scope of the permission. 

Page 79



3. Phasing Plan 

Prior to or alongside the submission of the first of the Reserved Matters, regarding layout, a 
phasing strategy, covering the full extent of the outline permission red line, including a timetable for 
delivery of development and associated infrastructure to be provided within each Phase, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This shall include details of: 

A) the sequence for the delivery of: 

I. Location of open spaces, (Suitable Alternative Green Space (SANG,) play areas, green 
infrastructure.  

II. Approximate number of market and affordable homes to be provided for each phase.  
III. The non-residential components. 

 

IV. Accesses for pedestrians, cyclists, buses, temporary bus turning facilities and other 
vehicles.  

V. Location for the bus stop facilities and mobility hub within the site. 

B) The phasing strategy shall be accompanied by a statement demonstrating how the development 
proposal enables a comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area and 
demonstrate that it would not prejudice the sustainable delivery of the entire allocation. 

The Reserved Matters shall be submitted in accordance with the approved phasing strategy unless 
further changes are agreed to the strategy in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure there is a clear and phased framework for both the development and for the 
submission of applications for Reserved Matters approvals and so that the development is carried 
out in a sustainable and coherent manner. 

4. Design Code 

Prior to the submission of the first Reserved Matters application, a Design Code covering the 
phases of the development to the north of the electricity power lines shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. A further Design Code covering the phases of 
the development to the south of the electricity power lines shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the submission of the first Reserved Matters 
application within that area. 

The Design Codes shall provide, where relevant, details and guidance in respect of: 

(a) Residential Areas: Including information on character areas, densities, block types, building 
types, clustering of affordable housing, the palette of materials, architectural details, building 
heights, building lines and boundary treatments. 

(b) Local Centre: Including Information on design, form, character, scale, public realm and palette 
of materials. 

(d) Streets: Including information on the hierarchy, nature and form of streets, cycleways and 
footways; cross sections; character areas; materials, permeability and street landscaping where 
possible. 

(e) Non-Vehicular Movement: Including information on the framework and hierarchy for 
pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders, rights of way, desire lines, connectivity, materials, 
landscaping and surveillance. 

Page 80



(f) Parking: Information on car, lorry and cycle parking standards for residential, employment, 
commercial, leisure and schools. 

(g) Landscape: Including information on landscaped areas and green infrastructure including 
amenity spaces; public open space; parks and play areas, street furniture; conservation of flora 
and fauna; and biodiversity mitigation measures.  

(h) Drainage: Details of surface and foul water drainage. 

(i) Crime Prevention: Information on all residential, commercial, employment, leisure and public 
areas. 

(j) Fire Hydrants: A scheme for the location of one fire hydrant within 90m of an entry point to a 
building and not more than 90m apart. 

(k) Electricity Sub Stations: Details of the location and type of electricity sub stations. 

(L) Foul Pumping Stations: Details of the location and type of foul pumping stations. 

Thereafter Reserved Matters applications shall be brought forward in accordance with the 
principles of the approved Design Code unless agreed otherwise with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To provide a detailed framework to achieve high quality, well-designed places, ecological 
enhancement/mitigation, satisfactory means of drainage thereby preventing the risk of flooding, 
and appropriate parking provision. 

5. Reserved Matters & Timing of Submission  

No part of the development shall take place on a particular phase, subphase, or development 
parcel until full details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping within the phase, 
subphase, or development parcel (hereinafter called “the reserved matters") have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Application for approval of the reserved 
matters for the first phase as identified by the phasing plan required under Condition 4 shall be 
made to the local planning authority no later than the expiration of TWO years from the date of this 
permission and the last application for reserved matters approval shall be made no later than SIX 
years beginning on the date of this permission.  

Reason: To support the lack of a viability review mechanism and ensure timely delivery of housing. 

6. Implementation Constraints 

Each phase or sub-phase of the development hereby permitted as approved under condition 6 
shall be begun not later than two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters 
to be approved for that phase or sub-phase. 

Reason: To accord with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as this permission 
is outline. 

7. Reserved Matters Applications 

Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the relevant approved plans and documents listed 
in Condition 2 (Approved Plans and Documents). Applications shall include, where applicable, 
details of: 

i. Layout and scale; 
i. Housing mix and/or quantum and type of non-residential uses in broad accordance with the 

most up to date evidence of the local housing market need; 

Page 81



ii. Existing and proposed ground levels; 
iii. Existing and proposed finished floor levels; 
iv. Design Code Compliance Statement  
v. Compliance with nationally described space standards; 
vi. Surface water drainage; 
vii. Foul water drainage; 
viii. Access; 
ix. Car parking; 
x. Ecological mitigation measures; 
xi. Appearance including elevational treatments and materials; 
xii. Boundary treatments; 
xiii. Waste storage; 
xiv. External lighting; 
xv. Noise conditions and mitigation measures; 
xvi. Odour emissions and mitigation measures; 
xvii. Electric Vehicle charging points and Solar Panels; and 
xviii. Statement of conformity with the relevant design code. 
xix. Employment skills plan for commercial uses 
xx. Reason: To provide a satisfactory and well planned development and to define the 

information required as part of future reserved matters applications, 

 

8. Nationally Described Space Standards 

Room sizes in all dwellings constructed as part of the development hereby approved must meet or 
exceed the Nationally Described Space Standards (March 2015). 

Reason: to safeguard residential amenity of future occupiers. 

Sustainability 

9. Sustainability Compliance Statement 

Each reserved matters application shall include a Climate Change Compliance Statement that 
provides details of how energy saving measures will be incorporated into the design and how 
carbon dioxide emissions will be reduced in conformity with the Sustainability and Energy Strategy 
received 3rd December 2024, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA. No dwelling, 
apartment or commercial building hereby approved shall be occupied until their climate change 
features, such as PV and ASHP, have been fully installed in accordance with a specification 
approved by the reserved matters application. 

Reason: Necessary to ensure that the proposal meets the requirements of the Golden Valley 
Development and Climate Change SPDs. 

Landscape 

10. Open Space 

Each application for the approval of reserved matters shall include the following details for each 
phase that includes open space provision within that application:  

a. Open spaces, including on-site SANG; 
b. Locations, specifications and product literature relating to street furniture including 

signs, seats, bollards, planters and refuse bins; 

Page 82



c. Whether public access will be permitted to such land; and 
d. Details of measures to promote ecological interests and biodiversity. 

The open space provision shall be implemented in accordance with the details agreed as part of 
the reserved matters approval for that phase. The open space shall be completed and available for 
use prior to the first occupation of that phase and shall be permanently maintained and retained for 
such amenity purposes thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures to mitigate for any adverse effects to the Cotswold 
Beechwoods SAC that could potentially occur as a result of the development are suitably 
addressed. 

11. SANG Homeowner Pack 

Prior to the first occupation of development within each phase, details of a Homeowner Information 
Pack providing information on recreation resources in the locality shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The pack should present information describing 
informal recreation opportunities in the following sequence: 

a) Public Open Space (POS) on Your Doorstep: Information pertaining to both existing 
POS within the development and any future POS coming forward as part of the 
scheme. It should detail walking routes on site of different lengths, connections to 
offsite footpaths and locations of open POS and the facilities (play areas etc.). 

b) Public Open Space a Short Drive or Bus Ride. 
c) Visiting the Cotswolds: Provide information on local places to visit within the 

Cotswolds with car parks and visitor facilities at different scales, focusing on those 
areas that are most easily accessible and those further afield. Provide general 
information regarding the country code, keeping to footpaths, reading and following 
visitor information signs etc. 

d) Weekend and Day Visits: Provide several options for visits that are 30mins to 1 hour 
from Site, that offer scenic views and facilities. 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures to mitigate for any adverse effects to the Cotswold 
Beechwoods SAC that could potentially occur as a result of the development are suitably 
addressed. 

12. Play Spaces 

Each application for the approval of reserved matters for any phase that includes play space shall 
include a detailed specification for the play space within that phase. Locations will be in 
accordance with the Illustrative Play Provision DE438_030  showing; 

2 LEAPs 0.04ha each 

14 LAPs 

1 NEAP 0.1ha.  

Each phase should seek to achieve a cumulative minimum standard of 0.04 Ha per 1,000 people. 
No development of any relevant phase shall be occupied until details of the play spaces for that 
phase have been approved in writing by the local planning authority. No more than 50% of the 
dwellings in any relevant phase shall be occupied unless and until the play space in that phase has 
been implemented and completed in accordance with the approved details. The play space(s) shall 
be maintained and retained for such amenity purposes thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure sufficient play provision for future residents. 

Page 83



13. Allotments 

Each application for the approval of reserved matters for any phase that contains allotments shall 
include a detailed specification for the allotments within that phase. The specification shall include 
the following details:  

a) A minimum provision of 0.25 Ha per 1,000 people. 0.66ha as shown on plan 
Illustrative Open Space Plan DE438_027_C  

b) A plan to show the location and layout of the allotments; 
c) Access and parking arrangements to allow easy and safe access to the allotments. 

This should include vehicular access and a turning area, access for those with 
disabilities, cycle parking within the site and associated car parking; 

d) Boundary treatment, including security arrangements; 
e) Location of communal areas, toilets and water supply; and 
f) A programme of implementation and ongoing management. 

No development of any relevant phase shall commence until details of the allotments for that 
phase have been approved in writing by the local planning authority. No more than 50% of the 
dwellings within a relevant phase (or any subsequent phase of the development) shall be occupied 
until the allotments have been completed in accordance with the approved specification. The 
allotments shall be retained and maintained for their intended use thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure sufficient access to allotments for the future occupations.  

14. Landscape Management Plan 

No development within each phase shall be occupied until a Landscape Management Plan (LMP) 
for that phase, including a programme for implementation, addressing management responsibilities 
and maintenance schedules for upkeep of all landscaped areas, other than domestic gardens, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The LMP shall be 
implemented in accordance with the details of the programme of implementation and shall be 
maintained and retained thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area. 

15. Tree Protection 

No development within each phase shall commence until details of tree protection measures for 
that phase have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The approved 
measures shall be carried out in accordance with the requirements of BS5837:2012 and retained in 
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the construction phase.  

If, within five years from the completion of the development within each phase, a retained tree, 
shrub or hedgerow is removed, destroyed, dies or becomes, in the opinion of the local planning 
authority, seriously damaged or defective, a replacement tree (as the case may be) shall be 
planted within the site of such species and size, and shall be planted at such time as specified in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: To safeguard the existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity. Approval is required 
upfront to ensure that important trees are not permanently damaged or lost. 

Commercial 

16. Hours of Use 

Page 84



Any Reserved Matters containing non-residential building in Use Classes E, F, and any mobility 
hubs, shall provide details of the hours of use and/or of deliveries and collections to  be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The use of the premises and mobility 
hubs shall be implemented in accordance with the details as approved. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the general locality. 

17. External Plant 

No external plant or machinery shall be installed in any of the non-residential uses unless and until 
details of the ventilation and extraction equipment have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. Any measures required by the local planning authority to reduce 
noise from the plant or equipment shall be completed prior to the ventilation and extraction 
equipment being brought into use in accordance with the details as approved and shall be retained 
and maintained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the general locality. 

Archaeology 

18. Archaeology 
 No development shall commence within each phase until a programme of archaeological 
evaluation for that phase has been secured and undertaken in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. A mitigation strategy detailing the approach to 
excavation/preservation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority following the completion of the programme of archaeological evaluation. No 
development shall commence on those areas of the site containing archaeological deposits 
until the satisfactory completion of any fieldwork and/or other requirements detailed in the 
mitigation strategy. Within six months of the completion of any fieldwork a post-excavation 
assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
This will include a programme and timetable for completion of post excavation analysis and 
preparation of a full site archive. Any post-excavation analysis shall be carried out as 
approved. 

Reason: It is important to agree a programme of archaeological work in advance of the 
commencement of development, so as to make provision for the investigation and recording of any 
archaeological remains which may be present. 

 

Environment Management 

19. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 

Prior to the commencement of development of any phase (including site clearance works), a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for that phase shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local authority. 

The CEMP shall include or be accompanied by, details of the following where relevant: 

 Protected Species protection measures; 
 Tree and hedgerow protection measures; 
 Construction Operations and Access detail including; 

- Construction vehicle routing; 

Page 85



- Measures to ensure that vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other detritus on 
the public highway; 
- Details of site operative parking areas, material storage areas and the location of site 
operatives’ facilities (offices, toilets etc); 
- The hours that delivery vehicles will be permitted to arrive and depart, and arrangements 
for unloading and manoeuvring; 
- Details of any temporary construction accesses and their reinstatement; 
- A highway condition survey and timescale for re-inspections; 

 Demolition works; 
 Nuisance mitigation measures including 

- Noise and vibration 
- Mitigation of the impacts of lighting proposed for the construction phase 
- Hours of working 

 Pollution control measures including measures for controlling leaks and spillages, 
managing silt and pollutants; and 

 Soil handling measures, including moisture conditions, storage and re-use of soils on-site 

 
The CEMP shall also include details of the ecological protective measures to be used during 
construction, including measures to comply in full with the recommendations made in the 
Ecological Appraisal (EDP, October 2023). Provision shall be made within the CEMP for the 
appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) to undertake site visits and to supervise 
ecologically sensitive operations.   

The development hereby approved shall be carried out at all times (including during all ground and 
vegetation clearance works) in accordance with the approved CEMP. Any modifications to the 
approved CEMP details, for example as a result of requirements of a protected species license, 
must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and prior to the 
implementation of any modifications. 

Reason: To safeguard important ecological species and to ensure the development contributes to 
the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity within the site and the wider area during the 
construction and operational phases of the development. Approval is required upfront to ensure 
appropriate mitigation for the protection and enhancement of ecological species during all stages 
of the development. Further to protect residential amenity of the surrounding neighbours and road 
networks. 

Biodiversity 

20. Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan 

No development within each phase shall commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan (HMMP) for that phase, prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plans 
(contained within the Biodiversity Net Gain Note, September 2024, in Appendix 29 of the ES 
Addendum), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
HMMP shall include: 

a) A non-technical summary; 
b) The roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the HMMP; 
c) The planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve habitat 

to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved Biodiversity 
Gain Plan; 

Page 86



d) The management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of development; 
and 

e) The monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or enhanced 
habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority. 

Notice in writing shall be given to the Council when the: 

f) HMMP has been implemented; and 
g) Habitat creation and enhancement works as set out in the HMMP have been 

completed.  

No occupation within each phase shall take place until: 

h) The habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP have 
been completed; and 

i) A completion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. Monitoring reports shall be submitted to local 
planning authority in writing in accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the 
approved HMMP. 

Reason: To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in accordance with 
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

21. Ecological Mitigation & Enhancement Strategy 

Prior to the commencement of development in each phase, an Ecological Mitigation & 
Enhancement Strategy (EMES) for that phase shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval. The EMES shall include details of the provision of bird, bat, insect and hedgehog boxes 
suitably located across the site. The bird boxes must include bricks or tiles for swift and house 
sparrow. The location, specification, height and orientation of these features shall be shown on a 
site plan. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details, or any 
amendments agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: Ecological enhancement is a requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(December 2024) which states (in paragraph 180) that ‘Planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment…’. And Policy SD9 of the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 (2017) which encourages new 
development to: “contribute positively to biodiversity and geodiversity whilst linking with wider 
networks of green infrastructure. For example, by incorporating habitat features into the design to 
assist in the creation and enhancement of wildlife corridors and ecological steppingstones between 
sites”. 

22. Precautionary Method of Working Statement  

Prior to the commencement of development in each phase, including all site clearance and 
vegetation removal, a Precautionary Method of Working Statement (PMWS) with respect to all 
legally protected and priority species shall be prepared by a suitably qualified ecologist and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out in full accordance with the approved PMWS.  

Page 87



Reason: To ensure the protection of legally protected and priority (Section 41) species which are a 
material planning consideration. And to demonstrate compliance with the 1981 Wildlife & 
Countryside Act (as amended) and the 2017 Habitats Regulations. 

23. Ecological Survey Reports  

Each application for the approval of reserved matters shall contain an updated Ecological Survey 
Report (ESR) carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist for approval in writing by the local 
planning authority. The ESR shall include updated protected species surveys and details of any 
licensing arrangements that may be required. The ESR shall conclude whether the Ecological 
Mitigation & Enhancement Strategies (EMES) and/or Precautionary Working Method Statement 
(PWMS) should be updated, and if so, an updated EMES and/or PWMS shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of works.  

Reason: To ensure legal and policy compliance with regard to valued ecological species and 
habitats as well as to invasive plant species. 

24. Living Walls and Roofs 

Where living walls and / or roofs are proposed, applications for the approval of reserved matters 
shall contain a method statement prepared by a suitably qualified ecologist or landscape architect 
for the creation of living roofs and/or walls. This shall include management details (e.g. 
watering/care schedule, species/seed mix avoiding the sole use of sedum, provision of features for 
invertebrates) and details of the provision of new plants should the originals fail. The development 
shall be carried out in full accordance with the details submitted unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority.  

Reason: To ensure appropriate management if living walls are used. 

25. Nesting Birds 

If works are proposed within the nesting bird period (March to August inclusive), nesting bird 
checks shall be completed by a suitably qualified ecologist to ensure that no breeding birds would 
be adversely affected including by disturbance by the works. Where checks for nesting birds are 
required, they shall be undertaken no more than 48 hours prior to the removal of vegetation. If 
nesting birds are found, a 5m buffer zone shall be implemented and works shall not be carried out 
in that area until the chicks have fledged. 

Reason: To ensure that wild birds, building or using their nests are protected, to demonstrate 
compliance with the 1981 Wildlife & Countryside Act (as amended). 

Environmental Health 

26. Contaminated Land 

Prior to the commencement of development for each phase, a Phase 1 desktop study shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in respect of potential ground 
contamination. Thereafter if further site investigations or remediation works are deemed to be 
required these shall be undertaken in full and validation reports submitted to the local planning 
authority for approval. The development shall take place in full accordance with any 
recommendations (including agreed timescales) set out within the approved remediation 
strategies. If during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
within a development parcel, then no further development shall be carried out in the affected area 
out until a remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

Page 88



authority, detailing how this contamination shall be dealt with. Thereafter the approved remediation 
strategy shall be implemented, and the development completed accordingly. 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks 
to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

27. Noise Residential  

Noise levels within all dwellings hereby approved shall not exceed those set out in the prevailing 
British Standard guidance (currently BS8233:2014 “Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for 
Buildings) applicable at the time of submission of reserved matters which include dwellings. Noise 
levels measured at enclosed outdoor private amenity areas (balconies and private rear gardens) 
shall attain the 50dB(A) desirable criteria where possible and not exceed the upper limit 
recommended in BS8233:2014 of 55dB(A). Details of glazing, barrier and ventilation systems 
including overheating assessments shall be submitted in writing and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of future occupiers and the general locality. 

28. Hours of Construction 

During the construction phase (including demolition and preparatory groundworks), no machinery 
shall be operated, no process shall be carried out, and no deliveries shall be taken at or dispatched 
from the site outside the following times: Monday-Friday 8.00-18.00, Saturday 8.00-13.00, nor at 
any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of future occupiers and the general locality. 

29. Piling 

No piling activities shall be carried out at this site until a full pile method statement has been 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method statement 
must assess and include full details of the noise and vibration impact from the piling operations on 
the nearest residential property, dates and times of piling and details of monitoring measures. 

Reason: To prevent nuisance being caused to residents of neighbouring property due to noise and 
vibration. 

30. Noise from extract and odour treatment on commercial kitchens 

No external plant or machinery shall be installed  on any of the following:  

a. Primary School  
b. Commercial buildings  
c. Local centre building(s)  

unless and until details of the external plant and  equipment have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The external plant and equipment shall be installed and 
operated in accordance with the approved details and maintained and operated in accordance with 
the approved scheme.  

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the general locality. 

31. Noise from Commercial Premises 

Page 89



Prior to installation of any plant on Class E or F Uses, a Noise Impact Assessment detailing noise 
from all fixed and mobile plant along with proposed mitigation measures shall be submitted in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority. The noise assessment shall be in accordance with 
BS4142:2014+A1:2019 or subsequent edition. The approved noise control scheme shall be 
implemented prior to the plant being brought into use and shall thereafter be maintained and 
operated in accordance with the approved scheme. Plant includes all air conditioning, heating, 
refrigeration and extraction equipment. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the general locality. 

Drainage 
 

 

32. Sustainable Drainage System  

 
Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed surface water drainage scheme which 
accords with the Outline Drainage Strategy (September 2024) (Document Reference: 3503-WSP-
WC-XX-RP-C-0500) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall include a programme for implementation of the works; and proposals for 
maintenance and management. The development shall  be carried out in accordance with the 
approved surface water drainage scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and thereby 
preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these details are agreed prior to the 
commencement of development as any works on site could have implications for drainage, flood 
risk and water quality in the locality. 

 

33. Management of Sustainable Drainage System 

 
No phase of development shall be brought in to use/occupied until a SuDS management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development within that phase has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The SuDS management and maintenance plan 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. The approved 
SUDS maintenance plan shall be implemented in full. 

 
Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features serving the site 
and avoid flooding. 
 

34. Watercourses 

Prior to the commencement of development, full details of all proposed watercourse enhancements 
(existing streams, ditches, and water bodies) including future management plans shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To positively integrate existing landscape assets, ensure a connective green blue network 
and enhance the existing water environment. 

Page 90



Highways 

35. Local Road Network Capacity 

No more than 297 dwellings and 500 sqm of commercial use (or any other combination with a trip 
generation equivalent quantum) shall be occupied until the Main Works Contract has been signed 
and procured for the ‘M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement Scheme and ancillary works’.  

Reason: To manage and mitigate operational traffic impacts in the interest of the safe and efficient 
operation of the Local Road Network. 

36. Initial Site Access and Active Travel Link 

Prior to the first occupation of any dwellings within the development, the highway works shown on 
drawings; 

21185-010-P05 – Old Gloucester Road Active Travel Proposal 

21185-013-P05 – Old Gloucester Road – Proposed Secondary Site Access 

Shall be implemented in accordance with the approved drawings unless superseded by the 
completion of footway/cycleway links to Pilgrove Way within adjacent 3rd party land application 
23/01874/OUT 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to encourage sustainable travel and healthy 
communities. 

37. Henley Road Active Travel Link 

Prior to the first Reserved Matters application relating to layout within the development to the south 
of the electricity powerlines, construction details of the rerouted public right of way ZCH102 / ZCH5 
or highway works linking to the proposals as indicated on drawing; 

21185-005-P07 – Henley Road Active Travel Link  

shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling of the development these Highways Works shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved drawings. 

Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety. 

38. Primary Site Access 

Prior to the occupation of 297th dwelling within the development, layout and construction details of 
the highway works associated  with the access junction west of Hayden Hill Farm (as indicated as 
‘Vehicular Primary Access Point on Drawing DE438_021 ‘Parameter Plan – Access and 
Movement) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority, unless 
superseded by the completion of the ‘M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement Scheme and 
ancillary works’ specifically the Western Link Road 4-way signalised junction proposals (Sheet 16). 

 These works will be implemented and available for use prior to occupation of the 600th dwelling. 

 Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety 

39. Henley Road Bus Link 

Prior to the occupation of the 600th dwelling the bus link as indicatively shown on 21185-005-P07 
– Henley Road Active Travel and Bus Gate Link element shall be implemented in accordance with 

Page 91



the approved drawings.  The details of the link should be provided in a reserved matters 
application which demonstrates how the bus link connects to the highways network within the 
development. 

Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety.  

40. Interim Bus Strategy  

Prior to submission of the first Reserved Matters a phased strategy for bus movements and bus 
stop/shelter locations will be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority in 
relation to the phased buildout. 

Prior to occupation of any dwelling in the development in any phase, the strategy will have been 
implemented for that phase in accordance with the approved document. 

Reason: To encourage sustainable travel and healthy communities. 

41. Off-site Active Travel 

Prior to commencement of the 190th dwelling the active travel measures detailed on; 

205369-PD29.3 I  – Old Gloucester Road – Active Travel Link (Pilgrove Way to Basildon Road)  

205369-PD29.4.E – Old Gloucester Road – Active Travel Link (Blasidon Way to Hayden Road)  

21185-009-P10- Springbank Area. 

21185-018-P02 – Henley Road to Marshland Road [applicant to confirm who is delivering this]  

Shall be implemented in full and made available for use. 

Reason: To encourage sustainable travel and healthy communities. 

42. Southern Bus Gate Golden Valley 

Prior to the occupation of 600th dwelling the highway link to application site 23/01875/OUT for the 
bus gate and active travel works as indicatively shown on the masterplan shall be implemented to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and thereafter maintained for public use. 

Reason: To facilitate access from the development to high quality public transport and to provide a 
comprehensive connected development in accordance with the JCS policies.  

43. Strategic Road Network Capacity 

No more than 951 dwellings and 1300sqm of Class E floorspace of the development hereby 
permitted shall be occupied unless or until the “M5 Junction 10 All Movements Improvement 
Scheme” (Housing Infrastructure Fund major improvement scheme) is complete and is open to 
traffic.  

Reason: To manage and mitigate operational traffic impacts in the interest of the safe and efficient 
operation of the Strategic Road. 

44. Residential Travel Plan 

Prior to first occupation of any relevant phase, details of a residential travel plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to first occupation of each relevant 
phase, the travel plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. The Travel 
Plan shall use Modeshift STARS residential to carry out this process and include mechanisms for 
monitoring and review over the life of the development and timescales for implementation. 

Page 92



Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access. 

45. Commercial Travel Plan 

Prior to first occupation of any relevant phase containing commercial, details of a commercial travel 
plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to first 
occupation of each relevant phase, the travel plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. The Travel Plan shall use Modeshift STARS commercial to carry out this process 
and include mechanisms for monitoring and review over the life of the development and timescales 
for implementation. 

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access. 

46. School Travel Plan 

Prior to first use of the primary school, details of a school travel plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to first use of the school, the travel plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. The Travel Plan shall use Modeshift 
STARS commercial to carry out this process and include mechanisms for monitoring and review 
over the life of the development and timescales for implementation. 

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access. 

Odour 

47. Delivery of Works 

Prior to first occupation of any dwelling, the LPA shall be provided with evidence that a contract for 
the odour mitigation works at the Hayden Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) has been let 
which removes the primary school site and wider allocation residential areas from the 2.5 OU/m3 
isopleth as shown in ‘Odour impact assessment of Hayden WwTW’ (Ref: 
WESTCHEL23A_Version_V6_FINAL), and a timeline for the works to be completed has been 
provided, which demonstrates how the mitigation works will be completed prior to the occupation of 
the 200th dwelling. The works shall be completed in accordance with the agreed timeline unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To provide assurances that the odour mitigation works will be undertaken promptly so as 
not to delay development at West Cheltenham. 

48. Implementation of Works 

No more than 200 dwellings can be occupied within the development prior to the completion of the 
odour mitigation works (let in accordance with the preceding condition) which remove the primary 
school site from the 2.5 OU/m3 isopleth as shown in ‘Odour impact assessment of Hayden WwTW’ 
(Ref: WESTCHEL23A_Version_V6_FINAL).  All such homes must fall outside of the 2.5 OU/m3 
isopleth as shown in ‘Odour impact assessment of Hayden WwTW’ (Ref: 
WESTCHEL23A_Version_V6_FINAL). 
 

Reason: to safeguard the future resident’s amenity and health from current odour pollution.  

49. Validation of Works 

Upon completion of odour mitigation works at Hayden WwTW, and prior to the occupation of 200 
dwellings above, the ‘Odour impact assessment of Hayden WwTW’ (Ref: 
WESTCHEL23A_Version_V6_FINAL) must be updated to compare the assumptions made 

Page 93



regarding odour mitigation works against monitored olfactometric sampling data. Providing the 
olfactometric sampling results do not change the conclusions of the odour impact assessment, 
further construction of the development(s) can commence, up to the post-mitigation (amended) 2.5 
OU/m3 isopleth. The results of the new olfactometric sampling, alongside details of the completed 
odour mitigation works, must be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
occupation of dwellings, except those excluded by Condition 48 above. 

If olfactometric sampling results suggest that any development areas previously deemed 
acceptable for their end-uses are no longer acceptable (i.e. odour concentrations would remain 
above 2.5 OU/m3 following the odour mitigation works), a report detailing further odour 
assessment(s), further abatement at the WwTW, and/or the redesigning of the development shall 
be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of dwellings, except 
those excluded by Condition 48 above. 

Reason: to safeguard the future residents amenity and health from current odour pollution. 

50. Energy Supply  
 
No dwelling or commercial building hereby permitted shall be connected to mains gas supplies. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development contributes towards the mitigation of climate change. 
 

51. Sports Pitches Construction 
 
No development shall take place on any sports playing fields unless and until: 
 
a) A detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land proposed for sports pitches as has been 
undertaken (including drainage and topography) to identify constraints which could affect playing 
field quality; and 
 
b) Based on the results of this assessment to be carried out pursuant to (a), a detailed scheme to 
ensure that the playing fields will be provided to an acceptable quality (including appropriate drainage 
where necessary) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after 
consultation with Sport England. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme within a timescale to be first 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England. 
 
Reason: To ensure that site surveys are undertaken for new playing fields and that any ground 
condition constraints can be and are mitigated to ensure provision of an adequate quality playing 
field. 
 

52.  Sports Pitches Noise and Lighting  
 
Reserved matters applications for the grassed and / or artificial sports pitches and the accompanying 
changing building shall be accompanied by noise and lighting assessments that assess the impacts 
on nearby sensitive receptors, including residential properties and protected species, and included 
mitigation measures where appropriate.  
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents. 
 

Page 94



53.  Sports Pitches Management and Maintenance  
 
Prior to the occupation of the 200th residential dwelling, a scheme for the management and 
maintenance of playing field drainage, including a management and maintenance implementation 
programme, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
playing fields shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that new facilities are capable of being managed and maintained to deliver 
facilities which are fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure sufficient benefit of the development to 
sport. 
 

TRO 
54. The Development hereby approved shall not commence until drawings of the off-site highway 

works comprising: 
 
Speed limit changes along Old Gloucester Road as shown indicatively on Drawing 025-P3.  
Have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway. 

 
 

a. CBC Southern Parcel: Golden Valley Development SPD Compliance Matrix LPA 

Red Amber Green 

CYBER CENTRAL GARDEN COMMUNITY 
VISION 

 

V Does the proposal 
accord with the 
spirit of the Cyber 
Central vision and 
would its 
implementation 
help to realise this 
vision? 

   V 

OBJECTIVE A: Embracing the highest 
standards of sustainability 

 

A1 Resource efficiency: 
New development 
at Cyber Central 
Garden Community 
will be net carbon 
zero (or better) and 
an exemplar in 
water and energy 
conservation and 
waste management, 
employing the 
highest standards of 
environmental 
sustainability 

   A1 

A2 Resilience: The 
design of new 
buildings, streets, 
open spaces and 
other required 
infrastructure will 

   A2 

Page 95



ensure new 
development is 
resilient in terms of 
flooding and 
overheating 

A3 Connection to 
nature: 
Development at 
Cyber Central 
Garden Community 
will enrich local 
ecology and 
biodiversity and will 
take proper account 
of air quality issues 

   A3 

A4 Community and 
culture: Cyber 
Central Garden 
Community will 
mature into a 
thriving and mixed 
sustainable 
community, 
providing jobs, 
homes and 
community facilities 
for existing and new 
residents in a 
beautiful landscape 
setting 

   A4 

A5 Mobility: Cyber 
Central Garden 
Community will be 
an integrated and 
fully connected 
extension of west 
Cheltenham 

   A5 

OBJECTIVE B: A vibrant and diverse 
range of uses and activities, serving 
existing and new 

communities 

B1 Delivered in 
partnership, a high 
profile and state of 
the art ‘Cyber 
Innovation Centre ’ 
will be the focal 
point of the Cyber 
Central Garden 
Community 

   B1 

B2 45Ha of mixed-use 
employment land, 
focussed around the 
Cyber Central hub, 
will provide flexible 
business space, 
hotels, retail and 
leisure provision 
and cultural and 
community uses to 
serve the local 
community and 
wider region 

   B2 

B3 A sustainable and 
deliverable range of 

 Viability has lowered 
AH% 

 B3 

Page 96



housing tenures, 
including affordable 
housing and self-
build, to meet local 
needs supported by 
community 
infrastructure 

B4 Higher densities 
and a range of 
dwelling typologies 
which make the 
best use of 
available land 

   B4 

OBJECTIVE C: Working with the natural 
landscape and its features 

 

C1 Development must 
positively integrate 
existing landscape 
assets and features 
and use these 
features to inform 
the development of 
a green 
infrastructure 
network for the site 

   C1 

C2 Proposals should 
respond to views 
into and out of the 
site and react to the 
existing topography 
and strategic 
landscape character 

   C2 

C3 Proposals shall 
include a network 
of public spaces to 
meet local open 
space requirements 

   C3 

C4 A high quality new 
public space will be 
provided at the 
gateway of Cyber 
Central which will 
be designed to 
provide flexible 
spaces for events 
and activity 

   C4 

C5 New development 
should take a 
creative approach 
to sustainable 
drainage to reduce 
the long-term risk 
of flooding 

   C5 

C6 Development should 
promote a strategy 
for new tree 
planting and 
retention of existing 
species 

   C6 

C7 The boundaries with 
existing 
communities, the 
wider countryside, 

   C7 

Page 97



the sewage works, 
and between phases 
of development 
shall be carefully 
planned and 
designed to 
maximise 
opportunities for 
physical and visual 
integration 

C8 The development 
must promote a 
positive approach to 
local food growing 
through the 
adequate provision 
of allotments as 
part of a wider 
strategy to meet 
existing and future 
need 

 Allotments to be 
agreed in S106 

 C8 

C9 Proposals should be 
devised with 
partners to develop 
and deliver an 
innovative public 
art programme 

 Public art strategy 
to be agreed S106 

 C9 

C10 A management 
strategy shall be 
developed across 
the site to inform 
the design process 
and with 
consideration to 
longer term 
sustainability 

 To be agreed by 
S106 

 C10 

OBJECTIVE D: An integrated and 
connected extension of West 
Cheltenham 

 

D1 The design and 
delivery of new 
development will 
prioritise and 
support active and 
sustainable travel 
patterns and 
behaviour – public 
transport 

   D1 

D2 Deliver new direct 
pedestrian and 
cycle connections to 
existing 
communities and 
facilities 

   D2 

D3 Creation of an open 
network of streets 
and routes which 
can be managed to 
meet local needs 

   D3 

D4 Delivery of a new 
‘main street’ 
between Telstar 
Way and Old 

   D4 

Page 98



Gloucester Road, 
designed as a street 
for people, not a 
road for vehicles 

D5 Principal junctions 
should be designed 
to minimise land 
take and create safe 
and direct crossing 
points for 
pedestrians and 
cycles 

   D5 

D6 Provision of safe 
routes to schools, 
which will be 
provided within or 
beyond the West 
Cheltenham site 

   D6 

D7 A flexible and 
creative approach 
to the application of 
parking standards 
and emerging and 
new vehicle 
technologies and 
initiatives 

   D7 

OBJECTIVE E: Character and 
placemaking 

 

E1 New development 
will deliver a range 
of housing densities 
and typologies to 
ensure effective use 
of land is made 

   E1 

E2 New development 
will look to local 
precedent in 
Cheltenham to help 
deliver locally 
distinctive forms of 
development 

   E2 

E3 New development 
will contribute to 
the distinct 
character of its 
neighbourhood 
whilst delivering the 
overall vision for 
Cyber Central 
Garden Community 

   E3 

P1 Cyber-central hub - 
streets and 
movement; 
landscape and 
public realm; 
character and scale; 
land uses and 
activities 

  N/A P1 

P2 Gloucester Road 
neighbourhood - 
streets and 
movement; 
landscape and 

   P2 

Page 99



public realm; 
character and scale; 
land uses and 
activities  

P3 Main street 
neighbourhood - 
streets and 
movement; 
landscape and 
public realm; 
character and scale; 
land uses and 
activities 

   P3 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 100



 

APPLICATION NO: 22/01817/OUT OFFICER: Ms Nicole Golland 

DATE REGISTERED: 7th October 2022 DATE OF EXPIRY : 27th January 2023 

WARD: Springbank PARISH:  

APPLICANT: St Modwen And Midlands Land Portfolio Ltd 

LOCATION: Land To South Of Old Gloucester Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Outline planning application for phased residential development 
comprising a mixture of market and affordable housing (use class C3), 
which could include retirement/extra care accommodation (use class 
C2/C3) a flexible mixed use area with a community hub (including 
potentially use classes E, F1 and F2), a primary school and children's 
nursery, a convenience store (use class E), site clearance and 
preparation, green infrastructure (including Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace), walking and cycling routes, formal and informal public 
open space, sports pitch provision, drainage and other associated 
works and infrastructure, including utilities and highways works, all 
matters reserved except partially for access. 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  4 
Number of objections  4 
Number of representations 0 
Number of supporting  0 
 
   

54 Henley Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 0PD 
 

 

Comments: 2nd January 2025 
 
I can see substantial changes in what is planned for the area, and acknowledge that an 
effort has been made to put the housing in the lowest height band directly opposite our 
houses in Henley Road. However, as I understand it from the building heights document, 
properties up to 2 1/2 storeys could be built opposite us rising to 3 storeys half way down 
the field opposite. These would be substantially higher than our properties and result in 
us being badly overlooked. Surely 2 storey houses opposite 2 storey houses is the 
normal allowed. 
My neighbours at 52 Henley Road echo my concern. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



76 Henley Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 0PD 
 
 
 
 

 

Comments: 24th March 2025 
 
With regards to the 22/01817/OUT (PP-11601901) application (the Application) , and 
having reviewed the revised proposal, I see it takes absolutely no cognisance of any 
public comment or objection made to date, so I will reiterate what I have stated before. 
The proposal is wholly ill considered and not only seeks to destroy what was previously 
designated Greenbelt, but also blight the lives of the existing area residents who already 
suffer from the incompetence that has become the GCHQ park fiasco. The proposal, 
within its many thousands of pages makes numerous references that the application 
having been created with the National Design Guidelines (NDG), as provided by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government have been taken into account, 
the purpose of such guidelines being to create 'well designed places'. The guidelines 
identify 10 characteristics of a 'well designed place', however the proposal still ignores 
many of the characteristics in almost a catastrophic manner for the neighbours of the 
area to be developed, a few of the most heinous examples detailed below: - 
- The opening paragraphs of the NDG talk about a 'well designed place' and in how this 
applies for those in the development but also those around it and how they could enjoy 
them, even be excited and delighted by them by looking at such areas as form, scale and 
landscape, and in how these things can affect our health and well-being.  
- Looking at a specific characteristics, such as Context 38-49, a 'well designed place' 
should take account of its immediate and local surroundings, however the Application 
completely disregards this with the proposal to place building up to 12.2m, 3 storeys next 
to existing housing along the southern and centre sections of Henley Road, a gross 
failure to recognise the existing lower level lower density housing which has benefitted 
from an open aspect across West Cheltenham to be now confronted by a solid wall of 
buildings reaching to the sky, and placing such tall buildings at the top of the escarpment 
as to be visible for miles across the Severn valley. Such an action, in failing to consider 
the Context beyond the site boundary, the landform, topography and geography, and 
failing to take cognisance of the landscape character and how the development will sit 
within the landscape in placing buildings of such magnitude next to 1 and 2 storeys 
homes, that should be informing the scale and appearance of the new development, 
does not follow the NDG and certainly does not address the concerns of the local 
community.  
- Looking at other characteristics such as Built Form (para 61-74, there is no relationship 
with the proposed buildings with the pattern, size and proportions of existing streets, and 
per Para 71, there has been NO consideration, let alone the requested special 
consideration for buildings that would be considerably larger than their surroundings. 
- And lastly per the NDG, Nature 90-98, it is always baffling how developers consider that 
any destruction of greenfield sites can be seen as 'prioritising nature so that diverse 
ecosystems can flourish to ensure a healthy natural environment that supports and 
enhances biodiversity', there is already a long-established predator led ecosystem across 
the whole site, birds of prey such as buzzards and the occasional red kite seek rabbits, 
sparrow hawks, foxes, pheasants, deer often sighted, and all manner of flora and fauna, 
whilst not rare is certainly diverse, and this development will destroy these habitats. 

Page 102



 
PARKING 
The application does not address parking in any clear manner other than driving the 
desire to minimise private vehicle use, so minimal provision for parking which fails to 
recognise real world situations, which inevitably drive vehicles to park in the existing 
surrounding residential areas which are under daily attack by GCHQ employees due to 
the dire approach taken by their employer. 
 
LINK ROAD 
The link road from Telstar Way enters the development bang in the centre of Phase 1, 
there seems to have been no thought of the overall utilisation of the plot, why is the road 
not being put through adjacent to the HaydenWorks facility, land that is unlikely to ever 
be suitable for development, and thus taking the pressure of the plot nearer the existing 
residential areas, permitting a lower density of development more sympathetic with the 
surroundings? 
 
ODOUR 
The latest odour report treads old ground, as it fails to take account of the simple and 
fundamental meteorological fact that the prevailing wind across the site is from the 
Southwest and that any odour emanating from Severn Trent's Hayden facility will for the 
majority of the time drift Northeast to the existing residential areas of Springbank/Fiddlers 
Green, and across the proposed development site. Residents of Springbank, itself being 
a 50-year-old development live with this fact, knowing the proximity of Hayden works, but 
to propose building even closer to it, basing such decisions on this report, could only be 
seen as flawed, residents of the area can testify that nostrils are regularly assaulted but 
pungent smells from Hayden, any poor soul who buys properties development will enjoy 
it even more. 
 
In Summary, in seeking to impose such a wall of buildings on the residents of 
Springbank, to satisfy a corporation seeking to maximise profit from land previously 
owned by a government entity, and was thus owned by the very tax payers that they 
seek to dis-enfranchise with this heinous proposal is truly a violation of the human rights 
to all the poor souls who will have to live with such vandalism if such a outline proposal 
went ahead.  
 
I urge you to reject this application outright and preserve the beautiful scenery of West 
Cheltenham for all. 
 
Comments: 27th January 2023 
 
With regards to the 22/01817/OUT (PP-11601901) application (the Application) and its 
abdominal intentions for the former Greenbelt land at West Cheltenham, within the many 
thousands of pages contained within the application, there are numerous references that 
the application having been created with the National Design Guidelines (NDG), as 
provided by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government having been 
taken into account, the purpose of such guidelines being to create 'well designed places'. 
The guidelines identify 10 characteristics of a 'well designed place', however the proposal 
has seemingly ignored many of the characteristics in almost a catastrophic manner for 
the neighbours of the area to be developed, a few of the most heinous examples detailed 
below: - 
- The opening paragraphs of the NDG talk about a 'well designed place' and in how this 
applies for those in the development but also those around it and how they could enjoy 

Page 103



them, even be excited and delighted by them by looking at such areas as form, scale and 
landscape, and in how these things can affect our health and well-being.  
- Looking at a specific characteristics, such as Context 38-49, a 'well designed place' 
should take account of its immediate and local surroundings, however the Application 
completely disregards this with the proposal to place building up to 12.2m, 3 storeys next 
to existing housing along the southern end of Henley Road, a gross failure to recognise 
the existing lower level lower density housing which has benefitted from an open aspect 
across West Cheltenham to be confronted by a solid wall of buildings reaching to the sky, 
and placing such tall buildings at the top of the escarpment as to be visible for miles 
across the Severn valley. Such an action, in failing to consider the Context beyond the 
site boundary, the landform, topography and geography, and failing to take cognisance of 
the landscape character and how the development will sit within the landscape in placing 
buildings of such magnitude next to 1 and 2 storeys homes, that should be informing the 
scale and appearance of the new development, does not follow the NDG and certainly 
does not address the concerns of the local community 
- Looking at other characteristics such as Built Form (para 61-74, there is no relationship 
with the proposed buildings with the pattern, size and proportions of existing streets, and 
per Para 71, there has been NO consideration, let alone the requested special 
consideration for buildings that would be considerably larger than their surroundings. 
- And lastly per the NDG, Nature 90-98, it is always astounding to consider that any 
destruction of greenfield sites can be seen as 'prioritising nature so that diverse 
ecosystems can flourish to ensure a healthy natural environment that supports and 
enhances biodiversity', when a long-established predator led ecosystem already exists, 
birds of prey seek rabbits, deer often sighted and this development will destroy these 
habitats 
ODOUR 
The reuse of the report that supported the Joint Development Phase, when such this 
report has been questioned as erroneous by residents and other professional bodies, as 
it fails to take account of the simple and fundamental meteorological fact that the 
prevailing wind across the site is from the Southwest and that any odour emanating from 
Severn Trent's Hayden facility will for the majority of the time drift Northeast to the 
existing residential areas of Springbank/Fiddlers Green, and across the proposed 
development site. Residents of Springbank, itself being a 50-year-old development live 
with this fact, knowing the proximity of Hayden works, but to propose building even closer 
to it, basing such decisions on this report, can at a minimum be seen as being 
professionally negligent, and could even be tantamount to fraud.  
In Summary, in seeking to impose such a wall of buildings on the residents of 
Springbank, to satisfy a corporation seeking to maximise profit from land previously 
owned by a government entity, and thus owned by the very tax payers that they seek to 
dis-enfranchise with this heinous proposal is truly a violation of the human rights to all the 
poor souls who will have to live with such vandalism if such a outline proposal went 
ahead.  
I urge you to reject this application outright and preserve the beautiful scenery of West 
Cheltenham for all. 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



40 Wheatland Drive 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 0QA 
 

 

Comments: 29th December 2022 
 
Dear Sir 
 
This planning is yet another heavy hit against Cheltenham green belt area. 
 
Judging by every other development site in a Town for last 10 years you would change 
nature friendly area into concrete dessert and will destroy all of the wildlife that thrive in 
there. 
 
As most of the building would be placed on hill top, flooding will become a real danger for 
whole springbank area. 
 
At the moment grass, soil and trees are the only thing that stopping my neighbourhood to 
flooded each autumn/spring. 
 
Actually some houses close to the Springbank Academy already suffered from it recently. 
 
If you all the hill top is covered with a concrete you will highly increase flashflood 
possibility. 
 
In addition 
 
Old gloucester road and hayden lane already suffer from very heavy traffic and it is 
constantly in repairs.  
 
Your proposal will make this even worse. 
 
How about wind channels being blocked for all houses located in the valley. Has anyone 
checked where all of the pollution would go? 
 
Me and many other citizen's living in Sprinbank area, close to old glocester road bought 
our houses here, due to small traffic, plenty of walking/running tracks and small pollution. 
 
You are about to change all of that. 
 
Kind Regards 
 
****************** 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



4 Hazledean Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 0QF 
 

 

Comments: 10th March 2025 
 
- Erosion of the green belt: this once again destroys large areas of picturesque 
countryside surrounding our town, which will have a profound impact on local wildlife.  
- Flood risk: The area along Old Gloucester Rd and the estate off Pilgrove Way already 
experiences significant disruption to access during periods of heavy rainfall. This 
development would only add to flooding issues and will end up costing the council 
significant sums of money in flood risk management, traffic management, etc. 
- Traffic issues: Traffic is already a matter of some concern, and as every single decision 
taken by the council seems to have a detrimental impact on traffic throughout 
Cheltenham, it is obvious that this will only cause further problems for local residents and 
through traffic. 
- 'Affordable' and 'Retirement/Extra Care accommodation': The intended use for these 
properties are neither appropriate nor wanted for this area. I am concerned for the impact 
this will have on our local communities. There is nothing for retirees to do in this area, so 
will just end up being a gateway for traffic shuttling in and out of the estates. And 
regrettably 'affordable' housing often means an influx of undesirable additions to local 
communities. Crime is already a concern in the area and this will doubtless make the 
situation worse. If the council is somehow planning on using this proposal to house 
hundreds of illegal immigrants who have no interest in obeying our laws or integrating 
with the culture (as is already happening across multiple areas of Cheltenham and 
Gloucestershire) then I fear tremendously for the Springbank area. 
 
  
 

 

Page 106


	Agenda
	5a 22/01817/OUT - Land to South of Old Gloucester Road Cheltenham
	Land_to_South_of_Old_Gloucester_Road_22_01817_OUT_Representations


